### A Longitudinal and Transancestral Analysis of DNA Methylation Patterns in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

by

Patrick Stephen Coit

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Immunology) in the University of Michigan 2022

**Doctoral Committee:** 

Professor Amr H. Sawalha, Co-Chair Professor Raymond L. Yung, Co-Chair Associate Professor Mikhail G. Dozmorov, Virginia Commonwealth University Associate Professor Jason S. Knight Professor Bethany B. Moore Patrick Stephen Coit

pscoit@umich.edu

ORCID iD: 0000-0003-0660-764X

© Patrick Stephen Coit 2022

## Dedication

To my parents Stephen and D'Etta Coit,

and to the rest of my family

for always supporting me,

believing in me,

and giving me somewhere

I could always come home

#### Acknowledgements

I am filled with gratitude for everyone who provided expert guidance and material support along the way as my dissertation developed. I'd like to thank my mentor Dr. Amr Sawalha not just for his leadership and support during my doctoral work, but for providing an excellent research environment in which I was allowed to explore, build my skills, and develop the tools I need to be a successful scientist. Dr. Sawalha has provided a model of mentorship and demonstrated to me the importance of honest and thorough science in service of improving patient health. For the last ten years of his support, I will always be grateful.

I'd like to thank my dissertation committee: Professor Raymond Yung, Associate Professor Jason Knight, Professor Bethany Moore, and Associate Professor Mikhail Dozmorov for their feedback over the years that has improved my dissertation immensely.

I'd also like to thank all the members of the Sawalha lab I've had the pleasure of working with over the years. The comradery, collaboration, and coffee breaks are what made the lab a joy to work in.

My time working at the University of Michigan gave me a great respect for their educational standards and the Program in Immunology has far exceeded my expectations. I'd especially like to thank our former program director Dr. Beth Moore, current director Dr. Malini Raghavan, and current associate director Dr. Durga Singer for their incredible support over the years. Even after the Sawalha lab moved to Pittsburgh, the program directors were more than accommodating helping me stay involved, checking on my progress, and stay on track to defend. This is especially true for the former program administrator Zarinah Aquil for her incredible

iii

support from admission to candidacy and after as my lab transitioned from Michigan to Pittsburgh. I am grateful for the assistance from current program administrator Molly Bannow helping me to organize and meet my defense deadlines.

The kindness, laughter, and support of my friends in Oklahoma, Michigan, and Pittsburgh have made my life's journey worth more than any destination could possibly be. The support of my fellow Immunology candidates Ashley Munie and Shannon Estadt has given me the motivation, emotional support, and friendship I've needed to make it this far. I sincerely hope I've provided even a tenth of the support I've received from these two over the years. Kendra Tam and Nathan Rice have been incredible companions over the years and the few years we got to have our little bit of Oklahoma in Ann Arbor were some of the best of my life.

Finally, I can't express how grateful I am to my parents Stephan and D'Etta Coit for the endless support they've provided me all throughout life. They recognized my interest in science before even I did and always provided opportunities to nurture it over the years. I wouldn't be the person I am today without them.

## **Table of Contents**

Dedicationii
Acknowledgementsiii
List of Tables viii
List of Figures ix
List of Appendices xi
Abstractxii
Chapter 1 Introduction 1
1.1 Systemic Lupus Erythematosus1
1.1.1 Description and Epidemiology 1
1.1.2 SLE Manifestations
1.2 The Immune System and Pathogenesis of SLE 4
1.2.1 Genetics
1.2.2 Environment
1.2.3 The Immune System in Lupus 12
1.2.4 Type I Interferon and SLE15
1.3 DNA Methylation in SLE
1.3.1 DNA Methylation Function17
1.3.2 DNA Methylation and the Immune System
1.3.3 Lupus-Associated DNA Methylation
1.4 Rationale

Chapter 2 A Longitudinal and Transancestral Analysis of DNA Methylation Patterns and Disease Activity in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Neutrophils
2.1 Abstract
2.2 Introduction
2.3 Methods
2.3.1 Study Participants and Demographics
2.3.2 DNA Isolation
2.3.3 DNA Methylation Measurement
2.3.4 DNA Methylation Quality Control and Analysis
2.3.5 Genotyping and Methylation Quantitative Trait Loci (meQTL) Analysis 40
2.3.6 Functional Enrichment Analysis 40
2.3.7 In vitro TREML4 Promoter Patch Methylation
2.3.8 PLB-985 Culture and Differentiation
2.3.9 TLR7 Stimulation of PLB-985 cells
2.3.10 TREML4 Transfection of PLB-985 Cells 46
2.3.11 NETosis Assay
2.3.12 Statistical Analysis
2.4 Results
2.4.1 Longitudinal analysis of DNA methylation over time and across disease activity levels in lupus patients
2.4.2 DNA methylation differences in neutrophils of African-American and European- American lupus patients
2.4.3 Methylation quantitative trait loci (meQTL) analysis
2.4.4 The contribution of methylation quantitative trait loci to differential methylation, genetic susceptibility, and the type I interferon response in lupus
2.4.5 TREML4 promoter regulation and the role of TREML4 in TLR7 response in the PLB- 985 neutrophil-like cell line

2.5 Discussion
Chapter 3 Hypomethylation of MiR-17-92 Cluster in Lupus T cells and No Significant Role for Genetic Factors in the Lupus-associated DNA Methylation Signature
3.1 Abstract
3.2 Introduction
3.3 Methods
3.3.1 Study Participants and Demographics
3.3.2 Sample collection
3.3.3 Epigenome-wide association study
3.3.4 Differential DNA methylation analysis of gene promoters
3.3.5 Trend deviation analysis
3.3.6 Genotyping
3.3.7 Methylation Quantitative Trait Loci (meQTL) Analysis
3.3.8 Functional Enrichment Analysis
3.3.9 MicroRNA Expression Microarray
3.4 Results
3.4.1 Differential methylation of gene promoters in naïve CD4+ T cells isolated from lupus patients
3.4.2 Naïve CD4+ T cell methylation quantitative trait loci (meQTL) in lupus patients 96
3.5 Discussion 100
Chapter 4 Conclusions and Future Directions 106
Bibliography 116
Appendices

## List of Tables

Table 2-1: Correlation of DNA methylation and disease activity in a cohort of African-American lupus patients ( $n = 22$ ) across 93 sample after adjusting for age using a mixed effects model 54
Table 3-1: Top 10 most hypomethylated and hypermethylated CpG sites in naïve CD4+ T cells in lupus patients compared to healthy controls matched by age, sex, and ethnicity
Table 3-2: Genes with differentially methylated promoter regions in naive CD4+ T cells of lupus patients compared to healthy controls
Table 3-3: KEGG Pathway gene enrichment of 21 gene promoters highly correlated with eachother in multi-tissue DNA methylation data constructed from 16,541 samples available throughGEO.93
Table 3-4: MeQTL in naive CD4+ T cells and granulocytes of lupus patients that include aknown lupus risk variant
Table A-1: Supplementary data tables for Chapter 2152
Table A-2: Supplementary data tables for Chapter 3 152
Table B-1: Disease activity criteria and medications in a cohort of female European-American and African-American lupus patients at initial timepoint (n=54)
Table D-1: Demographics of lupus patients and healthy controls160
Table D-2: Correlation of miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-19b1, and miR-20a median gene expression in naïve CD4+ T cells with SLEDAI score in lupus patients (n = 16)161

# List of Figures

Figure 1-1: Diagram of cytosine methylation in the cell
Figure 1-2: DNA methylation is the interface of genetic and environmental factors in lupus 32
Figure 2-1: The relationship between DNA methylation changes and disease activity in a longitudinal cohort of lupus patients
Figure 2-2: Cg16204559 (GALNT18) is hypomethylated upon development of lupus nephritis. 56
Figure 2-3: Neutrophils of African-American and European-American lupus patients show DNA methylation differences associated with ancestry
Figure 2-4: Differential Methylation of Neutrophils in African-American and European- American lupus patients
Figure 2-5: Methylation quantitative trait loci ( <i>cis</i> -meQTL) analysis in lupus neutrophils 60
Figure 2-6: Enrichment of gene ontologies and pathways among annotated genes associated with CpG sites with <i>cis</i> -meQTL effects in lupus neutrophils
Figure 2-7: MeQTL involving the SNP rs9369265 within <i>TREML4</i> in lupus patients
Figure 2-8: In vitro DNA methylation impairs gene expression downstream of the <i>TREML4</i> promoter
Figure 2-9: Response to TLR7 stimulation in differentiated PLB-985 cells overexpressing TREML4
Figure 3-1: Distribution of average CpG methylation levels within 1500bp of the TSS for the respective genes differentially methylated in naïve CD4+ T cells of lupus patients compared to healthy controls
Figure 3-2: Heatmap of hierarchical clustering of pairwise Pearson correlation coefficient values of 51 differentially methylated gene promoters (TSS1500) in global tissue signature derived from 16,541 samples

Figure 3-3: miR-17-92 promoter hypomethylation and gene expression association with disease activity in lupus naive CD4+ T cells
Figure 3-4: Percentage of CpG sites differentially methylated between lupus patients and controls associated with meQTL in naïve CD4+ T cells
Figure 3-5: The presence of the lupus risk allele at rs1131665 has a significant negative correlation with DNA methylation of cg16486109 located in <i>IRF7</i>
Figure C-1: DNA methylation of lupus patient samples is highly correlated with neutrophil- specific probes
Figure C-2: CCL2 and IL1B expression increases in PLB-985 cells in response to TLR7 stimulation
Figure C-3: PLB-985 NETosis Assay157
Figure C-4: NFkB-associated gene network of differentially methylated sites between African- American and European-American lupus patients
Figure C-5: Type I interferon-associated gene network of differentially methylated sites between African-American and European-American lupus patients
Figure E-1: Sample distribution of 16,541 Infinium HumanMethylation450 array samples across 37 tissues sourced from the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO)

# List of Appendices

Appendix A Supplementary Data Resources	151
Appendix B Chapter 2 Supplementary Information and Tables	153
Appendix C Chapter 2 Supplementary Figures	155
Appendix D Chapter 3 Supplementary Information and Tables	160
Appendix E Chapter 3 Supplementary Figures	162

#### Abstract

<u>Objective</u>: Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE or lupus) is a complex heterogeneous autoimmune disease that can affect multiple organ systems. Lupus predominantly affects women, with African-American women carrying higher disease burden and poorer outcomes than European-American women. Disruption in the epigenetic landscape of immune cells, including DNA methylation, is a recognized feature of lupus. Global hypomethylation is consistently detected across lymphoid and myeloid immune cells from lupus patients, with the most extensive hypomethylation occurring in type I interferon response genes. Genetic background plays a role in shaping the epigenome of immune cells and in the risk of developing lupus. The aim of this dissertation was to measure the influence of genetics on DNA methylation differences between African-American and European-American lupus patients and those between lupus patients and healthy controls. Further, we sought to measure the variation in DNA methylation longitudinally over time and with disease activity in lupus.

<u>Results:</u> We first analyzed granulocyte DNA methylation over time in a longitudinal cohort of African-American and European-American lupus patients followed for up to four years. Ethnicity-associated differential methylation in lupus granulocytes included genes associated with the type I interferon response and NF $\kappa$ B pathways. Approximately 16% of differentially methylated sites between ethnicities were associated with a nearby ( $\leq$  1kb) genetic variant known as methylation quantitative trait loci (meQTL). An meQTL involving the promoter region of *TREML4*, a regulator of TLR7 response in myeloid cells, was among the strongest meQTL

xii

detected. Genotype-specific mRNA expression of TREML4 negatively correlated with promoter methylation in this locus. Methylation levels in two CpG sites were associated with changes in disease activity in African-American, but not European-American patients. Hypomethylation in GALNT18 was associated with the development of lupus nephritis during follow up. The lupusassociated epigenotype in granulocytes was not explained by genetics in lupus patients. To further examine the role of genetics in lupus-associated epigenetic changes, we studied DNA methylation in naïve CD4+ T cells from lupus patients and controls. CpG-associated genes in meQTL of lupus patients showed overlap with lupus risk genes. Some meQTL were shared between lupus granulocytes and naïve CD4+ T cells, including HLA-DQB1 and IRF7. However, confirming the results in lupus granulocytes, less than 1% of differentially methylated sites in lupus T cells were associated with meQTL. We then used a trend deviation analysis to compare disease-associated DNA methylation differences between lupus patients and controls in naïve CD4+ T cells, with methylation correlation patterns in over 16,000 tissue samples. The promoter of the miR-17-92 cluster, which regulates T cell proliferation and differentiation, was hypomethylated in lupus. Expression of two member microRNAs in this cluster were positively correlated with lupus disease activity.

<u>Conclusions:</u> We have identified significant differences in the DNA methylome between African-American and European-American lupus patients, which are in part associated with nearby genetic variants. We have determined that granulocyte DNA methylation is predominantly stable over time and across disease activity levels in both African-American and European-American lupus patients. Furthermore, using DNA methylation profiles in granulocytes and naïve CD4+ T cells, we have determined that the DNA methylation signature of lupus, which is defined by robust hypomethylation of type I interferon genes, has little association with nearby genetic variants. These findings suggest that non-genetic factors play a predominant role in the DNA methylation signature of lupus.

#### **Chapter 1 Introduction**

#### 1.1 Systemic Lupus Erythematosus

#### 1.1.1 Description and Epidemiology

Systemic lupus erythematosus (referred to herein as lupus) is a complex, heterogeneous autoimmune disease that can affect almost every organ system in the body. It is characterized by a loss of self-tolerance, the production of autoantibodies against self-antigens, and inflammatory immune responses towards autoantibody-containing immune complexes leading to tissue and organ damage. Lupus incidence and prevalence are highly variable across geographic regions and populations. Estimated global incidence of lupus ranges from 1.4-8.6 per 100,000 personyears and global prevalence from 13-366.6 per 100,000 people(1). Estimated incidence varies from 3.7-49 per 100,000 person-years and estimated prevalence ranges from 47.9-366.6 per 100,000 people in North America (1-5) and is steadily increasing (3, 4). In North American population studies, lupus incidence and prevalence in African-Americans are more than twice that in European-Americans(1). Incidence and prevalence are estimated to be equal to or even higher in American Indian and Alaskan Native populations compared to African-American populations(5). Lupus prevalence is nine times greater in women than in men(1, 6). Contributions to the sex bias in lupus are postulated to include X chromosome dosage and altered inactivation that can affect a number of immune genes(7-12), and estrogen(13).

Lupus has a significant impact on the survival and life expectancy of affected individuals. A meta-analysis of all-cause mortality over a ten year period found that lupus

patients have an estimated standardized mortality ratio (SMR) of 2.6 compared to the general population with the highest cause-specific rates being infection (SMR 5.0), renal disease (SMR 4.7) and cardiovascular disease (SMR 2.3)(14). Lupus ranks among the top 20 contributing causes of death in US women (2000-2015) after exclusion of 3 common external injuries(15). Increasing disease activity is associated with decreased quality of life and increased direct and indirect costs to patients particularly those who develop lupus nephritis(16-18). Lupus patients are estimated to incur an average combined direct and productivity cost of \$20,924 annually, with higher disease activity and worse physical health contributing to higher costs(19). Patients with severe disease and organ damage have standardized unemployment rates of 4.4 and 5.6, respectively, compared to the background population(20). Taken together, a lupus diagnosis can incur a significant cost upon a patient's health, quality of life, and financial stability. Improving tools for lupus detection and monitoring to reduce the occurrence of severe disease manifestations and lupus flares would improve patient outcomes.

#### **1.1.2 SLE Manifestations**

The predominant disease course for lupus patients consists of remitting-relapsing periods punctuated by increased disease activity ("flares"), though some patients will maintain a chronically active state or enter prolonged remission(21, 22). Flares are associated with increased risk of organ damage making their management and prediction a major therapeutic goal(23). Newly diagnosed or flaring patients can present with general symptoms that include fever, malaise, arthralgia, and weight changes(24). The appearance of autoantibodies is a hallmark of autoimmune disease and can be detected almost 10 years prior to diagnosis(25). Clinical diagnosis of SLE requires the presence of anti-nuclear antibodies (ANA), though this is not

unique to lupus patients, with an estimated 27% of the healthy adult population carrying a positive ANA titer and 2.5% an elevated ANA titer(26). Further disease manifestations fall into 7 clinical classifications: constitutional, hematologic, neuropsychiatric, mucocutaneous, serosal, musculoskeletal, and renal as well as 3 immunological features: antiphospholipid antibodies, complement proteins, and SLE-specific antibodies(27). Cutaneous manifestations are frequent in lupus patients with between 70%-80% developing skin lesions during their disease course(24). Due to the heterogeneity of lupus, it is useful to measure the relationship of clinical features and demographics to further classify patients. Our work showed that lupus patients in a western Pennsylvania cohort formed three clusters classified by disease manifestations(28). The cluster with the most frequent renal and hematological involvement also included significantly more African-American and male lupus patients than the two other clusters with milder disease characterized by photosensitivity, malar rash, and arthritis(28).

Earlier diagnosis is associated with lower disease activity, tissue damage, fatigue, and increased quality of life(29) making improved diagnostic tools and assays especially important. Indeed, lupus patients within their first year of diagnosis have a higher mortality rate than patients with longer disease durations(30). Manifestations with neuropsychiatric and renal damage have the largest negative impact on 5-year survival of lupus patients(31). An estimated 31%-48% of lupus patients will develop lupus nephritis, many within 5 years of diagnosis(32). Patients who develop renal failure have higher mortality (SMR 4.7) (14). Renal damage can reduce the life span of a lupus patient by up to 23.7 years (33). Demographic factors that increase the risk of developing lupus nephritis include being male, younger, and being of African-American or Hispanic ethnicities(32). Like the difference in lupus incidence and prevalence across ethnicities, disease manifestations also show a bias within subpopulations. African-

American lupus patients are diagnosed at a younger age than European-American patients (34.4 versus 41.9 years, respectively) and have over twice the occurrence of renal disease (40.5% versus 18.8%, respectively) and end-stage renal disease (15.3% versus 4.5%, respectively). African-American and Hispanic patients have greater disease severity with more deleterious outcomes like higher rates of lupus nephritis compared to European-Americans(34, 35). On average, African-American patients die 13 years younger than European-American patients(6). This disparity in mortality is attenuated somewhat by controlling for socioeconomic factors, but not entirely(36).

Therapeutic innovations for lupus have been slow to develop. The complex heterogeneity of lupus patients has been pointed to as a reason for recent trials failing to meet their primary endpoints(37). A current focus of the field is using integrated molecular data and clinical presentation to stratify patients into clinical clusters with varying disease progression and aid in clinical trial design(38-40).

#### 1.2 The Immune System and Pathogenesis of SLE

Lupus is the result of a loss of self-tolerance by the immune system towards selfantigens. Availability of self-antigens and a poorly regulated immune response result in damage in a variety of organs and tissues including the kidneys, skin, joints, and nervous system. Currently there are no definitive conclusions on what exposures promote lupus pathogenesis. Our current understanding points towards a model of interacting pathogenic intrinsic (genetic) and extrinsic (environmental) factors. These will be described further in this section as well as dysregulation of the immune system in lupus.

#### 1.2.1 Genetics

Genetics plays an important role in conferring disease risk in lupus. Twin studies represent a classical model to estimate the contribution of genetics to disease risk. The pairwise concordance rate of lupus for monozygotic twins is estimated to be 14%-57% and ~4% for dizygotic twins(41-43). Lupus has an estimated heritability rate of 44%-66% and confers an increased risk of lupus and other autoimmune diseases in relatives(44-48). Over 100 genetic risk loci for lupus have been identified(49) across multiple functional pathways.

Highly penetrant genetic polymorphisms within a single gene or gene family have been implicated in the development of lupus-like disease. The most striking examples are genetic deficiencies in the complement pathway. People with a complement deficiency in C1 complex genes (C1q, C1r, and C1s) have rates of SLE or SLE-like disease of 50-93%, 75% with C4 deficiency, and 10% with a C2 deficiency(50). Their symptoms include photosensitivity, arthritis, and nephritis(51). The underlying pathogenic mechanisms that lead to lupus-like illness are thought to be related to C1q's role in clearance of apoptotic materials, partially through macrophage-mediated phagocytosis, and ability to suppress interferon alpha (IFN $\alpha$ ) production by pDCs(52). People with genetic defects in *DNASE1* and *DNASE1L3* that encode proteins that degrade and help clear extracellular DNA during cell apoptosis also develop lupus-like disease(53, 54).

While these studies shed a light on potential pathogenic pathways, most of lupus patients carry a wide range of disease-associated polymorphisms in multiple genes that confer very small risk individually, but together increase susceptibility. Some genes, like *C4A*, *C4B* and *DNASE1L3* are risk loci in both monogenic and polygenic lupus(55, 56). The polygenic risk score, a sum of allele-specific risk for lupus from a set of SNPs in an individual, has shown that higher risk scores are associated with earlier onset of lupus(57) and greater risk of lupus

nephritis(58). There is less known about how genetic ancestry influences lupus risk as a majority of the genome-wide association studies (GWAS) studies have been performed in Europeanderived populations. Analyses of trans-ancestral genetic risk have found that many risk loci are shared between ancestry groups in addition to the unique risk loci carried within each population(59, 60).

Like monogenic examples, studies of polygenic risk in lupus highlight the importance of the type I interferon pathway. High type I interferon (IFN) expression tends to cluster in lupus families, with unaffected first degree relatives showing high IFN levels similar to affected patients, suggesting type I IFN is a heritable risk factor for lupus(61). Toll-like receptor (TLR) 7 polymorphisms are suspected to contribute to type I IFN production potentially through copy number variations on the X chromosome(62, 63). Lupus-associated variants in IRF5 and IRF7, which regulate expression of IFNa, have been suggested to contribute to its elevated expression in lupus(64, 65). STAT4 is a transcription factor that regulates lymphoid cell response to cytokine signaling including IFN $\alpha$  and regulates proliferation and differentiation. Lupusassociated polymorphisms in STAT4 have been suggested to contribute increased sensitivity to IFNα and the presence of dsDNA autoantibodies(66-68). Other examples include SNPs that affect lymphoid cell signaling. Polymorphisms associated with reduced expression of BLK, a protein that regulates signaling downstream of the B cell receptor, may promote the development of autoreactive B cells(69). A lupus-associated polymorphism in PTPN22, which encodes a phosphatase protein that inhibits TCR signaling, increases the inhibitory activity of PTPN22 which could impact T cell selection and Treg stimulation in lupus patients(70).

Genome-wide association studies (GWAS) have contributed much to our understanding of the inherited risk in lupus patients. Determining the functional impact of risk loci is more difficult as most are in non-coding regions. Fine mapping of risk loci is typically required to better isolate the true causal SNP which is unlikely to be the risk SNP identified by GWAS if they are in high linkage disequilibrium (LD) within a haplotype. Explaining the functional impact of non-coding risk SNPs and how this relates to lupus is of considerable interest to the field. One model for explaining these findings is that risk SNPs alter gene expression, rather than function, and epigenetics provides an intermediary mechanism(71). Expression quantitative trait loci (eQTL) studies have become increasingly popular as a method to identify these associations across the genome. One survey of the functional impact of 39 lupus risk SNPs found that these variants were associated with expression differences at multiple genes, could play a role in exon choice during transcription, and could interact with multiple genes by altering chromatin interactions. This model has been useful for exploring gene-environment interactions. Gene expression of some eQTL in lupus patients are modified by exposure to anti-IL-6 therapy and circulating type I IFN response, likely through disruption of genotype-specific TF binding(72). These eQTL studies reinforce the need to consider patient genetics in treatment and diagnosis. Genomic variants can also be associated with DNA methylation changes as demonstrated by methylation quantitative trait loci (meQTL) studies(73). Potential mechanistic models include risk SNPs overlapping TF binding sites that could alter binding affinity in an allele-specific manner. Some TFs may suppress DNA methylation in the region by inhibiting DNMT activity through site occupancy or recruitment of suppressive co-factors or recruitment of TET proteins(74). Alternatively, DNA methylation in the region can be increased by reducing TF occupancy or direct recruitment of DNMTs(74). Transcription factors that include CpG sites

within their binding motifs may also show differences in affinity for methylated versus unmethylated sites, including TFs with methyl-binding domains. If this occurs in areas near promoters or enhancer regions, changes in the epigenome and chromatin accessibility could promote or suppress expression of nearby genes.

One model for the impact of genetics on epigenetic dysregulation in lupus is the MECP2/IRAK1 risk locus. The Methyl-CpG-binding Protein 2 (MeCP2) gene MECP2 is located on the X chromosome and encodes a methyl-binding domain (MBD) protein that can recognize and bind to methylated CpG sites and can itself recruit DNMT1(75). MeCP2 is a bifunctional transcriptional regulator, acting as a transcriptional repressor through recruitment of nucleosomal repressor complex proteins and histone deacetylases(76, 77) and a transcriptional activator through association with activating transcription factor CREB1 at gene promoters(78). MeCP2 provides a mechanistic link between DNA methylation and chromatin remodeling in regulating expression. Candidate gene studies in lupus patients identified, confirmed and fine-mapped polymorphisms in the Xq28 MECP2/IRAK1 locus(79, 80) with a haplotype-associated differential gene expression signature of interferon-regulated genes in lupus B cells and increased expression of CREB1(81). In lupus patients carrying the MECP2/IRAK1 risk haplotype, MeCP2 expression is increased in stimulated CD4+ T cells corresponding with a decrease in DNA methylation of HLA and interferon-regulated genes(82). Overexpression of Mecp2 in mice led to increased serum ANA and increased expression of proinflammatory and interleukin signaling pathways in stimulated CD4+ T cells(82).

#### 1.2.2 Environment

Almost two-thirds of systemic lupus erythematosus patients will have cutaneous involvement(83) and exposure to UV radiation may be an environmental trigger for lupus through UV-induced damage to keratinocytes and production of autoantigens and cytokines(84). UV radiation can induce the production of reactive oxygen species (ROS) in keratinocytes and cause apoptosis(85). Reduced apoptotic body clearance in the skin of lupus patients is thought to increase the availability of autoantigens to the immune system(86). UV exposure has also been observed to increase the translocation of autoantigens to the cell membrane where they can be bound by autoantibodies(87). There is some evidence of UV-associated DNA methylation changes in circulating immune cells(88) including a decrease in LINE-1 methylation of peripheral blood cells, suggestive of global hypomethylation(89).

Occupational and therapeutic chemical exposures are potential environmental triggers for lupus. Hydralazine and procainamide are two compounds with the highest risks of causing druginduced lupus(90) Hydralazine inhibits ERK signaling pathway and leads to decreased DNMT expression and procainamide directly inhibits DNMT1 activity, both capable of causing global hypomethylation in human T cells (91-93). Occupational exposure to crystalline silica(94, 95) and mercury have been associated with the development of lupus as well(96).

The ability of viral and bacterial infections to elicit an abnormal immune response in genetically susceptible individuals makes them potential etiological factors in lupus(97). The presence of an overactive type I interferon response in lupus patients suggests that viral infections might be an important environmental trigger for lupus. The herpes virus family member Epstein-Barr Virus (EBV) has received a large amount of interest after it was observed that juvenile and adult lupus patients have higher rates of EBV seroconversion compared to the healthy population(98, 99). EBV-infected B cells undergo alterations to the chromatin landscape

around genes associate with autoimmune diseases including lupus(100) and disease-associated polymorphisms may influence EBV protein binding and gene expression in an allele-specific manner contributing to autoimmunity(101). EBV proteins themselves may also serve as molecular mimics of endogenous proteins provoking an immune response that is reactive towards self-antigens(102, 103). Host cell DNA methylation is necessary for controlling EBV latency in the genome and EBV requires host DNA methylation for entering the lytic phase(104). Lupus patients have higher EBV viral loads independent of disease activity and medication use, suggesting that a consequence of the dysfunctional T cell response that contributes to autoimmunity is also inadequate to control EBV infection(105).

While smoking is a major risk factor for chronic conditions including cardiovascular disease and cancer, current smokers have 1.5 higher odds of developing lupus than former and non-smokers(106, 107). For lupus patients, smoking status is a significant risk factor for cardiovascular events(108) and development of end-stage renal disease(109). Smoking is associated with tissue-specific DNA hypomethylation in myeloid cells including neutrophils and macrophages and relatively few changes in lymphoid cells(110). These changes occurred in sites overlapping DNase hypersensitivity sites that occur in inflammatory macrophages, suggesting a proinflammatory DNA methylation state(110).

Folic acid metabolism is necessary to regenerate the pool of *S*-adenosylmethionine used as methyl group donors by DNMT when producing 5-methylcytosine(111). Dietary folate intake has been associated with DNA methylation levels in lymphocytes of post-menopausal women(112) and adenocarcinoma patients(113). Lupus-susceptible C57BL/6xSJL mice carrying an inducible ERK defect in CD4+ T cells on a methyl-donor restricted diet developed hematuria at higher rates and more severe glomerulonephritis than mice fed a regular or methyl-donor

supplemented diet (114). CD4+ T cells from mice fed a methyl-donor restricted diet displayed decreased promoter methylation of *Cd40lg* and increased CD40LG expression. These results suggested that dietary intake of methyl-donor nutrients including folic acid may play an important role in regulating DNA methylation of immune genes of lupus patients.

Maintaining the balance of reactive oxygen species (ROS) and antioxidant production and damage repair because of cellular metabolism is vital to a cell's ability to survive and function properly. UV exposure, smoking and viral infections have all been implicated as sources of oxidative stress(115). Excessive oxidative stress can alter signal transduction pathways and differentiation in T cells potentially contributing to lupus pathogenesis(116). Oxidative stress is also linked to changes in DNA methylation in immune cells. *In vitro* oxidative stress has been shown to reduced ERK pathway signaling in CD4+ T cells and reduce DNMT1 activity concurrent with global hypomethylation and overexpression of lupus-relevant methylation-sensitive genes(117). Oxidative stress can also restrict the size of the methyl-donor pool required by DNMTs(116).

While the contribution of genetics to lupus pathogenesis is important, they do not tell the entire story on their own. Currently, there is an interest in understanding gene-environment interactions in lupus and other autoimmune diseases though few interactions have been explicitly studied so far(118). Understanding environmental risks and their mechanisms of action could be beneficial for improving patient health. DNA methylation has been considered as both a biomarker for environmental exposures as well as a mechanism by which exposures contribute to pathogenesis(119). DNA methylation within healthy individuals seems to be predominantly stable across time(120-122) though monozygotic twin studies have shown that DNA methylation divergence increases over time suggesting that the influence of environment on epigenetic

phenotype increases with age(123, 124). Understanding the effect of environmental factors on disease risk in the context of the genomic background of lupus patients could provide explanations for the "missing heritability" seen in complex polygenic diseases including lupus(125).

#### 1.2.3 The Immune System in Lupus

Lupus is fundamentally a disruption in normal adaptive immune function that supports an environment where self-tolerance is lost, and autoantibodies and autoreactive immune cells can persist and cause tissue damage. Increased cellular apoptosis, potentially due to higher type I IFN, and decreased clearance (complement deficiency and phagocytosis impairment) are thought to be underlying mechanisms in the persistence of autoantibody immune complexes (ICs) in the body. Commonly measured autoantibodies in lupus are directed towards nuclear components including complexes of nucleic acids and nuclear proteins. Sensing of these components by pattern recognition receptor proteins like TLRs in addition to autoantibody binding contributes to the increased production of type I IFN in lupus.

Neutrophils are an important part of the innate immune response that produce microbiocidal granules and have the specialized ability to externalize nuclear material as neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs). NETs form a physical barrier on which microbes can be bound and exposed to antimicrobial proteins, release proinflammatory cytokines, and enhance phagocytosis by macrophages and antigen presenting cells(126). In autoimmune disease, reduced clearance of extracellular autoantigens including NETs is thought to contribute to their persistence and ability to promote enhanced IFN $\alpha$  expression through TLR-mediated recognition by plasmacytoid dendritic cells (pDCs)(127, 128). Recent research has shown that oxidized

mitochondrial DNA released in NETs, potentially enhanced due to oxidative stress, are particularly adept at this(52). Neutrophils express FcγRIIA on their surface giving them the ability to bind autoantibodies in immobilized ICs and upregulate reactive oxygen species (ROS) production in response(129). Lupus patients show an enrichment of a neutrophil gene signature in peripheral blood that correlates with development of lupus nephritis and suggests a disruption in the granulocyte compartment(130-132). In addition, neutrophils from lupus patients undergo apoptosis more readily(133). In lupus, there is also the presence of a subset of pathogenic lowdensity granulocytes which arise from the neutrophil population. These cells have a higher propensity for NETosis than normal density neutrophils and overexpress antimicrobial granule and alarmin proteins(128). NETs have been found in the skin of lupus patients and kidneys during lupus nephritis(128) and can activate the inflammasome of nearby macrophages, promoting IL-18 expression that can further activate neutrophils(134).

Monocytes and macrophages play an important role as cytokine producers, phagocytes, and antigen presenting cells. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells in lupus patients show increased expression of CD86, likely due to IFN $\alpha$  exposure, enhancing their costimulation and antigen presentation to T cells(135, 136). Macrophages are efficient phagocytes that clear apoptotic cells from the body to reduce the availability of autoantigens. Monocyte-derived macrophages in lupus patients have reduced phagocytic capacity including removing apoptotic material from germinal centers of lupus patients, apoptotic neutrophils, and autoantibody ICs(86, 133, 137-139). Lupus macrophages show altered gene expression upon activation taking on a proinflammatory M1-like profile with an enrichment of IFN signaling and inflammatory gene pathways(140).

T cells show altered responses to cytokine signaling and production, proliferation, differentiation, and regulatory function in lupus. Downregulation of CD3 $\zeta$  and upregulation of FcRy in the TCR complex alters the downstream signaling outcome of TCR stimulation leading to changes in calcium flux(141, 142) which activates the nuclear factor of activated T cells (NFAT)transcription factor, altering gene expression profiles of lupus T cells(143). One consequence is overexpression of CD40 ligand (CD40LG) that increases their ability to activate and differentiate B cells(144, 145). These signaling changes can also promote hyperpolarization of T cell mitochondria, promoting T cell necrosis(146). Effector T cell populations are altered in lupus as well. The frequency of peripheral Th17 cell populations increase in lupus patients as Tregs decrease, with the ratio increasing in lupus nephritis patients along with increasing levels of IL-17 which can stimulate antibody production by B cells(147, 148). The T helper cytokine profile of lupus patients also includes reduced IFNy (Th1 cytokine) and TGF-B1 (Treg cytokine)(149). Impaired production of IL-2 in lupus patients is the result of skewed CREbinding protein (CREB) and CRE-modulator (CREM) balance in T cells that suppresses IL-2 expression(150). Reduced IL-2 contributes to reduction in activation-induced cell death that allows autoreactive T cells to persist, reduction in Treg differentiation, and cytotoxic CD8+ T cell activity(151). There is an increase in circulating follicular helper T cells in the periphery of lupus patients that correlates with increased IL-21 expression(152, 153). IL-21 promotes antibody production, class switching, and plasma cell differentiation in B cells suggesting that follicular helper T cells promote germinal center reactions and autoantibody production in lupus(154, 155).

Lupus B cells show an exaggerated response to BCR signaling including increased intracellular calcium flux and signaling protein tyrosine phosphorylation(156). This coincides

with alterations to B cell subsets that favor autoreactive B cells due to faulty tolerance checkpoints related to altered signaling thresholds allowing them to escape anergy or death(157, 158). Peripheral B cell populations in lupus patients have an increased frequency of classswitched memory B cells and reduced frequency of naïve B cells(159). Memory B cells have lower activation thresholds allowing autoreactive B cells to persist. Circulating plasmablast levels are highly expanded in lupus patients and have a positive correlation with disease activity in lupus and are associated with anti-dsDNA autoantibody production(160, 161). B cell activating factor (BAFF) is necessary for mature B cell survival in the periphery including the persistence of autoreactive B cells(162). Peripheral expression of BAFF is increased in lupus and can be driven by IFN $\alpha$ (162, 163). Nucleic acids contained in autoantibody ICs can effectively stimulate autoreactive B cells through TLR7/9 signaling(164, 165). Reduced expression of the inhibitory Fc $\gamma$ RIIb in lupus patients is thought to lower the threshold of activation for memory B cells and contribute to their aberrant activity(166).

### 1.2.4 Type I Interferon and SLE

Type I interferons are a class of immunoregulatory cytokines that includes IFN $\alpha$  (13-14 subtypes), IFN $\beta$ , IFN $\epsilon$ , IFN $\kappa$ , IFN $\omega$ , IFN $\delta$ , IFN $\zeta$ , and IFN $\tau$ (167). IFN classes are defined by their shared signaling receptor which in type I IFN are interferon alpha receptors (IFNAR) 1 and 2. IFNAR1/IFNAR2 are expressed by almost every tissue in the body including lymphoid and myeloid cells(168). The primary role of type I IFN is marshalling the immune system to mount a response upon viral infection by promoting expression of antiviral genes downstream of receptor signaling that suppress viral replication(169). Type I IFNs are produced through triggering of cytosolic and membrane-bound endosomal pattern recognition receptors, including TLRs, by

microbial components such as nucleic acid motifs and pathogen-associated molecular patterns. Cellular response to acute type I IFN signaling is potent and antiviral, but with chronic exposure it becomes immunosuppressive(167).

Type I IFN can promote maturation of dendritic cells and enhance antigen-presentation by MHC-II and promoting T cell activation(170, 171). Type I IFN induced expression of CCL2 in virally infected tissues draws monocytes from circulation where they differentiate into macrophages and DCs that can stimulate effector T cells(172).

The observation that dsRNA mimics (polyI:C) could stimulate the production of interferon and anti-RNA antibodies along with accelerating the development of autoimmune pathology in a genetically-susceptible lupus-prone murine model (NZB/NZW) was an early indication of the importance of type I interferons in lupus pathogenesis(173). IFNAR-deficient 129Sv/EV mice showed ameliorated development of autoantibodies and glomerulonephritis in response to 2,6,10,14-tetramethylpentadecane treatment to induce lupus-like disease(174). Observations of elevated IFNs in lupus patients that correlate with disease activity and autoantibody presence(175, 176) and the development of lupus-like pathology among patients receiving IFNα therapies(177-179) supported the role of type I IFN in lupus.

TLR activation through ligation of nucleic acids bound in autoantibody immune complexes is thought to be one mechanism by which immune cells produce type I IFN in lupus(180, 181). Plasmacytoid dendritic cells are known to be the most potent producers (though not sole producers) of type I interferon that are critical for the antiviral response(182, 183). They express both TLR7 and TLR9 that can produce IFNα in response to both microbial and endogenous ligands(184). Immune complexes in lupus contain both IgG autoantibodies that can bind Fcγ receptors and nucleic acids that can act as ligands for TLR7 (ssRNA) and TLR9

(unmethylated CpG DNA) acting as an etiological mechanism for the chronic production of type I IFN in lupus patients(185). Material released from necrotic and apoptotic cells when combined with lupus IgG antibodies can stimulate pDCs in a similar manner(185). Oxidized mitochondrial DNA released in NETs are also able to stimulate pDCs to produce type I IFN(127, 186). Increased apoptosis and decreased clearance of apoptotic bodies are thought to contribute to this pathogenic mechanism(86, 187). Neutrophils stimulated by TLR8 ligands show enhanced production of proinflammatory IL-6 in the presence of IFN $\alpha$ (188).

Peripheral mononuclear blood cells of lupus patients have increased expression of IFNregulated genes (an "interferon signature") that was associated with more severe disease manifestations, though this signature is not universal among lupus patients(189) and can remain consistent within patients over time(190). Juvenile lupus patients show a similar IFN signature in peripheral blood cells that correlates with disease activity and response to glucocorticoid treatment(130). The association of elevated IFN $\alpha$  levels in the serum of lupus patients with circulating autoantibodies was observed to be consistent across African-American, European-American, and Hispanic patients, though IFN $\alpha$  levels were not associated with specific clinical presentations in this cohort(191). A recent review of IFN signature gene expression studies in lupus patients found that expression of a subset of genes (*RSAD2*, *IF144*, *IF144L*, *PRKR*, and *IF1T1*) in peripheral blood was associated with African ancestry more so than disease activity supporting the idea that genetics is a significant contributor to this pathogenic process(192).

#### **1.3 DNA Methylation in SLE**

#### **1.3.1 DNA Methylation Function**

Epigenetic traits are stable heritable phenotypes resulting from changes in a chromosome without altering the underlying DNA sequence(193). These factors regulate gene expression and by extension cellular identity and function (phenotype) by altering the structure and accessibility of genomic DNA to factors necessary for gene transcription. Mammalian DNA methylation is the enzymatic addition of a methyl group donated from *S*-adenosyl-L-methionine to the 5<sup>th</sup> carbon of the cytosine nucleotide to produce 5-methylcytosine (5mC) (Figure 1-1). This occurs primarily in the context of CpG dinucleotide motifs, and an estimated 70-80% of CpG sites in the human genome are methylated(194).



**Figure 1-1: Diagram of cytosine methylation in the cell**. DNA methylation of cytosine nucleotides in cytosine-guanine dinucleotide residues is catalyzed by DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) enzymes that are indispensable for development. De novo methylation is primarily established during embryogenesis by DNMT3A and DNMT3B. DNMT1 maintains methylation marks on newly synthesized DNA strands through recognition of hemimethylated sequences. DNA methylation can be lost through passive demethylation by reduction in DNMT activity and successive replication. Active demethylation that does not require DNA replication occurs through successive oxidation of 5mC to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC), then 5-formylcyotsine (5fC), and finally 5-carboxylcytosine (5caC) by ten-eleven translocation (TET) methylcytosine dioxygenases. Thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG) and base excision repair mechanisms replace 5fC and 5caC with cytosine nucleotides. 5hmC, 5fC, and 5caC can additionally be replaced with unmodified cytosine by passive dilution through replication. Created with BioRender.com.

The presence of chemically modified DNA nucleotides in the mammalian genome was first described in 1948 by Hotchkiss(195). The role of these modifications as a heritable signature that can regulate gene expression in mammals was postulated but not confirmed until the late 1970's(196, 197) followed by the discovery that *in vitro* methylated DNA sequences will maintain their methylation pattern across cellular generations after being inserted into mouse cells(198). The sequencing and cloning of the first eukaryotic DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) enzyme gene *Dnmt1* in mice followed(199). The DNMT family includes four members: DNMT1, DNMT3A, DNMT3B, and DNMT3L. DNMT function in the cell can be categorized by their function maintaining (DNMT1) methylation in somatic cells or *de novo* (DNMT3A, DNMT3B, and DNMT3L) methylation of germline cells during development(197, 200). The *de novo* methylation activity of DNMT3 proteins is independent of DNMT1 activity(201, 202). During gametogenesis and later during preimplantation embryogenesis, the genome is systematically demethylated, followed by re-establishment of methylation patterns on maternal and paternal chromosomes by *de novo* methylation activity, but stimulates DNMT3B(203, 204). DNMT3L lacks a catalytic domain for direct methylation activity, but stimulates DNMT3A activity during *de novo* methylation(205). DNMT1 shows a preference for hemi-methylated DNA sequences over unmethylated and localizes to DNA replication foci to catalyze DNA methylation of newly formed strands during DNA replication in the cell's S phase(206, 207). The importance of DNMT activity development is demonstrated by the embryonic lethality of recessive mutations in mice and human embryonic stem cells(208-210) (Figure 1.1).

Most CpG dinucleotides in mammalian genomes are found unmethylated and clustered in regions termed CpG islands (CGIs). These regions can be hundreds of base pairs long with an average CpG density of about 18% compared to the >1% across the entire genome (211). The increased CpG density of CGIs is hypothesized to be the result of selective hypomethylation of the germline sequence to avoid transition mutation of 5mC to thymine bases through spontaneous deamination first to uracil and then subsequent activity by thymine DNA glycosylase (TDG) and base excision repair (BER) machinery(212, 213). This process is thought to explain the relative sparsity of CpG sites in the rest of the genome across evolutionary time (214, 215). Approximately 45,000 CGIs are found in the haploid human genome (215) and 72% of gene promoters are estimated to be associated with them(216). DNA methylation of gene promoters CGIs is generally associated with the presence of condensed chromatin and repressive

histone marks and ultimately gene silencing(217, 218). Tissue-specific DNA methylation occurs in CpG island "shores" located about 2kb distant from islands and CpG-poor promoters both of which have lower comparative CpG density and show the same relationship with gene expression(219, 220). In contrast, gene body DNA methylation is typically associated with genomic accessibility though the relationship is non-monotonic(221). Possible mechanisms underlying this observation are the suppression of intergenic transcription and increasing the stability of transcript elongation and a side-effect of competition between transcriptional and methylating enzymes for access to accessible chromatin(221).

While the density of promoter DNA methylation has a positive correlation with promoter silencing, it is not necessarily the direct mechanism by which genes are suppressed. One model of gene repression requires the ability of transcription factors to differentiate between methylated states. About 22% of surveyed human transcription factors have decreased binding to motifs including 5mC compared to unmethylated cytosines(222). Another model is the recruitment of chromatin remodeling machinery by DNMT1 or by proteins containing methyl-binding domains (MBDs) that show affinity for 5mC and can recruit repressive nucleosome remodeling proteins like histone deacetylases(223-225).

Epigenetic patterns in cells must be maintained with rigidity to prevent regression to a pluripotent state, but labile enough to allow cells to transition into new identities as seen in hematopoietic cells where gene promoter methylation is observed to fluctuate in a lineage-specific manner as cells develop(226). For decades it was assumed that DNA methylation was lost passively when DNMT1 failed to replicate methylation marks as DNA was replicated. The recent discovery of ten-eleven translocation (TETs) proteins provided a mechanism for active demethylation within the cell that could occur without the DNA replication required of passive
demethylation(227). TET1, TET2, and TET3 comprise a family of methylcytosine dioxygenases that catalyze the iterative steps of oxidative demethylation. 5-methylcyotsine residues are first oxidized to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine (5hmC), then 5-formylcytosine (5fC), and finally 5carboxylcytosine (5caC). Any of these three stages can then be passively diluted through DNA replication, while a combination of TDG and BER machinery can actively replace 5fC and 5caC with cytosine residues independently of DNA replication (228). 5hmC is a stable epigenetic mark independent of 5mC that is positively correlated with gene expression and RNA polymerase II occupation of gene promoters. 5mC and 5hmC are indistinguishable using the bisulfite conversion method of measuring DNA methylation which is the gold standard and is widely used in epigenome-wide association studies (EWAS) performed by microarray and sequencing. This has left the contribution of 5hmC, and TET activity underappreciated. TET function is necessary for the proper development of myeloid and lymphoid cells, regulating vital proliferative functions and cellular identity(229). TET activity is necessary for proper antibody class switch recombination and affinity maturation in B cells, expression of transcription factors that maintain T cell lineages and prevent proliferation of autoreactive cells, and proper myeloid lineage differentiation and gene expression(230). Increased 5hmC in 131 gene promoters of CD4+ T cells of lupus patients has previously been reported enriched in genes from calcium, mTOR, and MAP kinase signaling pathways that positively correlated with expression(231).

In eukaryotic genomes, DNA methylation fulfills several important functions: repression of transposable elements that provides genomic stability, imprinting of inherited parental genomic sequences during development, X chromosome inactivation, and regulation of gene expression. An estimated 45% of the human genome is comprised of transposable elements (TEs), predominantly LINE-1 sequences, that are heavily methylated in somatic cells to maintain

genomic stability by preventing deleterious insertion events(232). Genome-wide hypomethylation during germ cell development is the typical period in which TEs can become active, but TE activation in somatic cells is also possible as the result of defective repression by the DNA methylation maintenance machinery (233). The ability of TEs to disrupt genomic stability has generated interest in their role in oncogenesis and autoimmunity. Human endogenous retroviral elements (HERVs), a type of TE, have been found to be overexpressed in lupus patients, and DNMT1 inhibition *in vitro* can induce HERV transcript expression in healthy cells(234).

Genomic imprinting occurs when gene transcription comes primarily or solely from one parental chromosome while the other is epigenetically suppressed. This process is vital for proper development, and imprinted loci are resistant to the epigenetic reprogramming that occurs during embryogenesis. X chromosome inactivation (XCI) is the random epigenetic silencing of one of two X chromosomes inherited by female progeny facilitated by the X-inactive specific transcript (*XIST*) non-coding RNA that coordinates with epigenetic machinery including histone modifiers and DNMTs(235, 236). XCI allows for dosage compensation of X-linked genes. As lupus is predominantly seen in women and several immunomodulatory genes are located on the X chromosome including *CD40LG* and *TLR7*, improper XCI has been considered as a contributing factor to the disease(237). CGI promoter methylation correlated with expression status of genes that have undergone XCI and about 70% of genes have the same XCI status across tissues based on DNA methylation profiling of their promoters, though some show XCI escape in a tissue-dependent manner(238). Escape of X-linked immunomodulatory genes are thought to contribute to the development of autoimmunity(237, 239, 240).

#### 1.3.2 DNA Methylation and the Immune System

DNA methylation is an important epigenetic regulator of immune system function. DNMT1 in necessary for early T cell survival, development, and effector gene expression(241). Naïve CD4+ T cells are by necessity plastic, and epigenetic remodeling including DNA methylation helps to stabilize the expression of transcription factors and cytokines in response to differentiating signals(242). DNMT1 and DNMT3a are necessary for regulating T cell differentiation into effector subsets(243). For example, DNMT3 is required to epigenetically silence the IFNγ locus in naïve CD4+ T cells after differentiation into Th2, Th17, and induced regulatory T cells(244). Th2 cells require DNMT function to suppress IFNγ and upregulated IL-4 expression during differentiation(245). The DNA methylation profile of Th17 cells more closely matches that of naïve CD4+ T cells than Th1 cells providing an explanation for the plasticity seen in Th17 subsets that can adopt a non-classical Th1 or Th2 phenotypes(246). Natural Tregs have stable expression of Foxp3, their major TF. Naïve and active CD4+ T cells and TGFβinduced Tregs that arise from peripheral CD4+ T cells fail to stably express Foxp3 due to DNMT activity and DNA methylation-mediated suppression of the Foxp3 locus(247).

Naïve B cells maintain a hypermethylated state outside of lineage-reinforcing genes like the transcription factor PAX5 that promote cellular identity until encountering activating signals and undergoing DNA demethylation as they differentiate into germinal center B cells(248, 249). DNA methylation profiles of GC and plasma B cells show enrichment for transcription factor binding sites distinct from naïve B cells, suggesting a lowered epigenetic threshold for reactivation upon subsequent challenge by antigen(250).

Compared to lymphoid genomes, myeloid genomes are hypomethylated as they progress through developmental stages from hematopoietic progenitors(251), with neutrophils showing

the most pervasive hypomethylation(226). Expression of neutrophilic-granule genes like myeloperoxidase and elastase increased as DNA methylation decreased at each stage of maturation to the promyelocyte stage. Expression dropped with differentiation to primary neutrophils while DNA methylation remain unchanged, suggesting non-epigenetic factors suppressed gene expression at epigenetically persistent sites allowing for rapid response to infectious signals(252). DNA methylation changes favoring transcription factor binding and enhancer sites occur in monocytes as they differentiate into macrophages(253). This less stringent epigenetic environment is thought to reflect the necessity of the innate immune cells to respond quicky to a wide variety of immune insults.

#### **1.3.3 Lupus-Associated DNA Methylation**

Disease-associated alterations in DNA methylation of immune cells is a recognized feature of lupus (Figure 1.2). Early observations showed that procainamide and hydralazine, both etiological agents of drug-induced lupus, were associated with inhibition of DNMT activity and induction of CD4+ T cell autoreactivity, similar to CD4+ T cells treated with the DNA methylation inhibitor 5-azacytidine(254, 255). These autoreactive CD4+ T cells showed hypomethylation of autoimmune-related genes including *ITGAL*, *TNFSF7*, and *CD40LG* (256, 257) similar to lupus CD4+ T cells that exhibited global hypomethylation(258). The ability of *in vitro* demethylated CD4+ T cells to induce lupus-like disease including glomerulonephritis and autoantibodies when injected into syngeneic mice provided more evidence for a mechanistic link between DNA methylation changes and autoreactivity(259, 260).

The advent of microarray technology allowed for EWAS measuring site-specific DNA methylation levels from tens to hundreds of thousands of CpG sites simultaneously. Early studies found that monozygotic twins discordant for lupus show shifts in leukocyte DNA methylation in

genes associated with immune response and cytokine production, and global hypomethylation in the affected twin providing a potential mechanism for explaining non-genetic factors that contribute to lupus pathogenesis(261).

EWAS studies of lupus CD4+ T cells showed a predominant hypomethylation compared to healthy controls(262-264). This hypomethylation included enrichment of genes involved in the type I interferon response present across naïve and mature CD4+ T cell subsets including memory and regulatory T cells(262-264). Naïve CD4+ T cells reflected an epigenetically poised state where the hypomethylation was observed but without an associated increase in gene expression(264). Lupus manifestations carried their own unique naïve CD4+ T cell DNA methylation signatures. Profiles of patients with discoid rash were distinct from patients with malar rash or neither cutaneous manifestation. Hypomethylated regions were unique to each group, but antigen processing and presentation genes were shared between them all(265). Genes encoding regulatory proteins for tissue hypoxia response (HIF3A) and type I interferon expression and response (IRF7 and IFI44) have decreased DNA methylation in patients that develop lupus nephritis when compared to lupus patients that do not(266, 267). Increasing lupus disease activity is associated with DNA methylation changes in naive CD4+ T cells that potentially favor differentiation towards Th2 and Th17 differentiation upon activation(268). Genes with a positive correlation between DNA methylation and disease activity were enriched in binding sites for the transcription factor enhancer of zeste homolog 2 (EZH2)(268). Genes with a negative correlation between DNA methylation and disease activity were depleted in EZH2 binding sites suggesting the EZH2 maybe be an important regulatory factor upstream of the epigenetic shift observed in lupus CD4+ T cells(268). EZH2 forms part of the catalytic function of the polycomb repressive complex 2 that can interact with DNMTs to increase DNA

methylation and repress gene expression(269). CD4+ T cells, B cells, monocytes, and neutrophils from lupus patients show greater expression of EZH2 compared to controls(270, 271). Inhibition of EZH2 increased survival and decreased circulating anti-double stranded DNA autoantibodies and glomerulonephritis in lupus-prone MRL/*lpr* mice(271).

Overexpression of EZH2 in CD4+ T cells decreased DNA methylation of leukocyte adhesion and migration genes including the junctional adhesion molecule A (JAM-A). EZH2 overexpression in CD4+ T cells also increases expression of JAM-A(270). JAM-A expression is higher in the CD4+ T cells of lupus patients than those in healthy controls(270). Blocking of JAM-A in EZH2-overexpressing CD4+ T cells and lupus CD4+ T cells reduces their ability to adhere to vascular endothelial cells(270). EZH2 activity can be influenced by environmental factors and cellular metabolism. Oxidative stress increases EZH2 expression in CD4+ T cells(272). Oxidative stress also increases mTORC1 activity and subsequently glycolysis and cellular metabolism in CD4+ T cells(272). Inhibiting mTORC1 or glycolysis downregulates EZH2 as well, suggesting that environmental stressors like reactive oxygen species can influence the activity of the key epigenetic regulatory factor EZH2 through mTORC1 activity and contributing to the shift in DNA methylation seen in lupus CD4+ T cells.

A subset of demethylated T cells is expanded in lupus patients and increases in size with disease activity. This subset is characterized by overexpression of methylation sensitive genes including *ITGAL*, *CD40LG*, and killer Ig-like receptors (KIR), and is identified as CD4+CD28+KIR+CD11a<sup>hi</sup> T cells(273). The methylation and expression profiles of primary of CD4+KIR+CD11a<sup>hi</sup> T cells isolated from lupus patients compared to autologous CD4+CD28+KIR-CD11a<sup>low</sup> T cells recapitulated what was seen in CD4+KIR+CD11a<sup>hi</sup> T cells generated *in vitro* with DNA methylation inhibitors(274). Hypomethylated and overexpressed

genes in this subset were enriched in pathways related to graft versus host disease, inflammatory response to bacterial infection, and chemotactic immune response(274).

Trans-tissue methylation analysis of CD4+ T cells, B cells, neutrophils, and monocytes found that while each tissue carries a unique DNA methylation signature, there is enrichment for hypomethylated genes in interferon-mediated immunity across all cell types(263, 275). In contrast to the findings that type I interferon serum concentrations sometimes vary with disease activity, hypomethylation of interferon genes did not change between quiescent and active disease (263, 264).

In addition to IFN-regulated genes, lupus CD8+ T cells have extensive hypomethylation of *HLA-DRB1*, which was overexpressed in the presence of type I IFN(276). *HLA-DRB1* expression was found to be and dependent on STAT1 and CIITA which are upregulated in response to IFN $\alpha$ (276). These HLA-DRB1+CD8+ T cells can activate autologous naive CD4+ T cells *in vitro* and could contribute to disease pathogenesis(276).

A proinflammatory CD4-CD8- T cell subset ("double negative (DN) T cells") is significantly expanded in the peripheral blood of lupus patients(277). DN T cells can produce IL-17, IFN $\gamma$  and IL-4, and infiltrate the kidneys in lupus nephritis patients(277, 278). Compared to CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, DN T cells show extensive hypomethylation of proinflammatory genes and an associated reduction in DNMT1, DNMT3A, and DNMT3B expression(279). CD4 and CD8 gene loci were specifically hypermethylated likely contributing to their repression in DN T cells. Hypomethylated genes in DN T cells were enriched in cell adhesion and communication functional categories and proinflammatory cytokine genes including IL-17, IFN $\gamma$ , and BLYS which is a potent stimulator of B cells(279). T cell-specific delivery of 5-azacytidine to lupusprone MRL/*lpr* mice suppressed disease pathology potentially by upregulating Foxp3 expression

in CD4+ T cells, supporting the differentiation of regulatory T cells and preventing the conversion of CD8+ T cells to a pathogenic double-negative phenotype(280). Future studies of targeted delivery of drugs regulating DNA methylation within cells may provide new therapeutic options for lupus.

Transposable elements in the genome of lupus patients are shown to be hypomethylated in CD4+ and CD8+ T cells, B cells, and neutrophils, reflecting an overall global hypomethylation. In T cells and B cells, LINE-1 and HERV hypomethylation is associated with disease activity(281, 282). LINE-1-containing genes are also overexpressed in lupus neutrophils suggesting that these transposable elements may alter the expression of apoptosis and immune response genes(283).

Recent studies of the relationship between DNA methylation and genetics in lupus has been through the identification of methylation quantitative trait loci (meQTL). MeQTL combines both genome-wide DNA methylation and genotyping data to measure associations between DNA methylation and nearby polymorphisms. The first of such studies in peripheral blood of lupus patients found significant meQTL enriched in genes associated with transcription factor activity and leukocyte activation and overlapping active enhancer regions in T and B cells(73). MeQTL also included associations with genetic susceptibility loci for lupus, such as *IRF7*, suggesting that genetic risk loci might mediate pathogenic effects in lupus via altering DNA methylation(73). One study of a multi-ethnic lupus cohort found that DNA methylation differences associated with patient clustering by clinical criteria were partially associated with meQTL and potentially mediated the SNP-cluster association(284). Ethnicity-associated genetic and epigenetic differences have received increasing attention in the field lately to explain in part the observed differences in disease activity and manifestations between populations. Genetic ancestry explains approximately 60%-75% of the DNA methylation variance in the healthy population suggesting the remaining variance is due to personal environmental and non-genetic factors(285, 286). PBMCs and naïve CD4+ T cells isolated from African-American patients with lupus show an increased hypomethylation of the interferon-regulated gene signature and apoptosis-related genes, respectively, when compared to European-American patients(287, 288).

DNA methylation studies have the potential for the discovery of new disease biomarkers. Two CpG sites associated with the interferon-regulated gene *IF144L* that are hypomethylated in lupus patients were found to be highly sensitive and specific for a diagnosis of lupus when compared to rheumatoid arthritis and primary Sjogren's syndrome patients and healthy controls in a Chinese cohort(289). Sensitivity and specificity for these sites was slightly lower in a European cohort(289). *IF144L* methylation status was not influenced by type I interferon exposure *in vitro*(290).

#### **1.4 Rationale**

Decades of research have demonstrated that DNA methylation alterations in the immune cells of lupus patients reflect a disease-associated process influenced by both genetic and environmental factors (Figure 1-2). Currently, DNA methylation in lupus patients consist of cross-sectional studies that are unable to evaluate DNA methylation changes over time within patients. Expression profiles of peripheral blood cells in lupus patients change with disease activity over time and it is not hard to imagine that DNA methylation could potentially follow a similar

course. This led us to propose a longitudinal analysis of DNA methylation in a cohort of lupus patients followed for up to four years. Using this dataset, we wanted to address the association of DNA methylation in neutrophils over time and disease activity in lupus patients. We also wanted to evaluate the potential for genetic-DNA methylation interaction in lupus patients by performing meQTL analysis. The deliberate inclusion of African-American and European-American lupus patients allowed us to address the contribution of genetic ancestry to the observed DNA methylation changes. We applied a similar analysis to DNA methylation data we derived from naïve CD4+ T cells collected from a cross-sectional, case-control cohort to tease apart patientspecific genetic contributions to the DNA methylation signature that defines lupus.



**Figure 1-2: DNA methylation is the interface of genetic and environmental factors in lupus.** In lupus, environmental factors such as UV radiation and viral infection are potential triggers for loss of self-tolerance and the development of autoimmunity or disease flares. Genetic background in genes regulating the inflammatory and type I interferon responses of the immune system can make individuals more susceptible to developing autoimmunity. Environmental exposures and genetics can both influence DNA methylation. Reductions in global methylation and specifically IFN-response genes are a characteristic of lupus immune cells. These could contribute to loss of self-tolerance and the development of lupus as well as contribute to disease flares. DNA methylation can serve as a potential biomarker for monitoring disease activity or a therapeutic target. Created with BioRender.com.

### Chapter 2 A Longitudinal and Transancestral Analysis of DNA Methylation Patterns and Disease Activity in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Neutrophils

#### 2.1 Abstract

**Objective:** Epigenetic dysregulation is implicated in the pathogenesis of lupus. We performed a longitudinal analysis of DNA methylation in lupus patients and assessed epigenetic changes over time and across disease activity status. Combining genetic and epigenetic analyses, we also examined ancestry-specific DNA methylation and DNA methylation changes influenced by genetic variants across the genome.

**Methods:** A total of 54 female lupus patients, including 32 European-American and 22 African-American, were followed for up to 4 years. Blood samples were obtained at routine follow up visits and during disease flares, with a total of 229 samples collected. Disease activity at each blood draw was determined by SLEDAI. Granulocytes were isolated and DNA extracted. Genotyping was performed using the Infinium Global Screening Array v2.0, and genome-wide DNA methylation was assessed at each time-point using the Infinium MethylationEPIC array. Ancestry-specific DNA methylation changes and methylation quantitative trait loci (meQTL) were identified. A linear mixed effects model was implemented to identify DNA methylation alterations that vary with disease activity and the development of lupus nephritis during follow up.

**Results:** We identified 487 hypomethylated and 420 hypermethylated CpG sites in African-American compared to European-American lupus patients, annotated to 391 and 316 unique genes, respectively. Differentially methylated genes include type I interferon-response genes such as *IRF7* and *IFI44*, and genes related to the NF $\kappa$ B pathway. After adjusting for age, medications, and genetic background, DNA methylation levels in 142 (15.7%) differentially methylated sites were found to be allele-specific and influenced by at least one genetic variant located within 1kb. TREML4, which plays a vital role in toll-like receptor signaling, was hypomethylated in African-American patients and demonstrated a strong *cis*-meQTL association  $(r^2=0.91)$ . The associated genetic variant (rs9369265) significantly differs in allele frequencies between African-American and European-Americans and is located within an active enhancer region in neutrophils and modifies TREML4 expression. In vitro patch methylation experiments confirmed the regulatory effects of *TREMLA* methylation upon gene expression. Experiments to assess the functional effects of TREML4 overexpression in human neutrophils are underway in our laboratory. Interestingly, the DNA methylome was highly stable across disease activity levels and over time. Two sites cg26104306 (SNX18; FDR-adjusted P-value = 3.38 x 10-2) and cg06708913 (FDR-adjusted P-value = 3.43 x 10-2) were associated with changing disease activity levels in African-American patients. Demethylation of a CpG site located within GALNT18 was associated with the development of active lupus nephritis.

**Conclusion:** Lupus granulocytes demonstrate significant differences in DNA methylation patterns between African-American and European-American patients. DNA methylation profiles in lupus patients are influenced by ancestry-specific genetic variants and are highly stable over time independent of disease activity levels. Progressive demethylation in *SNX18* was observed with increasing disease activity in granulocytes from African-American lupus patients, and demethylation in *GALNT18* was associated with the development of lupus nephritis in our cohort during follow up.

#### **2.2 Introduction**

Systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE or lupus) is an autoimmune disease of incompletely understood etiology. Genetic, epigenetic, and environmental factors are thought to play key roles in the immune dysregulation underlying the development of the disease(291). Lupus is characterized by the production of autoantibodies to nuclear antigens, and a remitting-relapsing disease course that can target multiple organ systems(292). Frequent disease flares and prolonged periods of active disease are associated with a more deleterious outcome in lupus patients and a higher risk of tissue and organ damage(293).

Lupus is associated with changes in gene expression, including prominent type I interferon and neutrophil gene signatures in the peripheral blood(131, 189, 294, 295). Further, increased disease activity in lupus is associated with transcriptional profiles implicating different innate and adaptive peripheral immune cells in individual patients followed longitudinally (131). Notably, progression to active nephritis in lupus patients was associated with gradual enrichment in neutrophil transcripts(131). Indeed, a prominent role for neutrophils in the pathogenesis of lupus is being more clearly elucidated(296).

DNA methylation, an epigenetic mechanism that regulates gene expression, is altered in the immune cells of lupus patients and is potentially influenced by both environmental and genetic factors(297). DNA methylation defects in lupus are suggested to promote an overactive immune response when exposed to inflammatory signals like autoantibody-autoantigen complexes or endogenous nucleic acids(266, 268, 275). Methylation quantitative trait loci (meQTL) are genetic polymorphisms that are associated with DNA methylation either directly through alteration of CpG dinucleotides or at a distance through an intermediary process. MeQTL identified in prior lupus studies show enrichment for lupus susceptibility genes and type

I interferon response genes suggesting that altering DNA methylation levels at specific loci could be a potential mechanism by which risk alleles contribute to disease susceptibility in lupus(73, 82, 284). Lupus susceptibility is significantly higher in patients of non-European ancestry, who are also more likely to develop more severe disease even after accounting for the influence of social and environmental factors(298). Thus, meQTL analysis provides a potential approach to better understand the mechanisms underlying the observed differences in disease manifestations and outcomes in lupus patients of different ancestries.

Recent work investigating DNA methylation changes in lupus and associated downstream effects and underlying upstream regulatory mechanisms have resulted in significant insights into the pathogenesis of lupus and the identification of novel therapeutic targets for the disease(271). Cell-type specific precision delivery systems to modify the epigenome are promising novel approaches in the treatment of autoimmune diseases including lupus (280). Further, DNA methylation changes have been suggested as diagnostic markers and markers that can potentially predict specific disease manifestations in lupus(265, 266, 289, 299). However, DNA methylation studies in lupus to date have been cross-sectional, and longitudinal studies investigating epigenetic changes in patients with lupus over time have not been reported.

We have previously demonstrated robust demethylation of interferon-regulated genes in lupus neutrophils compared to normal healthy controls(275). In this study, we investigate neutrophil DNA methylation changes over time and across disease activity levels in a cohort of lupus patients followed longitudinally for up to about 4 years. Moreover, we sought to increase our understanding of how DNA methylation is impacted by the genetic background. We compared DNA methylation patterns between African-American and European-American lupus patients, performed meQTL analyses in lupus neutrophils, and identified CpG sites that show

methylation changes correlating with disease activity and the development of lupus nephritis across the course of the disease.

#### 2.3 Methods

#### 2.3.1 Study Participants and Demographics

54 female lupus patients were recruited from the University of Michigan Health System and Henry Ford Health System for this study (see Table B-1). Our cohort included 32 patients of European-American ancestry and 22 patients of African-American ancestry. Patients were followed over a 43 month period. The patients selected for this study had at least one change in disease activity as measured by the systemic lupus erythematosus disease activity index (SLEDAI) score across all timepoints. This resulted in a total of 229 timepoints across all patients (4 median timepoints per patient; range: 2-11 timepoints). The mean age of patients at the initial visit was  $41.0\pm13.1$  years (mean $\pm$ sd; range: 19-70 years). The mean SLEDAI score of patients was  $3.9\pm3.9$  (mean $\pm$ sd; range: 0-20) at their initial visit and  $4.0\pm3.7$  (mean $\pm$ sd; range: 0-20) across all timepoints. All patients in this study fulfilled the American College of Rheumatology classification criteria for systemic lupus erythematosus(300).

DNA methylation data from normal healthy control neutrophils (n= 5 and 6 African-American, and European-American, respectively) generated using the Illumina Infinium HumanMethylation450 array and previously reported were also used(275) (GEO accession GSE65097).

#### 2.3.2 DNA Isolation

Whole blood was collected from each patient at each time point during clinic visits in vials containing EDTA. Granulocyte fractions were isolated using density centrifugation with Ficoll-Histopaque (GE Healthcare, Chicago, IL, USA). Genomic DNA was isolated from the enriched granulocyte layer using either phenol-chloroform extraction or Qiagen DNEasy Blood and Tissue kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD, USA), or following the removal of red blood cells using dextran (Sigma-Aldrich, St. Lois, MS, USA) and hypotonic lysis(301). DNA was eluted in water and quantified using Qubit DNA fluorescence quantification assays (Thermo-Fisher, Waltham, MA, USA).

#### 2.3.3 DNA Methylation Measurement

350ng of DNA from each sample was bisulfite converted using the EZ-96 DNA Methylation Kit (Zymo, Irvine, CA, USA) following the manufacturer's instructions. Samples were hybridized to the Infinium MethylationEPIC array (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) to assess site-specific DNA methylation of over 850,000 methylation sites across the genome. Samples were randomized across all arrays to minimize batch effects. Sample hybridization and array scanning were performed at the University of Michigan Advanced Genomics Core.

#### 2.3.4 DNA Methylation Quality Control and Analysis

DNA methylation data analysis was performed in the R statistical computing environment (v.3.6.3)(302). Raw .idat files were generated for each sample and read into the R package *minfi* (v.1.32.0) for quality control and downstream analysis(303, 304). Probes with less than three beads and zero intensity values across all samples were removed according to best practices as

implemented by the *DNAmArray* package (v.0.1.1)(305). Then, background signal and dye bias were corrected followed by normalization of signal intensities using functional normalization in the *preprocessFunnorm.DNAmArray* function(305, 306). This method uses the first three principal component values calculated from signal intensities of control probes present on all array spots to correct for technical variation. Probes with detection P-values < 0.01 were removed as were probes that returned signal intensities in fewer than 98% of samples. Signal intensities were then converted to M-values with a maximum bound of ±16. M-values were used for all regression testing and converted to beta values (0-100% methylation scale) using *minfi* for reporting.

We masked any probes with potential technical issues if the probe met any one of the following criteria described by *Zhou, Laird & Shen (2017)*(307): A unique probe sequence of less than 30bp, mapping to multiple sites in the genome, polymorphisms that cause a color channel switching in type I probes, inconsistencies in specified reporter color channel and extension base, mapping to the Y chromosome, and/or having a polymorphism within 5bp of the 3' end of the probe with a minor allele frequency (MAF) > 1% with exception of CpG-SNPs with C>T polymorphisms which we retained for analysis. Batch correction was performed using the *ComBat* function in the *sva* (v.3.34.0) package(308).

We implemented a mixed correspondence analysis with the *PCAmixdata* package (v.3.1) to calculate eigenvalues using patient medication data for prednisone, hydroxychloroquine, azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil, and cyclophosphamide(309). The top four components accounted for a cumulative 88.4% of variability in the medication data. Each component value was used as an independent variable in regression analysis to adjust for medication usage across individuals.

Cell type-specific DNA methylation profiles were used to assess enrichment of neutrophils in our DNA samples(310). Of 73 CpG sites previously identified to accurately discriminate between neutrophils and other cell types in peripheral blood (namely CD4+ T cells, CD8+ T cells, B cells, natural killer cells, and monocytes) methylation levels in 71 sites passed our quality control measures in our dataset. DNA methylation levels in these sites were very highly correlated in our DNA samples with DNA isolated from neutrophils (r = 0.996, see Figure C-1).

#### 2.3.5 Genotyping and Methylation Quantitative Trait Loci (meQTL) Analysis

Genotyping data were generated using Infinium Global Screening Array-24 v2.0 (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) according to the manufacturer's instructions. Stringent quality controls (QC) were applied before analyses using *PLINK* (v.1.9)(311). Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) with a genotyping call rate < 98%, MAF < 5%, and deviating from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE; P-value < 1E-03) were filtered out. Samples were removed if they had a genotyping call rate < 95%. Sex chromosomes were not analyzed. About 100,000 independent SNPs were pruned and used to perform principal component analysis (PCA) with *Eigensoft* (v.6.1.4) software(312). Genotyping data of a single African-American lupus patient was removed at the QC step due to failing quality measures. All meQTL analyses presented in this chapter are obtained from the methylation and genotyping profiles of n = 21 African-American and n = 32 European-American lupus patients.

#### 2.3.6 Functional Enrichment Analysis

Gene annotation of CpG probes was done using GENCODE v22 (hg38) annotations from a manifest file produced by *Zhou, Laird & Shen (2017)*(307). Gene network analysis of differentially methylated genes was done using Ingenuity Pathway Analysis (Qiagen, Germantown, MD, USA). ToppGene Suite was used for functional gene ontology enrichment analysis(313). Molecular Function and Biological Process Gene Ontologies and KEGG Pathways were selected for enrichment. P-values were derived using a hypergeometric probability mass function and a Benjamini-Hochberg FDR-adjusted P-value cutoff of < 0.05 was used as a threshold of significance. Ontologies and pathways had to have a minimum membership of 3 genes and maximum of 2000 genes to be included.

Interferon-regulated genes were identified using the differentially methylated gene set as input for Interferome (v.2.01)(314) limiting results to genes with an expression fold change of 1.5 or greater between type I interferon-treated and untreated samples using datasets derived from peripheral whole blood.

#### 2.3.7 In vitro TREML4 Promoter Patch Methylation

We used an *in vitro* patch methylation assay to examine the role of DNA methylation in regulating the expression of *TREML4*. To accomplish this, we used the pCpGfree-promoter-Lucia plasmid (InvivoGen, San Diego, CA, USA) which lacks CpG sites to prevent any DNA methylation occurring outside of the inserted sequences. Chemically competent GT115 *E. coli* (InvivoGen, San Diego, CA, USA) were transfected with 1ug of plasmid and grown according to manufacturer's direction. Isolated colonies were grown in 3mL of Fast-Media Zeo TB (InvivoGen, San Diego, CA, USA) for 7h at 37°C while shaking at 250rpm, then allowed to continue growing overnight in the same conditions in an additional 200mL of Fast-Media Zeo

TB (InvivoGen, San Diego, CA, USA). Bacterial cells were spun at 2000xg to pellet and frozen at -20°C. Plasmid was isolated using the QIAGEN Plasmid Maxi Kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany) according to manufacturer's direction.

The TREML4 promoter sequence (chr6:41228103-41228452; hg38) oligonucleotide was synthesized (Integrated DNA Technologies, Coralville, IA, USA) using the sequence available from the GRCh38 build of the human genome (see Appendix B). Restriction digest sequences for SbfI (5'- TAAGCACCTGCAGG-3') was added to the 5' end of the TREML4 sequence and SpeI (5'- ACTAGTTAAGCA-3') to the 3' end with the addition of a 5'-TAAGCA-3' sequence to enhance digestion. The promoter sequence included five CpG sites available for methylation. The TREML4 promoter and plasmid backbone were prepared using separate restriction digest reactions with SpfI-HF and SpeI-HF enzymes using NEBuffer CutSmart (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) using 500ng of plasmid DNA and 100ng of promoter DNA, respectively. A ligation reaction using T4 ligase (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) and a 7:1 mass ratio of *TREML4* insert: plasmid backbone was performed to produce a complete plasmid. Restriction digest with SbfI-HF and HindIII-HF (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) was used to remove the native EF-1a promoter from the pCpGfree vector followed by quick blunting and T4 ligation (Quick Blunting Kit; New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) using purified plasmid according to manufacturer's direction. Colony PCR screening was used to identify colonies with properly inserted plasmid using the OneTaq Quick-Load Master Mix (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) according to manufacturer's direction. EF-1α removal and TREML4 promoter insertion were verified using Sanger sequencing of isolated plasmid with the manufacturer's suggested PCR primers (Forward: 5'-

GTACCAGTTTTATTGTTTTTAGTGGTAGTG-3'; Reverse: 5'-

GCCATGTGCTCTCTGCCCACTGAG-3'; Integrated DNA Technologies, Coralville, IA, USA).

*In vitro* methylation of the *TREML4* promoter plasmid was performed using the CpG methyltransferase M.SssI (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) using 1ug of plasmid DNA as input according to manufacturer's direction. Restriction digest with AciI and SacI-HF (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) and agarose gel electrophoresis was used to confirm CpG methylation. Only reactions showing complete methylation were selected for use in *in vitro* patch methylation assay. A mock control reaction lacking the addition of M.SssI was performed simultaneously. Agarose gel electrophoresis and gel extraction was performed to isolate purified DNA from restriction enzyme digests, M.SssI reactions, and PCR products using the QIAquick PCR & Gel Cleanup kit (Qiagen, Hilden, Germany). All Sanger sequencing was performed by Azenta Life Sciences (Pittsburgh, PA, USA).

HEK-293 cells were cultured using DMEM medium supplemented with 10% heatinactivated fetal bovine serum (FBS) (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Opaque white 96-well plates were seeded with 20,000 HEK-293 cells/well in 75uL of DMEM media overnight. 25ng of the desired plasmid (methylated or mock methylated control) and 1ng of pGL4.73[*hRluc*/TK] (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) was mixed with Fugene 6 (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) diluted in Opti-MEM Reduced Serum media (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) using a 3:1 ratio of Fugene 6 volume:DNA mass (ug) per well. Wells with no DNA added were included as control for background signal. Transfected HEK-293 cells were incubated at 37°C for 48h. Lucia luciferase is secreted and chemiluminescence can be measured using culture media. The assay was performed using the QUANTI-Luc Gold detection medium (InvivoGen, San Diego, CA, USA). Briefly, 10uL of supernatant was removed from each well

and transferred to the complementary well on an opaque white 96-well plate and 50uL of QUANTI-Luc Gold medium added according to manufacturer's direction. *Renilla* luciferase chemiluminescence was measured using the Dual-Glo Luciferase Assay System (Promega, Madison, WI, USA) by adding the detection medium to the original well plate containing HEK-293 cells according to manufacturer's direction.

Luciferase measurements were recorded using the Synergy HTX MultiMode luminometer (BioTek Instruments, Winooski, VT, USA) with a channel gain of 135. Each assay included ten replicate wells per group (methylated plasmid, mock methylated plasmid, and no DNA control) and was repeated in two independent experiments. Signals from the two plasmid groups (in both Lucia and *Renilla* plates) were normalized to their respective background control wells within each plate before the final Lucia/*Renilla* value being calculated per well.

#### 2.3.8 PLB-985 Culture and Differentiation

PLB-985 are a myeloblast cell line and a subclone of the HL-60 acute myeloid leukemia cell line that can be induced to differentiate into a neutrophil-like form *in vitro* using dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO)(315, 316). PLB-985 cells (ACC139, LOT:10 20.12.2019) were obtained from the Leibniz-Institut DSMZ (Braunschweig, Germany). PLB cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum, 100U/mL penicillin, 100ug/mL streptomycin, and 1% 200mM L-glutamine solution (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Cells were seeded in T25 flasks at a density of 0.5E6 - 0.8E6 cells/mL at 5% CO<sub>2</sub>/37°C and split every 3 days. PLB-985 cells were differentiated by the addition of 1.3% DMSO solution to culture medium for three to six days depending on the required assay at a starting density of 1E6 cells/mL. Differentiation media were

replaced with fresh media on day three for cells differentiated over six days. Differentiation was monitored by CD11b expression measured using flow cytometry with anti-human CD11b-PECy7 (ICRF44; Biolegend, San Diego, CA, USA).

#### 2.3.9 TLR7 Stimulation of PLB-985 cells

We wanted to identify gene expression changes in PLB-985 cells in response to TLR7 stimulation. PLB-985 cells were seeded at a density of 2.5E6 cells/mL with the addition of 1.3% DMSO and incubated for 4 days. In addition, one well received 5ug/mL of imiquimod (InvivoGen, San Diego, CA, USA) at day 0. Each group included two replicate wells. Dead cells were removed using the Dead Cell Removal Kit (Miltenyi Biotec, Westphalia, Germany) according to manufacturer's direction. Cells were lysed in TRIzol Reagent (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and frozen at -80°C. RNA was isolated using the Direct-zol Miniprep Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA, USA). RNA concentration was measured using the Qubit Broad Range Assay (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA).

We used the nCounter Myeloid Innate Immunity Panel (NanoString, Seattle, WA, USA) to measure expression of 770 myeloid-relevant genes. RNA samples were hybridized to arrays at the University of Pittsburgh Genomics Research Core. Sample quality control and data analysis was done using the nSolver Analysis Software (v4.0) using the NS\_HS\_MYELOID v2.0 codeset (NanoString, Seattle, WA, USA). All samples passed recommended software default quality control for array imaging, probe binding, and internal positive control probe signal. Sample expression signal data passed recommended software default quality control for positive internal control probe detection. Array background signal was compensated for by setting the minimum signal threshold to two standard deviations from the average of the internal negative control

probes and adjusting any probe signal within that range to the threshold. Sample normalization was performed by first normalizing to internal positive control probes to adjust for technical variation, then adjusting for a set of internal housekeeping genes within each sample to adjust for sample input variation.

#### 2.3.10 TREML4 Transfection of PLB-985 Cells

We wanted to explore the role of *TREML4* overexpression in neutrophil-like PLB-985 cells receiving TLR7 stimulation. A made-to-order *TREML4* open reading frame clone (RC211020; OriGene, Rockville, MD, USA) was inserted into a pCMV6-A-GFP backbone (PS100026; OriGene, Rockville, MD, USA) under the control of a CMV6 promoter. An empty backbone plasmid was generated to act as a control using restriction digest with MluI-HF and AsiSI-HF enzymes (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) followed by blunting and T4 ligation. 100ng of plasmid was used to transform NEB 10-beta competent *E. coli* (New England Biolabs, Ipswich, MA, USA) according to manufacturer's direction. Plasmid was isolated from bacterial cells using the EndoFree Maxi kit (Qiagen, Germantown, MD, USA).

Plasmid was inserted into PLB-985 cells using electroporation. Each transfection consisted of 5E6 PLB-985 cells cultured with 1.3% DMSO for 3 days to induce differentiation. Differentiated cells were combined with 100uL of nucleofection solution and 0.2ug of either *TREML4* or empty CMV6 plasmid. A mock transfection using water was included as a control. Transfection of PLB-985 cells was performed using the Nucleofector IIb device (Lonza, Basel, Switzerland) using the A-20 program. Cells were then transferred to 2mL of prewarmed culture media and allowed to incubate for 6 hours then washed in fresh culture media and allowed to incubate for 6 hours then washed in TRIzol Reagent (ThermoFisher

Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) and frozen at -80°C. RNA was isolated using the Direct-zol Miniprep Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA, USA). RNA concentration was measured using the Qubit Broad Range Assay (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA). Each experiment consisted of PLB-985 cells cultured in 1.3% DMSO for 3 days then transfected with the CMV6-*TREML4* plasmid or an empty backbone. One well in each group was treated with 5ug/mL of imiquimod for 6 hours prior to lysis. These experiments were repeated four independent times. 1ug of RNA was used as input to generate cDNA using the Verso cDNA Synthesis Kit (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, US) with RT Enhancer to remove any contaminating double-stranded DNA. We measured the expression of *CCL2* (Forward: 5'-

CAGCCAGATGCAATCAATGCC-3'; Reverse: 5'-TGGAATCCTGAACCCACTTCT-3'),

IL1B (Forward: 5'-CCACAGACCTTCCAGGAGAATG-3'; Reverse: 5'-

GTGCAGTTCAGTGATCGTACAGG-3'), TREML4 (Forward: 5'-

GAAGTCTCATTACACAATCTGG-3'; Reverse: 5'-GAAGAGTCCACATAGGAGAC-3'), and *ACTB* expression (Forward: 5'- GTCAGGCAGCTCGTAGCTCT-3'; Reverse: 5'-

GCCATGTACGTTGCTATCCA-3') using a primer concentration of 10uM and the PowerUp SYBR Green Master Mix (ThermoFisher Scientific, Waltham, MA, USA) according to manufacturer's direction. Each sample included four technical replicates per plate. Delta Cq values for each sample were calculated by subtracting the average beta actin Cq value from the average Cq values for each gene from. Delta-delta Cq values (ddCq) for each treatment sample were then calculated by subtracting the delta Cq of the control sample (differentiated PLB-985 cells mock transfected without DNA or imiquimod) from the delta Cq of each respective sample. DdCq values were used for statistical testing and transformed 2<sup>-ddCq</sup> values for figures.

#### 2.3.11 NETosis Assay

We used immunofluorescence microscopy to evaluate the ability of PLB-985 cells to undergo NETosis. PLB-985 cells were differentiated in 1.3% DMSO for six days. This time point was chosen based on a prior study of NETosis in PLB-985 cells(317). 1E5 cells were seeded onto a poly-L-lysine coated coverslip and allowed to adhere for 20 minutes. Adhered cells were incubated with either 200nM or 400nM of phorbol myristate acetate (PMA) diluted in RPMI 1640, 200nM L-glutamine, and 1% FBS serum for 5 hours. Cells were incubated in media lacking PMA as a treatment control. Cells were fixed with 4% paraformaldehyde for 10 minutes then blocked overnight in PBS with 10% FBS (blocking buffer). Fixed cells were stained with anti-human neutrophil elastase rabbit polyclonal antibody diluted 1:100 in blocking buffer (Millipore Sigma, Burlington, MA, USA), followed by staining with anti-rabbit Goat F(ab')2 IgG FITC-conjugated secondary antibody (Southern Biotech, Birmingham, AL, USA) diluted 1:200 in blocking buffer. DNA was stained using Hoescht 33342 diluted 1:500 in blocking buffer. Immunofluorescence micrographs were taken using the STELLARIS 5 confocal microscope (Leica Microsystems, Wetzlar, Germany) using a 60x oil immersion lens.

#### 2.3.12 Statistical Analysis

We used probe-wise linear regressions to detect CpG sites in our cohort that show methylation difference between African-American and European-American patients using the *limma* (v.3.42.2) package(318). Patient age and the top four medication components were adjusted for in each regression and an empirical Bayes moderated t-statistic and P-value calculated for each probe. CpG sites were significantly differentially methylated if they had a Benjamini-Hochberg FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.05 and were differentially methylated by at least 10% between African-American and European-American patients. Methylation M-values from the initial time point samples (n = 53), sample genotypes (n = 53), sample age, the top four medication components, and top ten genotype principal components were used to build a linear model for detecting meQTL using *MatrixEQTL* (v.2.3) in R(319). *Cis*-meQTL were defined as CpG sites with methylation values associated with a SNP within a conservative 1000bp of the CpG dinucleotide. We used a Benjamini-Hochberg FDR-adjusted P-value cutoff of < 0.05 for significant associations.

Analysis of the association with SLEDAI score and DNA methylation in our longitudinal cohort (n = 93 African-American & 136 European-American patient samples) was performed by fitting a linear mixed model using the *lmerTest* (v.3.1-2)(320) and *MuMIn* (v.1.43.17) packages in R(321). A regression model was fit in a probe-wise manner for all samples in each ancestry group to allow detection of ancestry-associated sites. Regression models were adjusted for age at sample collection as a fixed effect and SLEDAI score as the variable of interest. Repeated samples were grouped by patient which was accounted for as a random effect in the model. CpG methylation and SLEDAI score had a statistically significant association if they had a Benjamini-Hochberg FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.05 and a suggestive association with a Benjamini-Hochberg FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.10. The impact of adjusting for medication components was determined by comparing the fit of the previously specified mixed effect regression model with an extended model that includes additional fixed effects for the top four medication components of each lupus patient's timepoint. A chi-square difference test for nested models was applied using the *anova* function in R to determine if model fit was improved. A P-value < 0.05 was considered statistically significant and indicates that the larger model has improved data fit.

Longitudinal analysis of nephritis in our cohort was performed by fitting a linear mixed model as above to each probe using methylation profiles for n = 11 lupus patients (n = 7 African-

American and n = 4 European-American) at a timepoint with active nephritis (as defined by SLEDAI) and the nearest preceding or receding timepoint without nephritis after adjusting for the top four medication components, age, and ancestry as fixed effects. Sample pairs were included as a random effect. A Benjamini-Hochberg FDR-adjusted P-value threshold of < 0.05 was used to identify statistically significant associations.

Two-group testing of mean ages between ancestry groups was done using a t-test. SLEDAI criteria and medication differences were compared using Fisher's exact test. Comparing allelic proportions between ancestry groups was done using a two-proportion z-test. All P-values were two-tailed and a significance threshold of P-value < 0.05 was used.

An unpaired *t* test with Welch's correction was performed to evaluate the difference in background-corrected Lucia luciferase signal normalized to background-corrected *Renilla* luciferase signal between *in vitro* methylated and mock methylated *TREML4* promoter pCpGfree plasmids. Results were considered significant if the P-value < 0.05. An unpaired *t* test was used to compare gene-wise expression counts between differentiated PLB-985 cells treated with imiquimod and untreated control cells. P-value adjustment for multiple testing was done using the Benjamini-Yekutieli false discovery rate method. Statistical testing was performed using the nSolver Analysis Software (v4.0) with the NS\_HS\_MYELOID v2.0 codeset (NanoString, Seattle, WA, USA). A paired *t* test was used to compare the average ddCq expression of *TREML4* normalized to a mock transfected control between differentiated PLB-985 cells transfected with a *TREML4* expression plasmid and the empty control plasmid. For repeated measures, one-way ANOVA with Geisser-Greenhouse correction was used to compare average ddCq expression of *IL1B* and *CCL2* in differentiated PLB-985 cells transfected with either a *TREML4* expression plasmid or the empty control plasmid and treated with imiquimod compared

to untreated cells. Comparisons between imiquimod treated and untreated controls were made within each plasmid group and between plasmid groups receiving imiquimod treatment. P-value correction for multiple comparisons was performed using Sidak's multiple comparison testing correction. Results were considered significant if the P-value < 0.05. All statistical testing for *TREML4* promoter methylation and *TREML4*, *IL1B*, and *CCL2* expression experiments were performed using Prism (v9.3.0) (GraphPad Software, San Diego, CA, USA).

#### **2.4 Results**

# 2.4.1 Longitudinal analysis of DNA methylation over time and across disease activity levels in lupus patients

The Infinium MethylationEPIC array measures the methylation status of 866,836 methylation sites across the genome including 863,904 CpG and 2932 CNG sites (C, cytosine; N, any nucleotide; G, guanine)(322). After QC and technical probe masking, a total of 745,477 (86.0%) sites were retained for analysis. Heterogeneity in disease manifestations, patient genetic background, and the environment are all factors that complicate the understanding of lupus pathogenesis. Using repeated sampling of lupus patients followed longitudinally, we can account for these factors and detect novel changes in DNA methylation that are associated with disease activity over time. We followed a total of 54 lupus patients for up to 43 months and assessed genome-wide DNA methylation levels in neutrophils in a total of 229 patient samples. Our cohort included 22 African-American and 32 European-American lupus patients followed across 93 and 136 timepoints, respectively. We assessed correlation between DNA methylation changes in individual methylation sites across the genome with disease activity as measured by Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Disease Activity Index (SLEDAI) scores in each ancestry group. After

removing CpG-SNP probes with a minor allele frequency > 1% to avoid a bias due to intraancestral allele frequency differences, we analyzed a total of 733,192 (84.6%) methylation sites. In the African-American cohort we identified a total of eight CpG sites that met our suggestive FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.1 (Figure 2-1A, Table 2-1). Two sites cg26104306 (*SNX18*; FDRadjusted P-value = 3.38E-02) and cg06708913 (FDR-adjusted P-value = 3.43E-02) were significantly associated with changing disease activity levels in our cohort (Figure 2-1B and 2-1C).



Figure 2-1: The relationship between DNA methylation changes and disease activity in a longitudinal cohort of lupus patients. (A) A Manhattan plot depicting the significance of correlation between methylation levels of CpG sites and disease activity as measured using SLEDAI scores in African-American lupus patients (n = 93 samples). The red dots are CpG sites that meet the threshold for significance of FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.05 (bold line) and the blue dots are CpG sites that meet the suggestive threshold of FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.10 (dashed line). (B) Methylation status of cg26104306 (P = 4.61E-08; FDR-adjusted P = 3.38E-02) and (C) cg08708913 (P = 9.35E-08; FDR-adjusted P = 3.43E-02) across SLEDAI scores for African-American (n = 136 samples; blue dots/line) lupus patients.

Table 2-1: Correlation of DNA methylation and disease activity in a cohort of African-American lupus patients (n = 22) across 93 samples after adjusting for age using a mixed effects model.

African-American Patients (n = 22; 93 timepoints)						
Probe ID	Genes	Location (hg38)	SLEDAI Score Coefficient	F (Satterthwaite) <sup>#</sup>	P-value	FDR-adjusted P- Values <sup>*</sup>
cg26104306	SNX18	chr5:54517014	-0.046	36.57	4.61E-08	3.38E-02
cg06708913	-	chr12:89880778	0.055	34.77	9.35E-08	3.43E-02
cg24682077	FGD1	chrX:54496205	-0.026	30.33	3.72E-07	5.35E-02
cg15563677	ELMSAN1;RP5-1021120.1	chr14:73788514	-0.039	31.15	3.73E-07	5.35E-02
cg26138978	EFNB2	chr13:106530743	-0.038	30.14	3.77E-07	5.35E-02
cg17038326	-	chr3:27614709	-0.049	30.64	4.38E-07	5.35E-02
cg22284518	-	chr16:49351267	-0.016	29.63	5.90E-07	6.18E-02
cg00465267	NFATC2	chr20:51497407	0.038	29.28	6.76E-07	6.19E-02
<sup>#</sup> F-value (Satterthwaite) is the F-value for the F-test conducted by lmerTest using the Satterthwaite method for denominator degrees of freedom. <sup>*</sup> All sites represented here met our suggestive significance threshold of $P < 0.10$ and bolded P-values meet our significance threshold of $P < 0.05$ .						

Cg26104306 shows stark demethylation with increasing disease activity compared to our European-American patients which showed very little methylation change across time and disease activity. Similarly, cg06708913 shows a much higher rate of increasing methylation with disease activity in African-American patients relative to European-American patients. The inclusion of the top four medication components as fixed effects did not improve the fit of our model for these two CpG sites (cg26104306 Chi-square P-value = 0.25 and cg06708913 Chisquare P-value = 0.83). Our European-American sample cohort analysis did not identify any CpG-SLEDAI score associations at either P-value threshold. Importantly, these data suggest that DNA methylation patterns defining lupus patients are largely stable over time and across disease activity.

We next performed an analysis in a subset of patients who developed active lupus nephritis at any time point during our study and in whom a sample from at least one time point without evidence of lupus nephritis is available. After adjusting for medications, age, and ancestry we identified a single CpG site with a statistically significant relationship between DNA methylation levels and active nephritis in n = 11 lupus patients. DNA methylation levels in cg16204559, which is located within the gene *GALNT18*, are significantly reduced during active nephritis in lupus patients (Figure 2-2) (see Table A-1: "Supplementary Table 1").



**Figure 2-2:** Cg16204559 (*GALNT18*) is hypomethylated upon development of lupus nephritis. Ideogram of chromosome 11 showing the location of 11p15.5 and 11p15.4 cytobands. Cg16204559 (black line) is within the body of *GALNT18* located in the 11p15.4 region (green box). Methylation profiles for n = 11 lupus patients (red dots (n = 7 African-American and n = 4 European-American) at a timepoint with active nephritis and the nearest preceding or receding timepoint without nephritis were compared after adjusting for medications, age, and ancestry group using a linear mixed effects model. Cg16204559 (*GALNT18*) was significantly demethylated (FDR-adjusted P-value = 0.048) with the occurrence of nephritis. Mean  $\beta$  Nephritis: 78.4% (25<sup>th</sup> Percentile: 80.9%, 75<sup>th</sup> Percentile: 82.0%) and Mean  $\beta$  Non-nephritis: 81.2% (25<sup>th</sup> Percentile: 77.7%, 75<sup>th</sup> Percentile: 79.5%). Whiskers extend to the maximum value within 1.5 times the interquartile range on either end of the group. Points beyond the whiskers are outliers.

## 2.4.2 DNA methylation differences in neutrophils of African-American and European-American lupus patients

We then performed a differential DNA methylation analysis comparing lupus patients with African-American (n = 22) and European-American (n = 32) ancestry after adjusting for medication use and age. A multidimensional plot of the 5000 most variable CpG sites in these patients showed that methylation patterns tended to cluster by patient ancestry group (Figure 2-3A). African-American lupus patients in our cohort had more active disease compared to European-American lupus patients (SLEDAI 5.2±4.5 vs 2.9±3.2, respectively; P-value (t-test) = 0.03). Medication use at the initial timepoint were not significantly different between the ancestry groups. Alopecia was the only SLEDAI criteria showing a significant difference in frequency between African-American and European-American patients (18.2% vs. 0%, respectively; P-value (Fisher's exact test) = 0.02) (see Table B-1). We identified 907 differentially methylated CpG sites using an FDR-adjusted P-value threshold of < 0.05 and a differential methylation between ancestry groups of at least 10% (Figure 2-3B) (see Table A-1: "Supplementary Table 3").



Figure 2-3: Neutrophils of African-American and European-American lupus patients show DNA methylation differences associated with ancestry. (A) Multidimensional scaling plot of top 5000 most variable CpG sites in African-American (n = 22; green circles) and European-American (n = 32; orange circles) lupus patients at initial sample collection. (B) Volcano plot of differentially methylated CpG sites between African-American (n = 22) and European-American (n = 32) lupus patients at initial sample collection. Each dot represents a CpG site (n = 745,477). Significantly differentially methylated sites (green) are differentially methylated by at least 10% between ancestry groups and with an FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.05 (n = 907).
487 (53.7%) of these sites were hypomethylated in African-American compared to European-American lupus patients and 420 (46.3%) were hypermethylated (Figure 2-4A).



**Figure 2-4:** Differential Methylation of Neutrophils in African-American and European-American lupus patients. (A) Pie chart (left) showing the percent of sites hypermethylated (n = 420 (46.3%)) and hypomethylated (n = 487 (53.7%)) in African-American lupus patients compared to European-American controls. (B) Barcharts showing the distribution of hypermethylated (red) and hypomethylated (blue) sites annotated to locations with CpG islands and genes (middle and left, respectively). S\_Shore: South Shore; S\_Shelf: South Shelf; N\_Shore: North Shore; N\_Shelf: North Shelf. 3'UTR: 3' Untranslated Region; ExonBnd: Exon Boundary; 5'UTR: 5' Untranslated Region; TSS200: 200bp upstream of Transcription Start Site; TSS1500: 1500bp upstream of Transcription Start Site.

Hypomethylated and hypermethylated sites showed similar distributions across CpG island and gene locations (Figure 2-4B).

DNA methylation levels among differentially methylated sites differed by 16.5% on average (SD:8.2%; range:10.0% - 57.9%) between ancestry groups. The hypomethylated and hypermethylated sites were associated with 391 and 316 genes, respectively. Hypomethylated genes showed enrichment for gene ontologies for granulocyte differentiation (GO:0030852; FDR-adjusted P-value = 2.23E-02 & GO:0030853; FDR-adjusted P-value = 3.20E-02), cell adhesion (GO:0007155; FDR-adjusted P-value = 1.26E-02 & GO:1903037; FDR-adjusted Pvalue = 3.41E-02), and TLR signaling pathways (GO:0002224; FDR-adjusted P-value = 3.41E-02 & GO:0034121; FDR-adjusted P-value = 4.46E-02) (see Table A-1: "Supplementary Table 4"). Hypermethylated genes were enriched for fewer ontologies representing primarily Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor (GEF) protein activity (GO:0005089; FDR-adjusted P-value = 7.76E-03) and ATP binding (GO:0005524; FDR-adjusted P-value = 2.80E-02) (see Table A-1: "Supplementary Table 5").

To estimate the proportion of CpG sites differentially methylated between African-American and European-American lupus patients that are influenced by ancestral genetic differences, we performed differential DNA methylation analysis comparing neutrophils isolated from normal healthy African-American and European-American controls, using publicly available DNA methylation data generated using the Illumina HumanMethylation450 array. Of 437 sites differentially methylated between African-American and European-American lupus patients that were included on the HumanMethylation450 array, 185 CpG sites (42.3%) were also differentially methylated between African-American and European-American healthy controls (see Table A-1: "Supplementary Table 6"). Indeed, among these methylation sites, DNA methylation differences between the two ancestries in controls and lupus patients showed a high degree of correlation (r = 0.872; Pearson's product-moment correlation t = 24.077, DF = 183, Pvalue < 2.2E-16). These data indicate that at least a proportion of differential methylation identified between African-American lupus patients can be explained by differences in the ancestral genetic background between the populations.

#### 2.4.3 Methylation quantitative trait loci (meQTL) analysis

We next identified associations between DNA methylation and genotype in our crosssectional cohort of lupus patients (n = 53) after controlling for age, medications, and genetic

#### background. Cis-meQTL in our cohort were defined using a conservative range of

1000bp to focus on localized effects (Figure 2-5) (see Table A-1: "Supplementary Table 7").



Figure 2-5: Methylation quantitative trait loci (*cis*-meQTL) analysis in lupus neutrophils. A Manhattan plot showing CpG sites (black and gray dots) in *cis*-meQTL pairs identified in our lupus cohort. Black dots represent CpG sites in non–CpG-SNP *cis*-meQTL pairs that had a significantly different average methylation between African American and European American patients (FDR-adjusted P < 0.05). The red dashed line represents an approximate FDR-adjusted P value threshold of 0.05 for all *cis*-meQTL across the entire genome. An meQTL associated with *TREML4* was among the most significant meQTL effects detected.

We identified a total of 8855 pairs of CpG sites and SNPs with an FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.05. These meQTL pairs represented 7614 (86.0%) unique methylation sites and 7094 (80.1%) unique polymorphisms. 7269 (82.1%) of meQTL did not contain CpG-SNPs. Functional enrichment analysis of the 3871 unique genes associated with the CpG sites revealed numerous ontologies and pathways. The most significantly enriched included ontologies and pathways for cell and biological adhesion (GO:0007155; FDR-adjusted P-value = 6.43E-20, GO:0022610; FDR-adjusted P-value = 6.43E-20, & KEGG:83069; FDR-adjusted P-value = 5.29E-04) and calcium ion binding and signaling pathways (GO:0005509; FDR-adjusted P-value = 1.46E-07 &

#### KEGG:83050; FDR-adjusted P-value = 9.58E-04) (Figure 2-6) (see Table A-1: "Supplementary

Table 8").



Figure 2-6: Enrichment of gene ontologies and pathways among annotated genes associated with CpG sites with *cis*meQTL effects in lupus neutrophils. Barcharts show the most significant molecular function (orange) and biological process (green) gene ontology terms, and KEGG pathways (purple) by  $-\log_{10} (P \text{ value})$ . All terms have an FDR-adjusted P < 0.05.

The meQTL revealed in our study are, at least in part, responsible for a proportion of the observed DNA methylation differences between African-American and European-American patients. Indeed, of the 907 differentially methylated CpG sites in our cohort, 142 (15.7%) were also meQTL (see Table A-1: "Supplementary Table 9"). These included sites associated with *IL16* (cg02810829;  $\Delta\beta$  = -0.23) and an meQTL associated with the triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells (TREM)-like 4 gene *TREML4* (cg25555787;  $\Delta\beta$  = -0.20). Cg25555787 had one of the strongest meQTL associations in this study (rs9369265 meQTL r<sup>2</sup> = 0.91) (Figure 2-7).



**Figure 2-7: MeQTL involving the SNP rs9369265 within** *TREML4* in lupus patients. (A) Rs9369265 is significantly associated with the methylation status of cg25555787 (FDR-adjusted *P* value =  $1.22 \times 10^{-16}$ ). Mean  $\beta$  for genotype TT = 23% (25th percentile = 21.2%, 75th percentile = 25.0%, *n* = 4), mean  $\beta$  for genotype CT = 52.0% (25th percentile = 48.3%, 75th percentile = 55.2%, *n* = 25), and mean  $\beta$  for genotype CC = 85.6% (25th percentile = 84.2%, 75th percentile = 87.3%, *n* = 24). Whiskers extend to the maximum value within 1.5 times the IQR on either end of the group. Points beyond the whiskers are outliers. The minor allele frequency of rs9369265 significantly differed between European American (*n* = 32) and African American (*n* = 21) lupus patients (*P* =  $1.45 \times 10^{-3}$ ), with the T allele associated with lower DNA methylation. Comparing allelic proportions between ancestry groups was done using a 2-proportion *z* test. All *P* values were 2 tailed, and a significance threshold of *P* < 0.05 was used. (B) Rs9369265 is an exonic SNP in *TREML4* and is significantly associated with the methylation status of 2 CpG sites upstream of the transcription start site of *TREML4* (cg25555787 and cg03849834) (hg19). This region has epigenetic marks including DNase hypersensitivity (DNase HS), histone 3 lysine 4 mono- (H3K4me1) and -tri-methylation (H3K4me3) and is labeled as an enhancer region for *TREML4* (Flanking Active TSS; orange bar) in primary human neutrophils. Data for **B** were generated using the WashU Epigenome Browser (https://epigenomegateway.wustl.edu/) using ENCODE and Epigenome Roadmap ChromHMM data tracks from peripheral primary human neutrophils (E030).

We identified 1586 (17.9%) meQTL that were tagged as including CpG-SNPs and comprised many of the strongest methylation-genotype associations (see Table A-1: "Supplementary Table 7").

# 2.4.4 The contribution of methylation quantitative trait loci to differential methylation, genetic susceptibility, and the type I interferon response in lupus

We compared the CpG sites associated with the meQTL pairs to our previously published data on differential DNA methylation between lupus patients and age-, sex-, and ethnicitymatched healthy controls(275). Twenty-two of the 273 (8.06%) differentially methylated sites we previously identified in the neutrophils of lupus patients and controls were associated with an meQTL in the neutrophils of lupus patients. Comparing methylation site-associated genes in meQTL pairs with previously identified lupus susceptibility loci from GWAS(59, 323-326), we identified 79 meQTL pairs (8.7%) in 28 lupus susceptibility genes (see Table A-1: "Supplementary Table 10"). These included interferon regulatory factors *IRF7* and *IRF8* and *STAT4* which are involved in the type I interferon response. To identify type I interferon regulated genes with the genes included in the Interferome (v.2.01) database(314). 64 of the 3871 unique genes (1.7%) associated with methylation sites in meQTL were identified as type I interferon regulated genes (see Table A-1: "Supplementary Table 1.7%) associated with methylation sites in meQTL were identified as type I interferon regulated genes (1.7%) associated with methylation sites in meQTL were identified as type I interferon regulated genes (see Table A-1: "Supplementary Table 11").

## 2.4.5 TREML4 promoter regulation and the role of TREML4 in TLR7 response in the PLB-985 neutrophil-like cell line

We used an *in vitro* patch methylation assay to examine the role of DNA methylation in regulating gene expression in the *TREML4* promoter. *In vitro* methylation of the CpG sites in the *TREML4* promoter decreased Lucia luminescence significantly after 48 hours of culture in HEK-293 cells (replicate 1: P-value = 0.0005 & replicate 2: P-value = 0.0209) (Figure 2-8).



**Figure 2-8:** In vitro DNA methylation impairs gene expression downstream of the *TREML4* promoter. The *TREML4* promoter region was inserted upstream of a Lucia luciferase gene in a pCpGfree-Lucia backbone. The pCpGfree-Lucia backbone lacks CpG sites outside of the inserted sequence. CpG methyltransferase M.SssI was used to methylate five CpG sites in the *TREML4* promoter sequence. *In vitro* methylation reduced Lucia luciferase expression in HEK-293 cells compared to cells transfected with a mock methylated control plasmid (P-value = 0.0005). *Renilla* luciferase was included as a transfection control. Lucia luciferase and *Renilla* signals were read on separate plates and each normalized to background signal within their respective plates to control wells mock transfected without DNA. Lucia was then normalized to *Renilla* signal to account for transfection efficiency. Each group included ten replicates. This figure represents one of two independent replicated experiments using the same plasmids. Error bars represent standard error of the mean. \*\*\* = P-value  $\leq 0.001$ . RFU: relative fluorescence units.

The role of *TREML4* in the neutrophil response to TLR7 stimulation was examined using a PLB-985 myeloblast cell line. We wanted to identify candidate genes for measuring PLB-985 cell response to TLR7 stimulation. We measured over 700 genes in DMSO-differentiated cells treated with imiquimod for four days using a myeloid immune expression panel. Two genes, CCL2 (t = -19.3, P-value = 2.70E-3) and IL1B (t = -9.76, P-value = 0.03) had a significant increase in expression in imiquimod treated cells compared to untreated control cells (see Figure C-2). These genes were chosen as reporters for TLR7 stimulation in our PLB-985 cell line in further experiments. *IL1B* encodes the proinflammatory IL-1 beta cytokine that can be produced by mature neutrophils(327) and circulating leukocytes treated with imiquimod(328). *CCL2* encodes the c-c motif chemokine ligand 2 (CCL2) which is a chemotactic cytokine that draws neutrophils to inflammatory sites and can also be produced by neutrophils when exposed to TLR agonists(329, 330)

We overexpressed *TREML4* in PLB-985 cells using a CMV6 promoter-driven plasmid. *TREML4* expression was significantly increased in transfected cells compared to cells transfected with plasmid lacking the *TREML4* open reading frame (t = 6.31, P-value = 1.00E-4) (Figure 2-9A). Expression of *IL1B* significantly increased with imiquimod treatment in differentiated PLB-985 cells carrying the empty plasmid (Adjusted P-value = 0.024), but not when compared to imiquimod-treated cells transfected with the *TREML4* expression plasmid (Figure 2-9B). *CCL2* expression showed an increasing trend of expression with imiquimod treatment in cells carrying the *TREML4* expression plasmid or the empty plasmid, but the expression difference between the imiquimod-treated *TREML4* expression plasmid and empty plasmid was not significant (Figure 2-9C).



**Figure 2-9:** Response to TLR7 stimulation in differentiated PLB-985 cells overexpressing *TREML4*. (A) *TREML4* expression is significantly increased in differentiated PLB-985 cells transfected with a CMV6-TREML4 plasmid compared to the empty control plasmid (t = 24.76, P-value = 1.00E-4). (B) *IL1B* expression increased significantly with imiquimod treatment in cells receiving the empty plasmid (t = 6.31, Adjusted P-value = 0.024), but not in cells overexpressing *TREML4* (t = 2.99, Adjusted P-value = 0.165) or when comparing imiquimod-treated cells transfected with the *TREML4* or empty plasmid (t = 2.26, Adjusted P-value = 0.292). (C) *CCL2* expression was not significantly different with imiquimod treatment in cells transfected with the empty plasmid (t = 2.96, Adjusted P-value = 0.168), the *TREML4* expression plasmids (t = 3.03, Adjusted P-value = 0.159) 0.159), or when comparing treated cells transfected with the empty or *TREML4* expression plasmid (t = 0.54, Adjusted P-value = 0.949). PLB-985 cells were differentiated for three days using 1.3% DMSO prior to transfection with specified plasmids. Imiquimod treatment was for 6 hours prior to RNA collection. Error bars represent standard deviation. n = 4 independent experimental replicates per group. \* = P-value  $\leq 0.05$ . \*\*\* = P-value  $\leq 0.001$ .

NETosis is an important function of neutrophils and can be induced downstream of TLR signaling(331). We wanted to determine if NETosis can be induced in DMSO-differentiated PLB-985 cells as previously reported(332). PMA-induced NETosis of PLB-985 cells after six days of differentiation was unsuccessful (see Figure C-3). Nuclear morphology showed no difference between control cells and cells treated with 200nM and 400nM PMA for five hours.

#### **2.5 Discussion**

Neutrophils are the most numerous cells in circulating blood and are early responders to inflammatory events throughout the body. They play an important role in entering sites of infection to identify pathogens through a variety of receptors, destroying pathogens, and secreting inflammatory signals to mobilize the immune system in response(333). Their primary methods of destroying pathogens include phagocytosis, production of reactive oxygen species, release of granules containing antimicrobial enzymes, and the release of NETs which physically

bind and expose pathogens to antimicrobial proteins(333). In lupus, neutrophils display several abnormal phenotypes including enhanced apoptosis, increased NETosis after type I interferon priming, and impaired phagocytosis(334). Our prior work has found that lupus neutrophils display a DNA methylation signature common to other immune cell types, primarily demethylation of type I interferon response genes(275).

We interrogated the DNA methylome of neutrophils in a cohort of lupus patients followed longitudinally for about four years across 229 timepoints to assess DNA methylation changes over time and across different levels of disease activity. We showed that the DNA methylome is largely stable over time and across disease activity in lupus patients. We identified two CpG sites (cg26104306 and cg06708913) with DNA methylation levels that significantly correlated with disease activity. These correlations were detected in African-American but not European-American lupus patients. Cg26104306 lies 745bp upstream of the transcription start site of the gene SNX18 which encodes the sorting nexin 18 protein SNX18. It is located on the 5' north shore of a CpG island (chr5:54517549-54519476 (hg38)) that overlaps the SNX18 promoter region. Methylated CpG islands are typically indications of silenced gene promoters in somatic cells and hypomethylation suggests disease-associated disruption in this silencing. SNX18 localizes to the plasma membrane of cells and plays a functional role in endocytosis and autophagosome formation in cells(335, 336). Cg06708913 overlapped a long non-coding RNA AC009522.1 and is proximal to an enhancer-like region denoted by transcriptionally permissive DNase hypersensitivity and increased H3K27ac modifications(337). One CpG site that reached suggestive significance for correlation with disease activity in African-American lupus patients, cg24682077 (FDR-adjusted P-values = 5.35E-02), is associated with FYVE, RhoGEF And PH domain containing 1 gene FGD1. FGD1 interacts with Rho GTPase Cdc42 which regulates

neutrophil motility in response to extracellular signals(338). Cg24682077 is located 39bp downstream of the transcription start site of *FGD1* and within a promoter-associated CpG island.

The small number of CpG sites that change methylation levels with disease activity in our longitudinal study suggests that DNA methylation levels are stable in lupus neutrophils over time and across different disease activity levels. An inception study of lupus patients across time is necessary to detect DNA methylation biomarkers that indicate the onset of disease. A larger cohort size may bring more of these sites beyond the significance threshold or reveal novel associations in other ancestry groups. These associations will require replication to be confirmed but serve as indicators that novel disease-associated loci can be detected in longitudinal data from lupus patients. They also demonstrate that accounting for genetic ancestry in lupus studies can reveal novel associations.

Lupus nephritis is one of the most severe manifestations of lupus that can lead to chronic kidney damage and renal failure. We compared two timepoints from lupus patients with samples collected with and without nephritis in the same patient and adjusted DNA methylation changes for medication use, age, and ethnicity. A single methylation site, cg16204559, passed our FDR significance threshold corrected for multiple testing. Cg16204559 (chr11:11451256-11451258 (hg38)) is in the 11p15.4 cytoband within an intron of the gene *GALNT18* which encodes the polypeptide N-acetylgalactosaminyltransferase 18 protein. 11p15.4 is adjacent to 11p15.5 which has previously been identified as the location of the Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Nephritis 3 (*SLEN3*) locus. This locus is near the p telomere of chromosome 11 and was identified as a susceptibility locus for lupus using genetic linkage in multiplexed pedigrees of African-American ancestry that included lupus patients with nephritis(339). Understanding the biological role of this demethylation in lupus nephritis will require further investigation. Our study reveals

the value of using longitudinal epigenetic studies to identify novel DNA methylation changes that could provide insight for specific disease manifestations. Precision medicine approaches in lupus, enabling epigenetic modification in specific cell types and possibly in key specific genetic loci in the near future are very promising(280).

Ancestry-associated DNA methylation differences and meQTL analyses showed a significant enrichment in Rho GEF pathways. GEFs are proteins that catalyze the cycling of GDP/GTP binding in Rho GTPases which results in their activation(340, 341). Rho GTPase activity regulates neutrophil function by controlling cytoskeletal arrangements in response to activation of signaling pathways (342). They regulate reactive oxygen species production, endothelial adhesion and transmigration, and production of neutrophil extracellular traps (NETs)(342). We used network analysis to further characterize ancestry-specific differential DNA methylation in lupus. One such network was centered around the transcription factor complex nuclear factor kappa B (NFkB) (see Figure C-4). NFkB is activated through degradation of inhibitory proteins in response to inflammatory signaling, such as TLR engagement, where it then translocates to the nucleus (343). There it coordinates the expression of proinflammatory gene programs in neutrophils that delay apoptosis, promotes production of proinflammatory cytokines, increases cell adhesion, and NETosis when cells are sufficiently activated(344). Resting human neutrophils tightly regulate NFkB activation through high levels of nuclear IkBa that is rapidly degraded upon proinflammatory stimulation(345). The gene IKBKB (cg20242624;  $\Delta\beta = -0.11$ ) encodes the inhibitor of NF $\kappa$ B kinase subunit beta protein (IKK $\beta$ ) which is part of the IkB kinase (IKK) complex which is required for activation and nuclear translocation of NF $\kappa$ B by phosphorylation of the NF $\kappa$ B inhibitory subunit I $\kappa$ B $\alpha$ (346). BCL10 (cg17322118;  $\Delta\beta$  = -0.18) encodes the B-cell lymphoma/leukemia 10 protein BCL10 which is also an activator of

NF $\kappa$ B through ubiquitination of the IKK subunit protein IKK $\gamma(347)$ . Hypomethylation of these genes in neutrophils may reflect an increased response to inflammatory stimuli that promotes tissue invasion and inflammatory damage. Differentially methylated genes involved in regulating the type I interferon response were also present (see Figure C-5). In particular, IRF7  $(cg08926253; \Delta\beta = -0.14 \& cg22016995; \Delta\beta = 0.13)$  was significantly hypomethylated similar to what we previously observed in naïve CD4+ T cells of African-American lupus patients and the neutrophils of lupus patients compared to healthy controls(275, 288). IFI44, also a type I interferon response gene was also significantly hypomethylated in African-American patients (cg01079652;  $\Delta\beta$  = -0.23). We compared differentially hypomethylated genes in African-American lupus patients to the Interferome (v.2.01) database (314) to identify other type I interferon-regulated genes. Of interest, the cytokine gene IL16 was hypomethylated in African-American patients (cg02810829;  $\Delta\beta$  = -0.23) and had a modest association in an meQTL pair (rs35130261 meQTL  $r^2 = 0.68$ ;  $\Delta MAF = 0.33$ ). IL-16 is a chemoattractant cytokine that induces infiltration of T cells, macrophages, and eosinophils into sites of inflammation, and promotes pro-inflammatory cytokine release by monocytes in vitro(348). It also promotes IL-2 receptor expression on the surface of CD4+ T cells, enhancing IL-2 activity(349) and the migration and expansion of regulatory T cells in sites of inflammation(350). A recent study observed that neutrophils produce and store inactive pro-IL-16 in the cytosol which is released and activated by caspase-3 upon secondary necrosis(351). Increased circulating IL-16 levels in lupus patients is associated with more severe disease(352, 353), and primary neutrophils of lupus patients more readily undergo apoptosis and increased secondary necrosis with reduced clearance of apoptotic material(354). This suggests that hypomethylation of *IL16* (in part related to meQTL) could

promote an exaggerated inflammatory response upon neutrophil secondary necrosis in lupus patients.

A demonstration of the mechanism underlying meQTL associations can be seen in two of the strongest meQTL pairs, cg25555787 (*TREML4*; rs9369265 meQTL  $r^2 = 0.91$ ;  $\Delta MAF = 0.31$ ) and cg03849834 (*TREML4*; rs9369265 meQTL  $r^2 = 0.81$ ;  $\Delta MAF = 0.31$ ). Functionally, TREML4 has previously been identified as playing an important role in modulating the response to TLR7 signaling when bound to single-stranded RNA and TLR9 binding to unmethylated CpG-DNA(355). Rs9369265 lies in the second exon of *TREML4* within an active region flanking the transcription starts site of TREML4 in neutrophils. Rs9369265 genotype is also significantly associated with the expression of TREML4 in whole blood (Gene-Tissue Expression Portal Pvalue = 1.2E-163), with the C allele associated with reduced expression and increased DNA methylation in our data. The presence of H3K4me3 peaks in this region and DNase accessibility suggest this is an important regulatory region for controlling *TREML4* expression as a promoter. A reduction in DNA methylation corresponds with an increase in H3K4me3 and promoter activity(356). In vitro patch methylation of the TREML4 promoter showed that increasing DNA methylation significantly reduces the promoter's ability to induce expression. This suggests that DNA methylation is a mediating factor between the genotype and expression of TREML4 we reported in this study.

The ligand for *TREML4* is unknown, but it readily binds to dead and dying cells(357). Reduced clearance of necrotic material in lupus patients might provide more stimulation to TREML4 and TLRs, promoting the exaggerated type I interferon response seen in lupus patients and contributing to the development of renal disease in lupus(358). Indeed, it has been observed that lupus-prone MRL/*lpr* mice have higher survival, produce fewer dsDNA autoantibodies, and

develop less renal damage when *Treml4* is knocked out(355). Neutrophils from *Treml4<sup>-/-</sup>* mice show reduced expression of Cxcl2 which is a potent neutrophil chemoattractant, but unimpaired motility and phagocytosis(355). The higher frequency of the T allele in our African-American lupus patients that correlates with increased TREML4 expression suggests potential for a more robust response to TLR stimulation. This is supported by the observation of increased expression of the proinflammatory cytokines interferon alpha and TNF alpha in the whole blood of female African-American lupus patients compared to female European-American patients(359). We investigated the ability of TREML4 to modify TLR7 response in neutrophils. Because primary neutrophils have a half-life of about six to eight hours they are difficult to manipulate *in* vitro(360). We utilized a transfectable neutrophil-like cell line (PLB-985)(316) in which we successfully overexpressed TREML4 and measured the response of two genes, IL1B and CCL2, to TLR7 stimulation using imiquimod in the presence of TREML4 overexpression. There was no significant difference in *IL1B* and *CCL2* expression with imiquimod treatment in the presence of TREML4. TREML4 expression in DMSO-differentiated PLB-985 cells is lower than in primary human neutrophils as are MYD88 and TLR7, raising the possibility that these cells are not able to respond efficiently to TLR7-stimulation in the presence of TREML4 and are not a proper model for this purpose(315). TREML4 is expressed in other myeloid cell types including dendritic cells and macrophages that could potentially share the meQTL relationship we observed with neutrophils, making them interesting potential models as well(355). TLR7 can induce NETosis through reactive oxygen species production in viral infections suggesting an important role for TREML4 in the antiviral response as well(361, 362). We were also unable to induce NETosis in this cell line after six days of differentiation with DMSO and could not address the role of TREML4 in NETosis.

The mechanisms underlying the association between genotype and DNA methylation status will require further investigation. Potential mechanisms could include an inherited haplotype tagged by rs9369265 that promotes or suppresses transcription factor accessibility and binding, which is reflected in a repressive epigenetic state represented by increased DNA methylation correlating with reduced gene expression. This effect could also extend to other myeloid cells that express *TREML4* including macrophages and dendritic cells which contribute to the proinflammatory response(355).

We compared the DNA methylation profiles of neutrophils from a small cohort of healthy African-American and European-American female controls to determine if the observed differences in lupus patients were unique to the disease or shared by healthy ancestral populations. Of methylation sites that were assessed in both patients and healthy controls, 42.3% of the differentially methylated sites between African-American and European-American lupus patients overlapped with differentially methylated sites in healthy control neutrophils between the two populations. Further, 30 (48.3%) of the 62 CpG sites included on both the Infinium MethylationEPIC array EPIC and Infinium HumanMethylation450 arrays that are in an meQTL pair and differentially methylated in patient neutrophils were also differentially methylated in control neutrophils, between the two ethnicities. Taken together, ancestry-associated methylation variability in lupus patients include both genetically-determined methylation differences and methylation changes that might be related to non-genetic factors. Additional work is required to differentiate benign ancestry-associated epigenetic variability from epigenetic changes that might contribute to the pathogenesis of lupus or to differences in disease presentation and progression between populations.

Our current study was focused on epigenetic evaluation of neutrophils isolated from lupus patients, given the increasingly recognized role of neutrophil dysfunction in lupus. Future longitudinal studies in other cell types involved in the pathogenesis of lupus are likely to provide additional insights. For example, a prominent role for T cell aberrancies in the pathogenesis of lupus is well established(363). Investigating T cell DNA methylation changes over time in patients with lupus is warranted.

In summary, we have analyzed the association of DNA methylation with disease activity across time in the neutrophils of lupus patients. We demonstrate that the DNA methylome is at least in part determined by genetic variants in lupus patients and is largely stable over time and across disease activity levels in a longitudinal multi-ethnic lupus cohort. We identified two CpG sites unique to patients of African-American ancestry with methylation levels associated with disease activity in lupus. We also identified a single CpG site with an association among patients who developed active lupus nephritis. Using genome-wide DNA methylation and genotyping data we characterized ancestry-associated DNA methylation changes in lupus neutrophils and identified meQTL effects throughout the genome. Two genes, *TREML4* and *IL16* contained meQTL and were also significantly hypomethylated in African-American lupus patients. Both genes play roles in promoting inflammatory response to TLR signaling and infiltration of peripheral immune cells into tissue.

### Chapter 3 Hypomethylation of MiR-17-92 Cluster in Lupus T cells and No Significant Role for Genetic Factors in the Lupus-associated DNA Methylation Signature

#### **3.1 Abstract**

**Objective:** Epigenetic dysregulation plays an important role in the pathogenesis of lupus, a systemic autoimmune disease characterized by autoantibody production. Lupus T cells demonstrate aberrant DNA methylation patterns dominated by hypomethylation of interferon-regulated genes. The objective of this study was to identify additional disease-associated DNA methylation changes in naïve CD4+ T cells from an extended cohort of lupus patients and determine the genetic contribution to epigenetic changes characteristic of lupus.

**Methods:** Genome-wide DNA methylation was assessed in naïve CD4+ T cells isolated from a cohort of 74 lupus patients and 74 age-, sex-, and race-matched healthy controls. We applied a trend deviation analysis approach, comparing methylation data in our cohort to methylation data from over 16,500 samples to characterize lupus-associated DNA methylation patterns. Methylation quantitative trait loci (meQTL) analysis was used to determine genetic contribution to lupus-associated DNA methylation changes.

**Results:** In addition to the previously reported epigenetic signature in interferonregulated genes, we observed hypomethylation of the promoter regions of microRNA (miRNA) genes in the miR-17-92 cluster in lupus patients. Members of this miRNA cluster play an important role in regulating T cell proliferation and differentiation. Expression of two miRNAs within this cluster, miR-19b1 and miR-18a, showed a significant positive correlation with disease activity in lupus patients. meQTL were identified by integrating genome-wide DNA

methylation profiles with genotyping data in lupus patients and controls. Patient meQTL show overlap with genetic risk loci for lupus. However, less than 1% of differentially methylated CpG sites in lupus patients were associated with an meQTL, suggesting minimal genetic contribution to lupus-associated epigenotypes.

**Conclusion:** The lupus defining epigenetic signature, characterized by robust hypomethylation of interferon-regulated genes, does not appear to be determined by genetic factors. Hypomethylation of the miR-17-92 cluster that plays an important role in T cell activation is a novel epigenetic locus for lupus.

#### **3.2 Introduction**

Systemic lupus erythematosus (lupus or SLE) is a heterogeneous autoimmune disease of incompletely understood etiology. The disease is characterized by a loss of immunotolerance and the development of autoantibodies against nuclear antigens. Severe manifestations of lupus have significant impact on quality of life and can lead to organ damage and mortality in affected patients, particularly among patients of non-European genetic ancestry(364, 365). Genetic risk contributes to the development of lupus, but the estimated heritability of lupus is ~30%(49, 59, 366). Indeed, monozygotic twin studies in lupus suggest a substantial non-genetic contribution to the etiology of lupus(367). Environmental exposures across the lifespan that can directly impact epigenetic regulation and cellular function are suggested to be involved in the pathogenesis of lupus(124, 261).

DNA methylation is an epigenetic mechanism that regulates gene expression through the enzyme-mediated addition of a methyl group to the cytosine bases in the genome. DNA methylation is heritable across cell generations and can promote gene silencing, making it an important component in regulating the plasticity of immune cell identity and function(241).

Early work demonstrated that adoptive transfer of CD4+ T cells treated ex vivo with DNA methyltransferase (DNMT) inhibitors was sufficient to cause lupus-like disease in mice(260) mimicking the DNA methylation inhibition in patients with drug-induced lupus(254). Since then, other studies have observed that CD4+ T cells of lupus patients show a distinct shift in global DNA methylation compared to healthy individuals, potentially in part due to defective MEK/ERK signaling, suppressing DNMT1 activity in CD4+ T cells, and leading to hypomethylation and overexpression of costimulatory genes(258, 368-371).

We have previously observed a robust hypomethylation signature in interferon-regulated genes defining lupus patients(262, 264). Our initial findings in CD4+ T cells were subsequently confirmed and expanded to other cell types by our group and others(275, 299, 372). In CD4+ T cells, we observed hypomethylation in interferon-regulated genes at the naïve CD4+ T cell stage, preceding transcriptional activity. This epigenetic "poising" or "priming" of interferon-regulated genes was independent of disease activity(264). The genetic contribution to this lupus-associated epigenotype is currently unknown.

Methylation quantitative trait loci (meQTL) are genetic polymorphisms that are associated with the methylation state of CpG sites either through direct nucleotide change within the CpG dinucleotide or intermediary mechanisms. Prior studies of lupus patients show an enrichment of meQTL associated with type I interferon genes, genetic risk loci, and specific clinical manifestations in whole blood and neutrophils(73, 284, 373). Furthermore, our previous work suggests that meQTL might at least in part explain differences in DNA methylation between African-American and European-American lupus patients(373).

Herein, we evaluated genome-wide DNA methylation data in naïve CD4+ T cells from a large cohort of lupus patients compared to matched healthy controls. We integrated DNA

methylation and genotyping data to better understand the influence of genetic factors upon the DNA methylation changes observed in lupus.

#### **3.3 Methods**

#### 3.3.1 Study Participants and Demographics

74 female lupus patients and 74 female healthy age ( $\pm$  5 years), race, and sex-matched controls were recruited as previously described(267, 288) (see Table C-1). All patients fulfilled the American College of Rheumatology (ACR) classification criteria for SLE(300). Institutional review boards at our participating institutions approved this study. All participants signed a written informed consent prior to participation.

#### 3.3.2 Sample collection

DNA isolation, and data generation. Genomic DNA samples for this study were collected from naïve CD4+ T cells as previously described(264). Briefly, magnetic beads and negative selection was used to isolate naïve CD4+ T cells from whole blood samples collected from lupus patients and controls. Genomic DNA was directly isolated from collected cells and bisulfite converted using the EZ DNA Methylation Kit (Zymo Research, Irvine, CA, USA). The Illumina HumanMethylation450 BeadChip (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) was used to measure DNA methylation levels at over 485,000 methylation sites across the genome.

#### 3.3.3 Epigenome-wide association study

Epigenome-wide association study (EWAS) for identifying associations between specific CpG sites and disease status was performed using GLINT(374, 375). Covariates for age, race, and technical batch were included for the analysis prior to other preprocessing. No outliers beyond four standard deviations were detected in the first two components of PCA space, all 148 samples were included in the analysis. Reference-less cell type composition correction was performed using *ReFACTor*, with six components used in the downstream analysis to account for any cell-type heterogeneity in the samples. An additional covariate was included to account for effects of genetic admixture using the EPISTRUCTURE algorithm included in GLINT. Cell-type composition covariate components generated by *ReFACTor* were included at this step to reduce bias from potential cell-type heterogeneity, and polymorphic CpG sites were excluded from this step and the EWAS. Using the initial age, race, and technical batch covariates, along six ReFACTor components and one EPISTRUCTURE component, logistic regression for disease status was performed across all CpG sites, excluding the polymorphic and unreliable crossreactive probes previously described in the literature, as well as CpG sites with low variance (standard deviation <0.01) (376, 377).

#### 3.3.4 Differential DNA methylation analysis of gene promoters

Raw .idat files were used to generate methylation beta value profiles across all samples using GenomeStudio (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA) after background subtraction and normalizing to internal control probes. Missing probe values were imputed using *sklearn.impute.KNNImputer*, and *ComBat* was used to correct for batch effects associated with technician sample preparation(378-380). Ensembl gene loci for hg19 were downloaded using *PyEnsembl*(381). For each gene, loci for 1500 base pairs upstream of the transcription start site(382) to the TSS were mapped to the overlapping CpG probes using *PyBedtools*, and the mean of the associated probes for each gene was used as the representative methylation value for the resulting 20,437 mapped genes(383). Differential methylation analysis comparing patients and controls was performed on the mean TSS1500 methylation using *limma*, and false discovery rate adjustment using the Benjamini-Hochberg method was used to correct P-values for multiple testing. Gene Ontology Enrichment for Biological Process terms was performed on the differentially methylated gene list using *Enrichr* with the mapped promoter gene list used as the background(318, 384).

#### 3.3.5 Trend deviation analysis

DNA methylation data derived using the Illumina 450k methylation array from 23,415 samples were downloaded from Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO)(385). To reduce batch effects, samples from experiments with less than 50 samples were omitted, and the resulting samples were quantile normalized(386). A matrix of pairwise Pearson's correlation values for DNA methylation levels was computed across TSS1500 gene promoters in 16,541 samples across 37 tissues to create a multi-tissue correlation network (see Figure D-1). The differentially methylated genes in lupus naïve CD4+ T cells were clustered by their correlation in global signature created from the GEO data. Hierarchical clustering was performed using *Scipy's* hierarchical linkage. KEGG enrichment analysis was performed using *Enrichr*(387), and P-values were reported after false-discovery rate adjustment.

The goal of a trend deviation analysis is to detect correlation patterns among differentially methylated genes in large DNA methylation datasets. A correlation in methylation among a set of differentially methylated genes between patients and controls suggests a trend is being observed, reinforcing the significance and robustness of the differential DNA methylation detected between patients and controls.

#### 3.3.6 Genotyping

Genomic DNA isolated from naïve CD4+ T cells was used as input for the Infinium Global Screening Array-24 v2.0 (Illumina, San Diego, CA, USA). Single nucleotide polymorphisms (SNPs) with a genotyping call rate < 98%, minor allele frequencies (MAF) < 5%, and deviating from Hardy-Weinberg equilibrium (HWE; P-value < 1E-3) were filtered out. Samples were removed if they had a genotyping call rate < 95%. Sex chromosomes were not analyzed. About 100,000 independent SNPs were pruned and used to perform principal component analysis (PCA) with *Eigensoft* (v.6.1.4) software(312). Genotyping data were analyzed using *PLINK* (v.1.9)(311). Genotype profiles were generated for n = 63 patients and n = 68 controls.

#### 3.3.7 Methylation Quantitative Trait Loci (meQTL) Analysis

Raw .idat files were used to generate methylation profiles using *minfi* (v.1.32.0)(303, 304) and to check median intensity values and reported sex in the R statistical computing environment (v.3.6.3)(302). Probes with less than three beads and zero intensity values across all samples were removed using the *DNAmArray* package (v.0.1.1)(305). Background signal and dye bias were corrected, followed by normalization of signal intensities using functional normalization in the *preprocessFunnorm.DNAmArray* function(305, 306) using the first three principal component values calculated from signal intensities of control probes present on all

array spots to correct for technical variation. Any probe with a detection P-value < 0.01 or returned signal intensities in fewer than 98% of samples was removed. This resulted in a total of 476,767 probes used for further analysis. Signal intensities were then converted to M-values with a maximum bound of ±16. M-values were used for meQTL analysis and converted to beta values (0-100% methylation scale) using *minfi* for reporting.

We removed any probe for meeting any of the following technical criteria: A unique probe sequence of less than 30bp, mapping to multiple sites in the genome, polymorphisms that cause a color channel switching in type I probes, inconsistencies in specified reporter color channel and extension base, mapping to the Y chromosome, and/or having a polymorphism within 5bp of the 3' end of the probe with a minor allele frequency > 1% with the exception of CpG-SNPs with C>T polymorphisms which were retained(307). Batch correction for chip ID was performed using the *ComBat* function in the *sva* (v.3.34.0) package(308). After technical filtering, there were a total of 421,214 probes used for meQTL analysis.

We implemented a mixed correspondence analysis with the *PCAmixdata* package (v.3.1)(309) to calculate eigenvalues using patient medication data for prednisone, hydroxychloroquine, azathioprine, mycophenolate mofetil, and cyclophosphamide. The top four components accounted for a cumulative 89.3% of variability in the medication data. Each component value was used as an independent variable in regression analysis to adjust for medication usage across individuals. MeQTL association analysis was performed in patients and controls separately using methylation M-value profiles and corresponding sample genotypes. Age, the top four medication components, and top ten genotype principal components were included as covariates to build a linear model for detecting meQTL using *MatrixEQTL* (v.2.3)(319). *Cis*-meQTL were defined as CpG sites with methylation values associated with a

SNP within a conservative 1000bp of the CpG dinucleotide. We used a Benjamini-Hochberg FDR-adjusted P-value cutoff of < 0.05 as a threshold for significant associations. The above EWAS results were compared with the meQTL results to determine overlap of lupus-associated differentially methylated CpG sites and those CpG sites in an meQTL.

#### 3.3.8 Functional Enrichment Analysis

ToppGene Suite was used for functional gene ontology enrichment analysis(313) of Molecular Function and Biological Process Gene Ontologies and KEGG Pathways in meQTL loci. P-values were derived using a hypergeometric probability mass function, and a Benjamini-Hochberg FDR–adjusted P-value cutoff of < 0.05 was used as a threshold of significance. A minimum membership of 3 genes and maximum of 2000 genes in each term was used as a threshold for inclusion. IFN-regulated genes were identified using the set of genes associated with the CpG site in each meQTL as input using Interferome (v.2.01)(314). The type I interferon response genes were defined as genes with an expression fold change of 1.5 or greater between type I interferon-treated and untreated samples using gene expression datasets from all available CD4+ T cell experiments in the Interferome database.

HaploReg (v4.1)(388) was used to identify genetic variants in linkage disequilibrium (LD,  $r^2 \ge 0.80$  in Europeans) with previously described lupus genetic susceptibility loci(389) that overlap with SNPs identified in our meQTL analysis.

#### 3.3.9 MicroRNA Expression Microarray

MicroRNA (miRNA) expression was measured in naïve CD4+ T cells from a subset of lupus patients and healthy matched controls (n = 16). Cells were immediately lysed with TRIzol Reagent (ThermoFisher Scientific, NY, USA) followed by storage at -80C. Total RNA was isolated using the Direct-zol RNA MiniPrep Kit (Zymo Research, CA, USA) following the manufacturer's directions. The Affymetrix miRNA 4.1 Array Strip (Affymetrix, CA, USA) was used to measure expression of over 2,000 premature and 2,500 mature human miRNA sequences. RNA sequences were polyadenylated and ligated to a biotin-labeled oligomer using the FlashTag Biotin HSR RNA Labeling Kit (Affymetrix, CA, USA). Biotin-labeled sequences were hybridized to array probes and washed then stained with streptavidin-PE. The Affymetrix Expression Console & Transcriptome Analysis Console 2.0 software (Affymetrix, CA, USA) was used to analyze biotin/streptavidin-PE fluorescence measurements. All samples passed signal intensity, polyadenylation, and ligation quality controls. Signal intensities were background adjusted and normalized. Log2-transformed expression values for each probeset was calculated using a robust multi-array average model(390). The Pearson r correlation coefficient for median expression values of probes for miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-19b1, and miR-20a and patient SLEDAI score were calculated using GraphPad Prism (v9.3.0) (GraphPad Software, CA, USA).

#### **3.4 Results**

3.4.1 Differential methylation of gene promoters in naïve CD4+ T cells isolated from lupus patients.

A comparison of DNA methylation profiles from circulating naïve CD4+ T cells isolated from 74 lupus patients and 74 age, sex and race matched healthy controls revealed a total of 2,627 CpGs out of 334,337 total CpG sites included in the EWAS with a significant differential methylation. Significant hypomethylation in interferon-regulated genes was observed, consistent with previous reports (Table 3-1) (see Table A-2: "Supplementary Table 2").

	Average β	Average β		Probe Location		FDR- adjusted P-		
Probe ID		Controls		(hg19)	P-value	value	UCSC RefGene Name	Relation to UCSC CpG Island
cg21549285	0.346	0.651	-0.305	chr21:42/99141	1.84E-07	0.00154454	MXI	S_Shore
cg14392283	0.596	0.900	-0.304	chr8:144103587	3.47E-05	0.01477556	LY6E	N_Shelf
cg00959259	0.335	0.596	-0.261	chr3:122281975	1.93E-07	0.00154454	DTX3L;PARP9	N_Shore
cg03607951	0.469	0.696	-0.227	chr1:79085586	3.30E-06	0.00436127	IFI44L	
cg08122652	0.522	0.746	-0.224	chr3:122281939	6.02E-07	0.00211873	DTX3L;PARP9	N_Shore
cg05552874	0.566	0.785	-0.219	chr10:91153143	1.53E-05	0.01003301	IFIT1	
cg05696877	0.297	0.513	-0.216	chr1:79088769	1.06E-08	0.00154454	IFI44L	
cg06981309	0.417	0.627	-0.210	chr3:146260954	4.66E-07	0.00202278	PLSCR1	N_Shore
cg15065340	0.489	0.698	-0.209	chr3:195632915	4.29E-07	0.00195458	TNK2	N_Shelf
cg01028142	0.643	0.848	-0.204	chr2:7004578	2.81E-05	0.01340079	СМРК2	N_Shore
cg17593958	0.279	0.170	0.109	chr20:62199034	2.22E-06	0.00360447	PRIC285	N_Shore
cg01890417	0.495	0.385	0.110	chr1:91488275	4.80E-06	0.00521362	ZNF644	S_Shore
cg19863426	0.331	0.221	0.110	chr10:124138853	7.20E-06	0.00638871	PLEKHAI	S_Shelf
cg09844573	0.243	0.128	0.115	chr20:62199190	6.93E-07	0.00224857	PRIC285	N_Shore
cg15529432	0.542	0.425	0.117	chr5:16615750	8.83E-05	0.02394923	FAM134B	N_Shore
cg10555744	0.389	0.270	0.120	chr1:25946258	2.53E-05	0.01277911	MANIC1	S_Shore
cg00492070	0.598	0.478	0.120	chr3:107810716	2.64E-06	0.00389560	CD47	S_Shore
cg14011789	0.374	0.248	0.126	chr17:75452044	8.95E-06	0.00726884	SEPT9	
cg05617307	0.425	0.298	0.127	chr10:121413182	1.25E-05	0.00887401	BAG3	S_Shore
cg15262954	0.331	0.115	0.216	chr20:62198872	2.95E-06	0.00413747	PRIC285	Island

Table 3-1: Top 10 most hypomethylated and hypermethylated CpG sites in naïve CD4+ T cells in lupus patients compared to healthy controls matched by age, sex, and ethnicity.  $\Delta\beta$  is the difference in average methylation ( $\beta$ ) between lupus patients and controls. CpG sites shown in this table had an FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.05.

Average promoter methylation for each gene was calculated by including all CpG sites on the array within 1500bp of the associated gene's transcription start site (TSS). A total of 51 genes showed a significant difference in average promoter methylation between lupus patients and controls (17 hypomethylated and 34 hypermethylated in patients compared to controls) (Table 3-2) (Figure 3-1). Biological Process Gene Ontology enrichment analysis of differentially methylated promoter regions did not show significant enrichment compared to the background of all gene promoters after adjusting for multiple testing (see Table A-2: "Supplementary Table 2").

Table 3-2: Genes with differentially methylated promoter regions in naive CD4+ T cells of lupus patients compared to healthy controls. FDR correction was performed using the Benjamini-Hochberg method with an FDR-adjusted P value threshold of < 0.05.  $\Delta\beta$ : methylation difference in median methylation value of CpG sites within 1500bp upstream of the associated gene's transcription start site (TSS1500) between lupus patients and healthy controls.

Gene	Δβ -log <sub>10</sub> (FDR-adjusted P- value)		t-statistic	
IFI44L	-0.177	infinity	-10.757	
DTX3L	-0.130	infinity	-11.566	
BST2	-0.089	11.323	-9.285	
RABGAP1L	-0.088	9.165	-8.421	
BCL2L14	-0.086	5.520	-6.908	
MIR19B1	-0.059	3.169	-5.846	
IF144	-0.059	2.057	-5.304	
MIR20A	-0.055	3.088	-5.807	
MIR17	-0.054	6.882	-7.487	
MIR18A	-0.051	6.537	-7.342	
MIR19A	-0.049	4.771	-6.579	
IKZF4	-0.048	3.289	-5.902	
MX1	-0.046	10.624	-9.004	
TRIM34	-0.045	2.184	-5.367	
ODF3B	-0.034	1.712	-5.128	
GNG2	-0.033	2.138	-5.344	
FAM177B	-0.025	1.897	-5.223	
MZF1	0.008	1.493	5.014	
SSBP4	0.015	1.344	4.934	
ATP6V0D1	0.018	2.594	5.569	
DCUN1D1	0.025	2.068	5.309	
C14orf93	0.025	1.922	5.236	
TIPARP	0.026	2.069	5.310	
LMBRD1	0.027	2.211	5.381	
HAVCR2	0.027	2.574	5.560	
KIAA1949	0.030	3.158	5.841	
GPD2	0.032	1.953	5.251	
CNTF	0.033	1.705	5.124	
CD47	0.034	4.259	6.350	
ARHGAP9	0.036	3.339	5.926	
IL27RA	0.036	1.367	4.946	
RAP1A	0.036	2.573	5.559	
LAMA3	0.037	1.445	4.988	
ABI3	0.037	1.436	4.983	

Gene	Δβ	-log10 (FDR-adjusted P- value)	t-statistic
FAM102A	0.038	3.161	5.842
CXCR5	0.039	1.439	4.985
DPEP2	0.040	1.889	5.219
DYRK2	0.041	3.924	6.197
TMEM71	0.044	2.757	5.649
ADORA2A	0.046	2.234	5.392
SEPT9	0.047	2.036	5.293
PSMB4	0.052	2.935	5.734
TOM1	0.055	5.415	6.862
PRIC285	0.057	9.934	8.729
LTB	0.062	2.036	5.293
MIR1205	0.067	1.698	5.121
ACER3	0.073	2.612	5.578
BCL9L	0.079	4.034	6.248
MDS2	0.080	3.149	5.836
SNORA5B	0.083	1.712	5.128
PTPRCAP	0.091	3.620	6.057



**Figure 3-1: Distribution of average CpG methylation levels within 1500bp of the TSS for the respective genes differentially methylated in naïve CD4+ T cells of lupus patients compared to healthy controls.** Beta is the fraction of methylated CpG sites to total CpG sites.

The pairwise correlation of the 51 gene promoters identified above was calculated across a collection of 16,541 samples from 37 tissues available in GEO. Hierarchical clustering of correlations showed that 21 out of the 51 gene promoters were highly correlated. KEGG Pathway enrichment analysis showed a significant enrichment for three pathways among the 21 correlated gene promoters: "microRNAs in cancer" (P-value = 3.86E-04), "cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction" (P-value = 4.34E-02), and "rheumatoid arthritis" (P-value = 4.34E-02) (Figure 3-2) (Table 3-3).



Figure 3-2: Heatmap of hierarchical clustering of pairwise Pearson correlation coefficient values of 51 differentially methylated gene promoters (TSS1500) in global tissue signature derived from 16,541 samples. Range from +1 (red) to -1 (blue), represent a greater to lower correlation in global tissue, respectively. KEGG pathways are significantly enriched (FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.05) in a block of 21 genes (green bars).

Table 3-3: KEGG Pathway gene enrichment of 21 gene promoters highly correlated with each other in multi-tissue DNA methylation data constructed from 16,541samples available through GEO. FDR: False Discovery Rate-adjusted P-value. OR: Odds Ratio.

Pathway (KEGG_2019_Human)	Overlap	P-value	FDR	OR	Score	Genes
MicroRNAs in cancer	5/299	1.21E-05	3.86E-04	20.92	236.95	MIR19B1;MIR20A;MIR17;MIR18A;MIR19A
Cytokine-cytokine receptor interaction	3/294	3.44E-03	0.043	11.28	63.97	CNTF;CXCR5;LTB
Rheumatoid arthritis	2/91	4.06E-03	0.043	23.52	129.51	LTB;ATP6V0D1
The microRNAs in cancer" pathway included genes encoding miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-19b1, and miR-20a. Four of seven CpG sites used to calculate the average promoter methylation (TS1500) in this locus showed a significant reduction in median methylation in lupus patients compared to healthy controls (Figure 3-3A). These sites: cg17799287 ( $\Delta\beta$ = -5.5%; P-value = 2.05E-03), cg07641807 ( $\Delta\beta$  = -4.4%; P-value = 1.71E-02), cg23665802 ( $\Delta\beta$ = -5.8%; P-value = 1.19E-02), and cg02297838 ( $\Delta\beta$ = -4.9%; P-value = 3.48E-02) were all hypomethylated in lupus patients compared to healthy controls and overlapped with enhancers and regions flanking TSSs in peripheral naïve CD4+ T cells using data collected from the Epigenome Roadmap(391) and visualization using the WashU Epigenome Browser(392). We examined expression levels of the microRNAs included in the "microRNAs in cancer" pathway (miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-19b1, and miR-20a) in naïve CD4+ T cells of a subset of our lupus patients (n = 16) and healthy matched controls (n = 16). We did not observe a difference in expression between patients and control. However, two miRNAs, miR-18a-5p and miR-19b1-5p, showed a significant positive correlation (hsa-miR-18a-5a P-value = 0.038 & hsa-miR-19b1-5p P-value = 0.042) between median expression level and SLEDAI scores in lupus patients (Figure 3-3B) (see Table C-2).



Figure 3-3: miR-17-92 promoter hypomethylation and gene expression association with disease activity in lupus naive CD4+ T cells. (A) Violin plots of the seven CG probes in lupus patients and healthy controls used to calculate the average promoter methylation (TSS1500) for the miR-17-92 cluster. The solid black bar represents the median value and the dashed lines the first and third quartiles. Genomic visualization and annotation are from WashU Epigenome Browser using AuxillaryHMM tracks from peripheral naïve CD4+ T cell tissues (E038 and E039, top and bottom tracks, respectively). For P-values: n.s. = not significant, \* = P < 0.05, \*\* = P < 0.01. (B) Correlation of median miRNA expression in naïve CD4+ T cells of a subset (n = 16) of lupus patients with SLEDAI score. Hsa-miR-18a-5p and hsa-miR-19b1-5p had a Pearson correlation (r) of 0.52 (P-value = 0.038) and 0.51 (P-value = 0.042), respectively.

### 3.4.2 Naïve CD4+ T cell methylation quantitative trait loci (meQTL) in lupus patients.

Global genotype profiles were generated in a subset of patients and controls and compared with global DNA methylation profiles to identify CpG sites with allele-specific methylation associations. There was no significant difference in the average age between the patient (n = 63) and control (n = 68) subsets (patient average age = 41.6; patient age SD = 12.8; control average age = 40.8; control age SD = 12.5; t-test statistic = 0.3811; two-tailed P-value = 0.7038). Allele-specific DNA methylation associations were measured as meQTL where the CpG site was within 1000bp of the measured SNP separately in patients and controls. After adjusting for age, genetic background, and medication use in patients, we identified 5,785 meQTL present in the naïve CD4+ T cells of lupus patients with an FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.05 (see Table A-2: "Supplementary Table 5"). These meQTL represented 4,649 (80.4%) unique CpG sites and 4,120 (71.2%) unique polymorphisms. Of the 4,791 meQTL with a CpG-associated gene annotation, 2,356 (49.2%) were unique.

A linear model adjusting for age and genetic background was fit to controls separately. We identified a total of 7,331 meQTL with an FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.05 in controls (see Table A-2: "Supplementary Table 6"). These meQTL represented 5,885 (80.3%) unique CpG sites and 5,138 (70.1%) unique polymorphisms. Of the 6,061 meQTL with a CpG-associated gene annotation, 2,846 (47.0%) were unique.

We compared meQTL in lupus patients and healthy controls with the 2,627 CpG sites differentially methylated between the two groups. Of these, we identified 17 (0.6%) and 34 (1.3%) unique CpG sites with a significant change in DNA methylation in lupus patients and healthy controls, respectively (Figure 3-4A and 3-4B). We examined the overlap of meQTL in

lupus patients and healthy controls and identified a total of 3,957 meQTL (68.4% of lupus patient meQTL and 54.0% of healthy control meQTL) shared between both patients and control meQTL sets (see Table A-2: "Supplementary Table 7"). This shared set of meQTL contained 8 (0.3% of differentially methylated CpG sites) unique CpG sites that we identified as differentially methylated between lupus patients and controls (Figure 3-4C).



**Figure 3-4:** Percentage of CpG sites differentially methylated between lupus patients and controls associated with meQTL in naïve CD4+ T cells. Using the list of differentially methylated CpG sites, we calculated the proportion associated with the list of *cis*-meQTL identified separately in (A) lupus patients, (B) healthy controls, and (C) the subset of meQTL shared between lupus patients and healthy controls.

Functional enrichment analysis was performed using genes associated with CpG sites in our meQTL shared between patients and controls. This revealed multiple ontologies and pathways for cell adhesion ("cell-cell adhesion"; P-value = 1.04E-12, "biological adhesion"; Pvalue = 6.80E-12, and "cell adhesion"; P-value = 8.25E-12, "Cell adhesion molecules (CAMs)"; P-value = 2.25E-06), transporter associated with antigen processing (TAP) proteins and antigen presentation ("TAP binding"; P-values = 1.59E-7, "peptide antigen binding"; P-value = 4.40E-5), immune disorder pathways ("Type I diabetes mellitus; P-value = 1.92E-8, and "Graft-versushost disease"; P-value = 4.38E-7) (see Table A-2: "Supplementary Table 8").

There were 1,828 meQTL detected only in lupus patients but not in controls. These were enriched in gene ontologies and pathways related to tissue growth and development ("animal organ morphogenesis"; P-value = 8.44E-10, "urogenital system development", P-value = 1.05E-07) and gene silencing ("negative regulation of gene silencing by miRNA"; P-value = 2.54E-6, "negative regulation of posttranscriptional gene silencing"; P-value = 5.41E-6) (see Table A-2: "Supplementary Table 9").

We compared our list of meQTL in lupus patients to lupus susceptibility loci previously identified from GWAS(59, 323-326). We found 41 meQTL that contained CpG site-associated genes that overlapped with 20 lupus risk loci (see Table A-2: "Supplementary Table 10"). This included interferon regulatory factor genes *IRF5* and *IRF7*. We found three meQTL in naïve CD4+ T cells that included, or were in high LD ( $r^2 \ge 0.80$ ) with, a known lupus genetic risk variant (Table 3-4)(389). We applied the same analysis to meQTL results we obtained from our lupus granulocyte study. We found meQTL associated with lupus risk variants in CFB (rs170942) and IRF7 (rs1131665) in both naïve CD4+ T cells and granulocytes from lupus patients. In addition, an meQTL associated with the TMEM86B-PTPRH locus was observed in naïve CD4+ T cells. When we compared the lupus risk allele with DNA methylation levels, we found that the presence of the risk allele at rs1270942 (CFB) is associated with increased DNA methylation of cg16505946. The presence of the risk allele at rs1131665 (IRF7) (Figure 3-7) and rs56154925 (TMEM86B-PTPRH) was associated with decreased DNA methylation of cg16486109 and cg01414877, respectively. The direction of the risk allele-DNA methylation association in the CFB and IRF7 meQTL was the same in both naïve CD4+ T cells and granulocytes.

Table 3-4: MeOTI	h in naive CD4+ 1	<b>F</b> cells and granulo	evtes of lupus	patients that include	a known lupus risk variant.

Lupus Naïve CD4+ T cell meQTL								
CpG Site	meQTL SNP	Lupus Risk SNP <sup>#</sup>	Risk SNP-associated Gene	Lupus Risk Allele	Direction of CpG methylation associated with risk allele			
cg16505946	rs558702	rs1270942	CFB	С	↑			
cg16486109	rs1131665	rs1131665	IRF7	А	Ļ			
cg01414877	rs56154925	rs56154925	TMEM86B-PTPRH	С	$\downarrow$			

<sup>#</sup>rs558702 and rs 1270942 have an LD  $r^2 ≥ 0.80$ .

Lupus Granulocyte meQTL								
CpG Site	meQTL SNP	Lupus Risk SNP <sup>#</sup>	Risk SNP-associated Gene	Lupus Risk Allele	Direction of CpG methylation associated with risk allele			
cg16505946	rs558702	rs1270942	CFB	С	↑			
cg16486109	rs1131665	rs1131665	IRF7	А	$\downarrow$			

#### rs1131665-cg16486109 meQTL



Figure 3-5: The presence of the lupus risk allele at rs1131665 has a significant negative correlation with DNA methylation of cg16486109 located in *IRF7*.

We examined the overlap of our meQTL-associated genes identified in lupus patient naïve CD4+ T cells and genes that respond to type I interferon treatment in CD4+ T cells to better understand the association between patient genetics and type I interferon-response gene methylation differences in lupus. A total of 101 unique type I interferon-response genes were meQTL loci in our data (see Table A-2: "Supplementary Table 11").

# **3.5 Discussion**

We generated genome-wide DNA methylation data in naïve CD4+ T cells from a large cohort of lupus patients and matched healthy controls. Implementing an innovative trend deviation analysis, we identified a cluster of microRNAs (miRNAs) (miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-19b1, miR-20a) among differentially methylated loci in lupus patients. Promoter methylation analysis revealed significant hypomethylation in this microRNA cluster in lupus patients compared to controls. Trend deviation analysis suggested a coordinated, disease-associated change in promoter methylation for these miRNAs. Indeed, the expression of miR-18a and miR-19b1 included within this cluster positively correlated with disease activity, as measured using SLEDAI score, in our lupus patients.

MiRNAs play an important role in post-transcriptional gene regulation by targeting specific complementary gene transcripts for degradation(393). Peripheral blood cells in lupus patients show altered expression of miRNAs(394). Some deregulated miRNAs in lupus target DNA methyltransferase 1 (DNMT1), and as a result, contribute to altered DNA methylation patterns in lupus CD4+ T cells(395-397). MiR-17, miR-18a, and miR-20a form the "miR-17 family" while miR-19a and miR-19b1 form the "miR-19 family", which are grouped by sequence homology and encoded in a single polycistronic miRNA gene called the "miR-17-92 cluster". This cluster has been well-studied as an oncogene and an immune regulator(398). Average promoter methylation of miR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-19b1, and miR-20a was reduced by ~5% in lupus patients compared to controls, which has not been previously described

in immune cells of lupus patients. Enterovirus 71 infection has been observed to suppress miR-17-92 cluster expression by increasing DNMT-mediated promoter methylation(399), and chemical inhibition of DNMT1 activity in bleomycin-induced lung fibrosis mouse model increases miR-17-92 cluster expression in lung fibroblasts(400). This suggests that miR-17-92 cluster promoter methylation plays an important role in regulating the expression of its members.

MiR-17-92 cluster genes play a vital role in regulating T cell activities including proliferation and differentiation. Overexpression of miR-17-92 cluster genes promotes lymphoproliferative disease and autoimmunity in mice by targeting critical immunotolerance regulators Bim and PTEN(401). Conditional knock out of miR-17-92 cluster in a murine model of chronic graft-versus-host disease (cGVHD) reduced disease-associated T cell infiltration and IgG deposition in the skin(402). In cGVHD mice, miR-17-92 cluster expression in CD4+ T cells supports Th1, Th17, and Tfh cell differentiation. Loss of miR-17-92 cluster expression leads to a corresponding reduction in Tfh-dependent germinal center formation and plasma cell differentiation(402). MiR-17, miR-18a, miR-19a, and miR-20a are overexpressed in splenic T cells of MRL/lpr mice(403). Similarly, miR-17, miR-17a, miR-18a, miR-19a, miR-19b1, and miR-20a are overexpressed in circulating CD4+ T cells of lupus patients(404). MiR-19b1 expression, specifically, has a significant positive correlation with disease activity as measured by SLEDAI score(404). MiR-17 and miR-20 are downregulated in circulating PBMCs(405), B cells(406), as well as circulating free miRNAs(407) of lupus patients compared to healthy controls, suggesting tissue-specific and miR-specific expression patterns. Of the miR-17-92 cluster miRNAs identified as differentially methylated in our analysis, only miR-18a and miR-19b1 showed a significant positive correlation between median expression and disease activity in naïve CD4+ T cells of lupus patients, consistent with these prior observations. MiR-19b1

promotes proliferation of mature CD4+ T cells, Th1 differentiation and IFN-γ production, and suppresses inducible Treg differentiation(408). MiR-18a expression increases rapidly early on in CD4+ T cell activation(409, 410), and suppresses Th17 cell differentiation through direct targeting of critical Th17 transcription factor transcripts including Smad4, Hif1a, and Rora in human CD4+ T cells in vitro and in vivo murine airway inflammation models(409). We did not observe a difference in the expression of members in the miR-17-92 cluster between lupus patients and controls in naïve CD4+ T cells, likely because these miRNAs are upregulated upon T cell activation. Evidence for hypomethylation in lupus in naïve CD4+ T cells suggests epigenetic priming of this locus, similar what we previously observed in interferon-regulated gene loci in lupus(264). Further study is needed to determine if altered DNA methylation at these miRNA promoter sites is associated with expression changes in miRNAs that play a role in T cell development and lupus pathogenesis and their potential use as a biomarker for monitoring disease activity.

We used analysis of meQTL to identify allele-specific DNA methylation associations across the genome of naïve CD4+ T cells from lupus patients and healthy controls. Our primary objective was to understand to what extent are DNA methylation changes associated with lupus (the lupus-defining epigenetic profile), explained by genetic factors. We found that < 1% of differentially methylated sites in lupus patients compared to healthy controls were associated with a *cis*-meQTL. This suggests that almost all the DNA methylation alterations observed in lupus are not associated with local allelic differences in the genome, suggesting a greater contribution from non-genetic and possibly environmental factors to epigenetic dysregulation in lupus. A previous study of meQTL in whole blood of lupus patients found that a majority of meQTL were shared between patients and controls(73). We observed 68% of meQTL in lupus

patients and 54% of meQTL in healthy controls were shared by both groups, supporting this observation. Gene ontology and pathway analysis of the meQTL-associated genes unique to lupus patients were enriched for KEGG pathways related to type I diabetes, viral myocarditis, and graft-versus-host disease all of which were primarily driven by the presence of meQTL in HLA genes. Gene ontologies were related to the development of various tissues without an apparent relationship to disease pathogenesis. Of note, we did not observe meQTL effect involving the miR-17-92 cluster.

Our prior analysis of neutrophils from a cohort of lupus patients identified overlap in meQTL genes and lupus genetic risk loci(373). MeQTL pairs including *ARID5B* (cg13344587-rs10821936), *HLA-DQB1* (cg13047157-rs9274477), and *IRF7* (cg16486109-GSA-rs1131665) were found in both neutrophils and naïve CD4+ T cells from lupus patients. Risk loci genes unique to naïve CD4+ T cell meQTL included *CD80* (cg06300880-GSA-rs3915166), *TYK2* (cg06622468-rs280501), *IKBKE* (cg22577136-GSA-rs17020312), and *CTLA4* (cg05092371-GSA-rs16840252, cg05092371-rs4553808). Naïve CD4+ T cell-specific meQTL risk loci genes are all related to signal response and activation in CD4+ T cells compared to the more general DNA repair and type I interferon signaling seen in the shared meQTL risk loci genes. Disease-relevant meQTL show tissue-specific patterns which should be considered when teasing apart their potential impact.

We identified three meQTL that include SNPs previously identified as lupus genetic risk variants. One meQTL is in the complement factor B gene *CFB* (cg16505946-rs558702) where the risk allele is associated with increased DNA methylation of the nearby CpG site. Complement factor B (CFB) combines with C3 to form the C3 convertase after cleavage by complement factor D as part of the alternative complement pathway. Complement pathway defects have long been studied as a model of monogenic lupus and contribute to increased risk of lupus in the general population(389). We identified an additional meQTL that included a known lupus risk variant in *IRF7* (cg16486109-rs1131665). Rs1131665 is a missense variant in the inhibitory domain of IRF7 (Q412R). This lupus-associated amino acid change was demonstrated to enhance IRF7-induced expression response in a luciferase reporter assay(411). This same risk allele is also associated with decreased DNA methylation of cg16486109. Though the relative DNA methylation fractions are different between naïve CD4+ T cells and granulocytes of lupus patients, the direction of the allele-specific DNA methylation is the same. This suggests that the observed meQTL effect may be present in other lymphoid and myeloid tissues, potentially including plasmacytoid dendritic cells, which are major producers of type I interferons. This is the first time a direct association between a lupus risk allele and local hypomethylation of a CpG site in *IRF7* has been described in lupus. This observation provides new insights regarding possible biological mechanisms underlying pathogenic consequences of lupus-associated genetic polymorphisms.

In summary, we investigated genome-wide DNA methylation changes in naïve CD4+ T cells from an extended cohort of lupus patients and controls, and using a methylation trend deviation analysis method, we showed promoter hypomethylation of the miR-17-92 cluster that has a significant regulatory function in T cells growth, function, and differentiation. Combining genome-wide DNA methylation and genotyping data, we were able to determine genetic contribution to the lupus-defining epigenotype. We identified allele-specific DNA methylation associations involving lupus genetic risk loci, including *CFB* and *IRF7*, which could contribute to our knowledge of how these variants confer risk. Our data indicate that epigenetic changes characteristic of lupus are not under direct genetic influence. This suggests a more important role

for non-genetic factors in the epigenetic dysregulation observed in lupus patients, including the robust demethylation of interferon-regulated genes.

## **Chapter 4 Conclusions and Future Directions**

DNA methylation and genetics influence the pathogenesis of lupus and the cellular mechanisms underlying the disease. In these chapters, we explored DNA methylation changes within lupus granulocytes and naïve CD4+ T cells and the influence of genetics on DNA methylation changes. To accomplish this, we generated genome-wide data of the DNA methylome and genotypes to address the role of genetics in regulating DNA methylation differences between lupus patients and controls and within lupus patients. In chapter two, we analyzed DNA methylation in lupus patients over time and across disease activity levels, and how genetic factors contribute to the DNA methylation differences between African-American and European-American lupus patients. In chapter three, we utilized DNA methylation and genotyping data from naïve CD4+ T cells of lupus patients and matched healthy controls to answer how much of the observed DNA methylation associated with lupus is determined by genetic factors.

We expand upon our current understanding of the role of epigenetic dysregulation in lupus by measuring DNA methylation changes over time and across disease activity in lupus patients followed longitudinally. From this analysis, we provided a major finding that the DNA methylome of lupus is predominantly stable over time. Early studies of longitudinal methylation showed that global DNA methylation within individuals changes over time, at least on the order of decades, and that these changes had the greatest similarities within families, suggesting a genetic influence on the shape of the epigenome(412). The stability of the DNA methylome

suggests that disease-associated epigenetic shifts we see in lupus could be set earlier in the disease process or perhaps outside of the periphery in the bone marrow during immune cell development. This has implications for utilizing the DNA methylation signature for disease monitoring in lupus patients. Larger cohorts and fine-mapping of the methylome across multiple cell types in longitudinal cohorts would be needed to confirm our findings. Comparing the DNA methylome of immune progenitor cells in the bone marrow would also be of interest to determine if these epigenetic changes develop early in the disease process in lupus. A large prospective lupus cohort with uniform sampling of immune cells longitudinally would be the most beneficial next step towards generating a more complete picture of the lupus DNA methylome over time. Combining this with environmental exposure data prior to points where the DNA methylome acquires the type I interferon hypomethylation signature could reveal environmental factors that are contributing to lupus and resulting in associated DNA methylation changes.

Our differential DNA methylation data were integrated with meQTL analysis to tease out what race-specific epigenetic effects might be associated with genetic determinants. Approximately 16% of the differential methylation observed between African-American and European-American lupus patients is associated with a nearby SNP. Forty-two percent of the differential DNA methylation we observed in granulocytes between African-American and European-American lupus patients was also present between African-American and European-American healthy individuals. Similarly, a prior study we performed in T cells found that a majority of lupus-related genes that were differentially methylated between African-American and European-American healthy controls were also differentially methylated between the two races in lupus patients(288). The sites that could likely yield the most interesting discoveries are

those that are only differentially methylated between races in lupus patients and not in controls. CpG sites that are differentially methylated between races in both patients and controls will require more scrutiny and likely contribute to a greater lupus risk in African-Americans. Those differentially methylated sites that are not associated with meQTL could reveal more about how social and environmental factors influence methylation and disease risk. The 42% of the raceassociated DNA methylation signature that is shared between patients and controls in African-Americans compared to European-Americans is potentially already present prior to the onset of lupus. Patients would likely have a partial epigenotype similar to that of the healthy background population, and perturbations (like environmental exposures) set them on a different trajectory towards a stable disease epigenotype. Race and ethnicity are social constructs that simplify complex factors like genetic ancestry and shared environments, and the role of non-genetic factors should not be discounted. A study comparing DNA methylation between subgroups of Latino individuals found that genetic ancestry explained 75% of the DNA methylation variation between subgroups and suggested that the remaining 25% was attributable to environmental and social factors(285). In addition, the study demonstrated that even environmentally-influenced DNA methylation changes can interact with genetic ancestry, underlining the importance of taking genetics into account when performing studies on DNA methylation in racially and ethnically diverse cohorts(285).

We found that our ancestry-associated differential methylation in lupus granulocytes included genes in both the NF $\kappa$ B and interferon response pathways like *IRF7*, suggesting that these pathways are influenced in part by genetic ancestry in both the healthy and lupus population. African ancestry is associated with a stronger inflammatory response to bacterial infection by macrophages, more effective suppression of bacterial replication, and enrichment

for genes associated with autoimmune diseases compared to European ancestry(413). Seventyfive percent of the ancestry-associated infection response gene signature was associated with a *cis*-eQTL(413). These inherited differences in inflammatory genes may confer an increased risk for autoimmunity throughout life including changes in DNA methylation regulation in healthy individuals, and the contribution of other genetic and non-genetic factors are the final push required for a person to develop lupus. It is likely that other inflammatory states, similar to lupus, may overlap with similar pathways and include DNA methylation as an intermediary factor in the eQLT relationship. More work is needed to tease apart the full extent of how genetic ancestry and race/ethnicity-related environmental factors might predispose some individuals to lupus and not others. Changes in DNA methylation may provide a mechanistic explanation for how lupusassociated genetic polymorphisms confer increased disease risk in patients. We identified meQTL in the naïve CD4+ T cells and granulocytes of lupus patients that included, or were in high LD with, a lupus risk variant. This further extends our knowledge about how geneticepigenetic interaction might be mechanistically involved in explaining genetic risk in autoimmunity. A better understanding of lupus genetic risk loci and the epigenetic environment surrounding them, such as our findings that *IRF7* is associated with an meQTL and is differentially methylated between races, will likely yield the most relevant discoveries in the future.

We show that approximately 1% to 8% of differential methylation between lupus patients and controls was attributable to local *cis*-meQTL, in naïve CD4+ T cells and granulocytes, respectively. This result suggests that much of the DNA methylation difference we detect between lupus patients and controls is not controlled by local genetic effects. One explanation is that consistent hypomethylation in type I IFN response genes and others in lupus patients may

not include meQTL because they are being coordinated by key upstream transcription factors. A deleterious SNP at a key regulatory factor could induce a widespread change in promoter DNA methylation and gene expression in genes that are not associated with an meQTL. *IRF7* may fit this model. *IRF7* has an meQTL (cg16486109-rs1131665) that is present in the granulocytes of lupus patients and naïve CD4+ T cells of both lupus patients and controls. When comparing lupus patients and controls, there is a distinct hypomethylation of *IRF7* that is in line with the overall interferon response signature. The IRF7 lupus risk alleles may predispose individuals in the population towards developing lupus potentially through DNA methylation changes as an meQTL. Indeed, the SNP rs1131665 in *IRF7* is associated with susceptibility to lupus in multiple populations(411). The allele that is associated with increased lupus risk is also associated with decreased methylation of cg16486109 in the granulocytes and naïve CD4+ T cells of lupus patients. The genetic risk in combination with other triggering factors (additional genetic risk loci or environmental) subsequently induces a stable hypomethylation of the IRF7 locus. Upon exposure to an inflammatory stimulus, perhaps oxidative stress from a viral infection or ICs resulting from increased NETs, IRF7 promotes the expression of type I IFNs and downstream hypomethylation of IFN response genes. This type of model may be better captured as a *trans*meQTL where the variant of the regulatory factor is associated with the methylation of target genes which may range across the entire genome. A more thorough analysis of the *IRF7* locus and its genetic-epigenetic associations in lupus are required to support this putative model.

We show that granulocyte DNA methylation is predominantly stable within individuals across time and disease activity. Prior studies of inter-individual DNA methylation in granulocytes found the least variability among gene promoters while gene bodies carried the most variation(414). The most variable gene promoters were enriched for PU.1 (encoded by

SPI1) binding sites, a major transcription factor that regulates neutrophil development(414). Notably, the *TREML4* promoter region we identified as containing an meQTL, and that regulates gene expression in response to DNA methylation, overlaps with a PU.1 binding site in HL-60 cells(415). PU.1 is a pioneering transcription factor for neutrophils, one that can coordinate the binding of complexes that regulate the activation or suppression of genes(416, 417). PU.1 can interact directly with DNMT3A, DNMT3B, and TET2 during myeloid development and differentiation, suggesting that it plays a role in regulating DNA methylation around its binding sites(418, 419). The TREML4 meQTL we have identified could serve as model for how genetics can directly modify a disease-relevant immune gene (TREML4) through disruption of transcription factor binding and promoter function that is reflected in, or potentially mediated by, DNA methylation. Measuring TREML4 promoter-enhancer interactions could reveal more about this relationship. Our experiments overexpressing TREML4 in PLB-985 cells did not modify the TLR7 response. This could be due to the differentiated PLB-985 phenotype being a poor model for primary neutrophil function. Other myeloid tissues may provide better models for testing the importance of this TREML4 meQTL in vitro. Plasmacytoid dendritic cells are proficient producers of type I interferons in response to TLR7 signaling during viral infection. There is a positive correlation between TLR7-mediated type I IFN production by pDCs and disease activity in lupus patients(420). These cells would yield valuable information about the relationship of the *TREML4* and *IRF7* meQTL we identified in these chapters with type I interferon signaling.

A study analyzing the association of the meQTL-SNP and methylation site and *TREML4* expression in lupus immune cells would be an ideal next step. This would require identifying lupus patients with the different genotypes in the identified meQTL-SNP and measuring *TREML4* expression and promoter methylation in granulocytes. Phenotypic changes in these

cells related to TLR7 signaling, such as increased type I interferon production and propensity for NETosis, could also be measured using the same cells.

Our study does have limitations. The under-representation of severe lupus flares in our population does limit our ability to detect longitudinal DNA methylation changes that might be more apparent in a larger cohort. The 1000bp window we selected to define the *cis*-meQTL relationship in our study is relatively narrow leading to an under-reporting of *cis*-meQTL associations though other studies have found that the significance of the meQTL association increases with decreasing distance between the SNP and CpG site(421). We elected to use a narrow meQTL window to focus on more direct genetic determinants of DNA methylation changes in our studies. One study using a 6kbp window to define *cis*-meQTL estimated a median distance of 76bp for meQTL effects, and that 87% of CpG sites were within 3kbp of the associated SNP in lymphoblastoid cells(422). Another shortcoming is that the Infinium arrays only capture a small proportion of the approximately 28 million CpG sites across the genome. Increasing the density of the DNA methylome assessment in lupus patients could reveal additional information.

The findings presented in this thesis have broadened our understanding of the associations of genetics and DNA methylation in lupus patients. Epigenetic mechanisms provide an interesting avenue for biomarker and treatment development. Directly targeting the DNA methylome through DNMT inhibition has traditionally required the use of nucleoside analogs like 5-azacytidine, though this leads to global demethylation and gene expression changes which can also lead to T cell dysfunction and autoimmunity(423, 424). Using these drugs in a tissue-specific manner can yield potential therapeutic results as has been demonstrated by targeted delivery to CD4+ T cells ameliorating lupus-like symptoms in MRL/*lpr* mice(280). Maturation of DNA methylation editing technologies may also provide a method for directly modifying the

methylation status of genes. Fusions of dead Cas9 and either DNMT or TET domains allow for selective methylation or demethylation, respectively. Cas9-targeted mutation of promoter CpG sites or selective promoter demethylation with dCas9-TET1 fusions can induce expression of genes with methylation-sensitive promoters (425). Another potential therapeutic model includes selective hypermethylation of CTCF binding sites using dCas9-DNMT3a that disrupt the CTCFmediated looping required for enhancer-promoter activity and a subsequent reduction in gene expression(426). dCas9-DNMT-induced methylation could be applied to reverse the hypomethylation of the miR-17-92 promoter in lupus T cells to potentially suppress T cell activity during lupus flares. Further exploration of meQTL associations in lupus risk genes could provide more information on the biological mechanisms underlying the conferred risk. Mendelian randomization can measure the causal relationship of GWAS risk loci and DNA methylation on the occurrence of lupus and could further refine the meQTL we have identified and their relationship to genetic risk(427, 428). Furthermore, integration of gene expression with DNA methylation and genotyping data can further refine the causal effect of genotype on gene expression through mediation by DNA methylation.

Peripheral blood may not capture DNA methylation changes occurring in the tissueinfiltrating subset of immune cells in lupus patients. Comparing tissue-infiltrating cells of lupus patients with those in the periphery may reveal DNA methylation changes that contribute to the infiltrating phenotype reflecting the unique expression signatures found within myeloid and lymphoid cells in the kidneys of lupus patients(429). Advancements in single-cell DNA methylation techniques provide an avenue for exploring the DNA methylome in a cell-specific manner. This not only allows for analysis of rare cell subsets, such as tissue-infiltrating immune cells, but also overcomes the limitation of microarray and high-throughput sequencing that can

only provide DNA methylation averages at the population level that are influenced by cell population differences. Integrating single-cell DNA methylation data with other genomic approaches, such as gene expression or chromatin accessibility, and genotyping information, would give a clearer picture of how DNA methylation is related to genetic regulation in lupus immune cells.

This work has furthered our understanding of the role of genetics on DNA methylation in lupus patients. For the first time, we demonstrated the predominant longitudinal stability of the lupus epigenotype across time and disease activity status. Our analysis found nephritis-associated demethylation of a CpG site in GALNT18 that could provide a useful biomarker. We also highlight the importance of considering race/ethnicity and genetic ancestry when performing DNA methylation studies. We found the methylation level of two CpG sites significantly associated with disease activity, but only in African-American not European-American lupus patients. We found approximately 16% of the differential methylation signature between African-American and European-American lupus patients to be associated with a nearby genetic polymorphisms as meQTL. TREML4 provides an example of an inflammatory response gene with a race-associated meQTL where DNA methylation of the meQTL-associated gene promoter can impact gene expression and may contribute to disparity in disease severity. We compared DNA methylation of naïve CD4+ T cells between lupus patients and controls to address the contribution of genetics to the lupus epigenotype. Using a trend deviation analysis, we found that the promoter of the miR-17-92 cluster is hypomethylated in lupus patients, and that the expression of two members of this miRNA cluster positively correlated with disease activity. We found that approximately 1% to 8% of lupus-associated methylation differences are in a cismeQTL. This suggested that there is little association between the robust hypomethylation of

type I interferon response genes characteristic of lupus and nearby genetic variants. A predominant role for non-genetic factors in the lupus DNA methylation signature is suggested. In addition, we found a subset of meQTL associated with known lupus genetic susceptibility loci that may provide insights into how genetics can confer disease risk through DNA methylation changes.

# **Bibliography**

- 1. Barber MRW, Drenkard C, Falasinnu T, Hoi A, Mak A, Kow NY, et al. Global epidemiology of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* 2021;17(9):515-32.
- Dall'Era M, Cisternas MG, Snipes K, Herrinton LJ, Gordon C, and Helmick CG. The Incidence and Prevalence of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus in San Francisco County, California: The California Lupus Surveillance Project. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2017;69(10):1996-2005.
- 3. Fatoye F, Gebrye T, and Svenson LW. Real-world incidence and prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus in Alberta, Canada. *Rheumatol Int.* 2018;38(9):1721-6.
- 4. Li S, Gong T, Peng Y, Nieman KM, and Gilbertson DT. Prevalence and incidence of systemic lupus erythematosus and associated outcomes in the 2009-2016 US Medicare population. *Lupus*. 2020;29(1):15-26.
- 5. Ferucci ED, Johnston JM, Gaddy JR, Sumner L, Posever JO, Choromanski TL, et al. Prevalence and incidence of systemic lupus erythematosus in a population-based registry of American Indian and Alaska Native people, 2007-2009. *Arthritis Rheumatol*. 2014;66(9):2494-502.
- 6. Lim SS, Bayakly AR, Helmick CG, Gordon C, Easley KA, and Drenkard C. The incidence and prevalence of systemic lupus erythematosus, 2002-2004: The Georgia Lupus Registry. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2014;66(2):357-68.
- 7. Souyris M, Mejia JE, Chaumeil J, and Guery JC. Female predisposition to TLR7-driven autoimmunity: gene dosage and the escape from X chromosome inactivation. *Semin Immunopathol.* 2019;41(2):153-64.
- 8. Shen N, Fu Q, Deng Y, Qian X, Zhao J, Kaufman KM, et al. Sex-specific association of X-linked Toll-like receptor 7 (TLR7) with male systemic lupus erythematosus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2010;107(36):15838-43.
- 9. Scofield RH, Bruner GR, Namjou B, Kimberly RP, Ramsey-Goldman R, Petri M, et al. Klinefelter's syndrome (47,XXY) in male systemic lupus erythematosus patients: support for the notion of a gene-dose effect from the X chromosome. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2008;58(8):2511-7.
- 10. Christou EAA, Banos A, Kosmara D, Bertsias GK, and Boumpas DT. Sexual dimorphism in SLE: above and beyond sex hormones. *Lupus*. 2019;28(1):3-10.

- 11. Syrett CM, Paneru B, Sandoval-Heglund D, Wang J, Banerjee S, Sindhava V, et al. Altered X-chromosome inactivation in T cells may promote sex-biased autoimmune diseases. *JCI Insight*. 2019;4(7).
- 12. Pyfrom S, Paneru B, Knox JJ, Cancro MP, Posso S, Buckner JH, et al. The dynamic epigenetic regulation of the inactive X chromosome in healthy human B cells is dysregulated in lupus patients. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2021;118(24).
- 13. Khan D, and Ansar Ahmed S. The Immune System Is a Natural Target for Estrogen Action: Opposing Effects of Estrogen in Two Prototypical Autoimmune Diseases. *Front Immunol.* 2015;6:635.
- 14. Lee YH, Choi SJ, Ji JD, and Song GG. Overall and cause-specific mortality in systemic lupus erythematosus: an updated meta-analysis. *Lupus*. 2016;25(7):727-34.
- 15. Yen EY, and Singh RR. Brief Report: Lupus-An Unrecognized Leading Cause of Death in Young Females: A Population-Based Study Using Nationwide Death Certificates, 2000-2015. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2018;70(8):1251-5.
- 16. Meacock R, Dale N, and Harrison MJ. The humanistic and economic burden of systemic lupus erythematosus : a systematic review. *Pharmacoeconomics*. 2013;31(1):49-61.
- 17. Panopalis P, Clarke AE, and Yelin E. The economic burden of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Best Pract Res Clin Rheumatol.* 2012;26(5):695-704.
- 18. Murimi-Worstell IB, Lin DH, Kan H, Tierce J, Wang X, Nab H, et al. Healthcare Utilization and Costs of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus by Disease Severity in the United States. *J Rheumatol.* 2021;48(3):385-93.
- 19. Panopalis P, Yazdany J, Gillis JZ, Julian L, Trupin L, Hersh AO, et al. Health care costs and costs associated with changes in work productivity among persons with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2008;59(12):1788-95.
- 20. Drenkard C, Bao G, Dennis G, Kan HJ, Jhingran PM, Molta CT, et al. Burden of systemic lupus erythematosus on employment and work productivity: data from a large cohort in the southeastern United States. *Arthritis Care Res (Hoboken)*. 2014;66(6):878-87.
- 21. Tselios K, Gladman DD, Touma Z, Su J, Anderson N, and Urowitz MB. Disease course patterns in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus*. 2019;28(1):114-22.
- 22. Barr SG, Zonana-Nacach A, Magder LS, and Petri M. Patterns of disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis & Rheumatism.* 1999;42(12):2682-8.
- 23. Adamichou C, and Bertsias G. Flares in systemic lupus erythematosus: diagnosis, risk factors and preventive strategies. *Mediterr J Rheumatol.* 2017;28(1):4-12.

- 24. Cojocaru M, Cojocaru IM, Silosi I, and Vrabie CD. Manifestations of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Maedica*. 2011;6(4):330.
- 25. Arbuckle MR, McClain MT, Rubertone MV, Scofield RH, Dennis GJ, James JA, et al. Development of autoantibodies before the clinical onset of systemic lupus erythematosus. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;349(16):1526-33.
- 26. Wandstrat AE, Carr-Johnson F, Branch V, Gray H, Fairhurst AM, Reimold A, et al. Autoantibody profiling to identify individuals at risk for systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Autoimmun.* 2006;27(3):153-60.
- Aringer M, Costenbader K, Daikh D, Brinks R, Mosca M, Ramsey-Goldman R, et al. 2019 European League Against Rheumatism/American College of Rheumatology Classification Criteria for Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2019;71(9):1400-12.
- 28. Coit P, Ruffalo L, and Sawalha AH. Clinical subgroup clustering analysis in a systemic lupus erythematosus cohort from Western Pennsylvania. *Eur J Rheumatol.* 2021.
- 29. Kernder A, Richter JG, Fischer-Betz R, Winkler-Rohlfing B, Brinks R, Aringer M, et al. Delayed diagnosis adversely affects outcome in systemic lupus erythematosus: Cross sectional analysis of the LuLa cohort. *Lupus*. 2021;30(3):431-8.
- 30. Bernatsky S, Boivin JF, Joseph L, Manzi S, Ginzler E, Gladman DD, et al. Mortality in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2006;54(8):2550-7.
- 31. Mak A, Cheung MW, Chiew HJ, Liu Y, and Ho RC. Global trend of survival and damage of systemic lupus erythematosus: meta-analysis and meta-regression of observational studies from the 1950s to 2000s. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* 2012;41(6):830-9.
- 32. Mahajan A, Amelio J, Gairy K, Kaur G, Levy RA, Roth D, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus, lupus nephritis and end-stage renal disease: a pragmatic review mapping disease severity and progression. *Lupus*. 2020;29(9):1011-20.
- 33. Mok CC, Kwok RC, and Yip PS. Effect of renal disease on the standardized mortality ratio and life expectancy of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2013;65(8):2154-60.
- 34. Bastian HM, Roseman JM, McGwin G, Jr., Alarcon GS, Friedman AW, Fessler BJ, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus in three ethnic groups. XII. Risk factors for lupus nephritis after diagnosis. *Lupus*. 2002;11(3):152-60.
- 35. Alarcon GS, Friedman AW, Straaton KV, Moulds JM, Lisse J, Bastian HM, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus in three ethnic groups: III. A comparison of characteristics early in the natural history of the LUMINA cohort. LUpus in MInority populations: NAture vs. Nurture. *Lupus*. 1999;8(3):197-209.

- 36. Nee R, Martinez-Osorio J, Yuan CM, Little DJ, Watson MA, Agodoa L, et al. Survival Disparity of African American Versus Non-African American Patients With ESRD Due to SLE. *Am J Kidney Dis.* 2015;66(4):630-7.
- 37. Hruskova Z, and Tesar V. Lessons learned from the failure of several recent trials with biologic treatment in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Expert Opin Biol Ther*. 2018;18(9):989-96.
- 38. Toro-Domínguez D, Martorell-Marugán J, Goldman D, Petri M, Carmona-Sáez P, and Alarcón-Riquelme ME. Stratification of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Patients Into Three Groups of Disease Activity Progression According to Longitudinal Gene Expression. *Arthritis & Rheumatology*. 2018;70(12):2025-35.
- 39. Guthridge JM, Lu R, Tran LT, Arriens C, Aberle T, Kamp S, et al. Adults with systemic lupus exhibit distinct molecular phenotypes in a cross-sectional study. *EClinicalMedicine*. 2020;20:100291.
- 40. Lanata CM, Nititham J, Taylor KE, Chung SA, Torgerson DG, Seldin MF, et al. Genetic contributions to lupus nephritis in a multi-ethnic cohort of systemic lupus erythematous patients. *PLoS One.* 2018;13(6):e0199003.
- 41. Deapen D, Escalante A, Weinrib L, Horwitz D, Bachman B, Roy-Burman P, et al. A revised estimate of twin concordance in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1992;35(3):311-8.
- 42. Ulff-Moller CJ, Svendsen AJ, Viemose LN, and Jacobsen S. Concordance of autoimmune disease in a nationwide Danish systemic lupus erythematosus twin cohort. *Semin Arthritis Rheum.* 2018;47(4):538-44.
- 43. Grennan DM, Parfitt A, Manolios N, Huang Q, Hyland V, Dunckley H, et al. Family and twin studies in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Dis Markers*. 1997;13(2):93-8.
- 44. Ulff-Moller CJ, Simonsen J, Kyvik KO, Jacobsen S, and Frisch M. Family history of systemic lupus erythematosus and risk of autoimmune disease: Nationwide Cohort Study in Denmark 1977-2013. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2017;56(6):957-64.
- 45. Kuo CF, Grainge MJ, Valdes AM, See LC, Luo SF, Yu KH, et al. Familial Aggregation of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Coaggregation of Autoimmune Diseases in Affected Families. *JAMA Intern Med.* 2015;175(9):1518-26.
- 46. Alarcon-Segovia D, Alarcon-Riquelme ME, Cardiel MH, Caeiro F, Massardo L, Villa AR, et al. Familial aggregation of systemic lupus erythematosus, rheumatoid arthritis, and other autoimmune diseases in 1,177 lupus patients from the GLADEL cohort. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2005;52(4):1138-47.
- 47. Lawrence JS, Martins CL, and Drake GL. A family survey of lupus erythematosus. 1. Heritability. *J Rheumatol.* 1987;14(5):913-21.

- 48. Yang J, Visscher PM, and Wray NR. Sporadic cases are the norm for complex disease. *Eur J Hum Genet*. 2010;18(9):1039-43.
- 49. Kwon YC, Chun S, Kim K, and Mak A. Update on the Genetics of Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: Genome-Wide Association Studies and Beyond. *Cells.* 2019;8(10).
- 50. Macedo AC, and Isaac L. Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Deficiencies of Early Components of the Complement Classical Pathway. *Front Immunol.* 2016;7:55.
- 51. Alperin JM, Ortiz-Fernandez L, and Sawalha AH. Monogenic Lupus: A Developing Paradigm of Disease. *Front Immunol.* 2018;9:2496.
- 52. Lood C, Gullstrand B, Truedsson L, Olin AI, Alm GV, Ronnblom L, et al. C1q inhibits immune complex-induced interferon-alpha production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells: a novel link between C1q deficiency and systemic lupus erythematosus pathogenesis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2009;60(10):3081-90.
- 53. Yasutomo K, Horiuchi T, Kagami S, Tsukamoto H, Hashimura C, Urushihara M, et al. Mutation of DNASE1 in people with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Genet*. 2001;28(4):313-4.
- 54. Al-Mayouf SM, Sunker A, Abdwani R, Abrawi SA, Almurshedi F, Alhashmi N, et al. Loss-of-function variant in DNASE1L3 causes a familial form of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Genet.* 2011;43(12):1186-8.
- 55. Kamitaki N, Sekar A, Handsaker RE, de Rivera H, Tooley K, Morris DL, et al. Complement genes contribute sex-biased vulnerability in diverse disorders. *Nature*. 2020;582(7813):577-81.
- 56. Coke LN, Wen H, Comeau M, Ghanem MH, Shih A, Metz CN, et al. Arg206Cys substitution in DNASE1L3 causes a defect in DNASE1L3 protein secretion that confers risk of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2021.
- 57. Webb R, Kelly JA, Somers EC, Hughes T, Kaufman KM, Sanchez E, et al. Early disease onset is predicted by a higher genetic risk for lupus and is associated with a more severe phenotype in lupus patients. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2011;70(1):151-6.
- 58. Chen L, Wang YF, Liu L, Bielowka A, Ahmed R, Zhang H, et al. Genome-wide assessment of genetic risk for systemic lupus erythematosus and disease severity. *Hum Mol Genet.* 2020;29(10):1745-56.
- 59. Morris DL, Sheng Y, Zhang Y, Wang YF, Zhu Z, Tombleson P, et al. Genome-wide association meta-analysis in Chinese and European individuals identifies ten new loci associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Genet*. 2016;48(8):940-6.
- 60. Langefeld CD, Ainsworth HC, Cunninghame Graham DS, Kelly JA, Comeau ME, Marion MC, et al. Transancestral mapping and genetic load in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Commun.* 2017;8:16021.

- 61. Niewold TB, Hua J, Lehman TJ, Harley JB, and Crow MK. High serum IFN-alpha activity is a heritable risk factor for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Genes Immun.* 2007;8(6):492-502.
- 62. Kawasaki A, Furukawa H, Kondo Y, Ito S, Hayashi T, Kusaoi M, et al. TLR7 singlenucleotide polymorphisms in the 3' untranslated region and intron 2 independently contribute to systemic lupus erythematosus in Japanese women: a case-control association study. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2011;13(2):R41.
- 63. Garcia-Ortiz H, Velazquez-Cruz R, Espinosa-Rosales F, Jimenez-Morales S, Baca V, and Orozco L. Association of TLR7 copy number variation with susceptibility to childhood-onset systemic lupus erythematosus in Mexican population. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2010;69(10):1861-5.
- 64. Niewold TB, Kelly JA, Flesch MH, Espinoza LR, Harley JB, and Crow MK. Association of the IRF5 risk haplotype with high serum interferon-alpha activity in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2008;58(8):2481-7.
- 65. Salloum R, Franek BS, Kariuki SN, Rhee L, Mikolaitis RA, Jolly M, et al. Genetic variation at the IRF7/PHRF1 locus is associated with autoantibody profile and serum interferon-alpha activity in lupus patients. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2010;62(2):553-61.
- 66. International Consortium for Systemic Lupus Erythematosus G, Harley JB, Alarcon-Riquelme ME, Criswell LA, Jacob CO, Kimberly RP, et al. Genome-wide association scan in women with systemic lupus erythematosus identifies susceptibility variants in ITGAM, PXK, KIAA1542 and other loci. *Nat Genet*. 2008;40(2):204-10.
- 67. Kariuki SN, Kirou KA, MacDermott EJ, Barillas-Arias L, Crow MK, and Niewold TB. Cutting edge: autoimmune disease risk variant of STAT4 confers increased sensitivity to IFN-alpha in lupus patients in vivo. *J Immunol.* 2009;182(1):34-8.
- 68. Zheng J, Yin J, Huang R, Petersen F, and Yu X. Meta-analysis reveals an association of STAT4 polymorphisms with systemic autoimmune disorders and anti-dsDNA antibody. *Hum Immunol.* 2013;74(8):986-92.
- 69. Hom G, Graham RR, Modrek B, Taylor KE, Ortmann W, Garnier S, et al. Association of systemic lupus erythematosus with C8orf13-BLK and ITGAM-ITGAX. *N Engl J Med.* 2008;358(9):900-9.
- 70. Chung SA, and Criswell LA. PTPN22: its role in SLE and autoimmunity. *Autoimmunity*. 2007;40(8):582-90.
- 71. Tak YG, and Farnham PJ. Making sense of GWAS: using epigenomics and genome engineering to understand the functional relevance of SNPs in non-coding regions of the human genome. *Epigenetics Chromatin.* 2015;8:57.

- 72. Davenport EE, Amariuta T, Gutierrez-Arcelus M, Slowikowski K, Westra HJ, Luo Y, et al. Discovering in vivo cytokine-eQTL interactions from a lupus clinical trial. *Genome Biol.* 2018;19(1):168.
- 73. Imgenberg-Kreuz J, Carlsson Almlof J, Leonard D, Alexsson A, Nordmark G, Eloranta ML, et al. DNA methylation mapping identifies gene regulatory effects in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2018;77(5):736-43.
- 74. Blattler A, and Farnham PJ. Cross-talk between site-specific transcription factors and DNA methylation states. *J Biol Chem.* 2013;288(48):34287-94.
- 75. Kimura H, and Shiota K. Methyl-CpG-binding protein, MeCP2, is a target molecule for maintenance DNA methyltransferase, Dnmt1. *J Biol Chem.* 2003;278(7):4806-12.
- 76. Nan XS, Campoy FJ, and Bird A. MeCP2 is a transcriptional repressor with abundant binding sites in genomic chromatin. *Cell*. 1997;88(4):471-81.
- 77. Jones PL, Veenstra GJ, Wade PA, Vermaak D, Kass SU, Landsberger N, et al. Methylated DNA and MeCP2 recruit histone deacetylase to repress transcription. *Nat Genet*. 1998;19(2):187-91.
- 78. Chahrour M, Jung SY, Shaw C, Zhou X, Wong ST, Qin J, et al. MeCP2, a key contributor to neurological disease, activates and represses transcription. *Science*. 2008;320(5880):1224-9.
- 79. Sawalha AH, Webb R, Han S, Kelly JA, Kaufman KM, Kimberly RP, et al. Common variants within MECP2 confer risk of systemic lupus erythematosus. *PLoS One*. 2008;3(3):e1727.
- 80. Kaufman KM, Zhao J, Kelly JA, Hughes T, Adler A, Sanchez E, et al. Fine mapping of Xq28: both MECP2 and IRAK1 contribute to risk for systemic lupus erythematosus in multiple ancestral groups. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2013;72(3):437-44.
- 81. Webb R, Wren JD, Jeffries M, Kelly JA, Kaufman KM, Tang Y, et al. Variants within MECP2, a key transcription regulator, are associated with increased susceptibility to lupus and differential gene expression in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2009;60(4):1076-84.
- 82. Koelsch KA, Webb R, Jeffries M, Dozmorov MG, Frank MB, Guthridge JM, et al. Functional characterization of the MECP2/IRAK1 lupus risk haplotype in human T cells and a human MECP2 transgenic mouse. *J Autoimmun*. 2013;41:168-74.
- 83. Kim A, and Chong BF. Photosensitivity in cutaneous lupus erythematosus. *Photodermatol Photoimmunol Photomed.* 2013;29(1):4-11.
- 84. Wolf SJ, Estadt SN, Gudjonsson JE, and Kahlenberg JM. Human and Murine Evidence for Mechanisms Driving Autoimmune Photosensitivity. *Front Immunol.* 2018;9:2430.

- 85. Lee CH, Wu SB, Hong CH, Yu HS, and Wei YH. Molecular Mechanisms of UV-Induced Apoptosis and Its Effects on Skin Residential Cells: The Implication in UV-Based Phototherapy. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2013;14(3):6414-35.
- 86. Herrmann M, Voll RE, Zoller OM, Hagenhofer M, Ponner BB, and Kalden JR. Impaired phagocytosis of apoptotic cell material by monocyte-derived macrophages from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1998;41(7):1241-50.
- 87. Furukawa F, Kashihara-Sawami M, Lyons MB, and Norris DA. Binding of antibodies to the extractable nuclear antigens SS-A/Ro and SS-B/La is induced on the surface of human keratinocytes by ultraviolet light (UVL): implications for the pathogenesis of photosensitive cutaneous lupus. *J Invest Dermatol.* 1990;94(1):77-85.
- 88. Page CM, Djordjilovic V, Nost TH, Ghiasvand R, Sandanger TM, Frigessi A, et al. Lifetime Ultraviolet Radiation Exposure and DNA Methylation in Blood Leukocytes: The Norwegian Women and Cancer Study. *Sci Rep.* 2020;10(1):4521.
- 89. Nair-Shalliker V, Dhillon V, Clements M, Armstrong BK, and Fenech M. The association between personal sun exposure, serum vitamin D and global methylation in human lymphocytes in a population of healthy adults in South Australia. *Mutat Res.* 2014;765:6-10.
- 90. Vaglio A, Grayson PC, Fenaroli P, Gianfreda D, Boccaletti V, Ghiggeri GM, et al. Druginduced lupus: Traditional and new concepts. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2018;17(9):912-8.
- 91. Gorelik G, Fang JY, Wu A, Sawalha AH, and Richardson B. Impaired T cell protein kinase C delta activation decreases ERK pathway signaling in idiopathic and hydralazine-induced lupus. *J Immunol.* 2007;179(8):5553-63.
- 92. Deng C, Lu Q, Zhang Z, Rao T, Attwood J, Yung R, et al. Hydralazine may induce autoimmunity by inhibiting extracellular signal-regulated kinase pathway signaling. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2003;48(3):746-56.
- 93. Scheinbart LS, Johnson MA, Gross LA, Edelstein SR, and Richardson BC. Procainamide inhibits DNA methyltransferase in a human T cell line. *J Rheumatol*. 1991;18(4):530-4.
- 94. Finckh A, Cooper GS, Chibnik LB, Costenbader KH, Watts J, Pankey H, et al. Occupational silica and solvent exposures and risk of systemic lupus erythematosus in urban women. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2006;54(11):3648-54.
- 95. Parks CG, Cooper GS, Nylander-French LA, Sanderson WT, Dement JM, Cohen PL, et al. Occupational exposure to crystalline silica and risk of systemic lupus erythematosus: a population-based, case-control study in the southeastern United States. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2002;46(7):1840-50.
- 96. Mak A, and Tay SH. Environmental factors, toxicants and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Int J Mol Sci.* 2014;15(9):16043-56.

- Illescas-Montes R, Corona-Castro CC, Melguizo-Rodriguez L, Ruiz C, and Costela-Ruiz VJ. Infectious processes and systemic lupus erythematosus. *Immunology*. 2019;158(3):153-60.
- 98. James JA, Kaufman KM, Farris AD, Taylor-Albert E, Lehman TJ, and Harley JB. An increased prevalence of Epstein-Barr virus infection in young patients suggests a possible etiology for systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Clin Invest*. 1997;100(12):3019-26.
- 99. James JA, Neas BR, Moser KL, Hall T, Bruner GR, Sestak AL, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus in adults is associated with previous Epstein-Barr virus exposure. *Arthritis & Rheumatism.* 2001;44(5):1122-6.
- 100. Hong T, Parameswaran S, Donmez OA, Miller D, Forney C, Lape M, et al. Epstein-Barr virus nuclear antigen 2 extensively rewires the human chromatin landscape at autoimmune risk loci. *Genome Res.* 2021.
- Harley JB, Chen X, Pujato M, Miller D, Maddox A, Forney C, et al. Transcription factors operate across disease loci, with EBNA2 implicated in autoimmunity. *Nat Genet*. 2018;50(5):699-707.
- 102. Munroe ME, Anderson JR, Gross TF, Stunz LL, Bishop GA, and James JA. Epstein-Barr Functional Mimicry: Pathogenicity of Oncogenic Latent Membrane Protein-1 in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus and Autoimmunity. *Front Immunol.* 2020;11:606936.
- 103. Niller HH, Wolf H, Ay E, and Minarovits J. Epigenetic dysregulation of epstein-barr virus latency and development of autoimmune disease. *Adv Exp Med Biol.* 2011;711:82-102.
- 104. Woellmer A, and Hammerschmidt W. Epstein-Barr virus and host cell methylation: regulation of latency, replication and virus reactivation. *Curr Opin Virol.* 2013;3(3):260-5.
- Kang I, Quan T, Nolasco H, Park SH, Hong MS, Crouch J, et al. Defective control of latent Epstein-Barr virus infection in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol*. 2004;172(2):1287-94.
- 106. Costenbader KH, Kim DJ, Peerzada J, Lockman S, Nobles-Knight D, Petri M, et al. Cigarette smoking and the risk of systemic lupus erythematosus: a meta-analysis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2004;50(3):849-57.
- 107. Chua MHY, Ng IAT, M WLC, and Mak A. Association Between Cigarette Smoking and Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: An Updated Multivariate Bayesian Metaanalysis. *J Rheumatol.* 2020;47(10):1514-21.
- 108. Toloza SM, Uribe AG, McGwin G, Jr., Alarcon GS, Fessler BJ, Bastian HM, et al. Systemic lupus erythematosus in a multiethnic US cohort (LUMINA). XXIII. Baseline predictors of vascular events. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2004;50(12):3947-57.

- 109. Ward MM, and Studenski S. Clinical prognostic factors in lupus nephritis. The importance of hypertension and smoking. *Arch Intern Med.* 1992;152(10):2082-8.
- 110. You C, Wu S, Zheng SC, Zhu T, Jing H, Flagg K, et al. A cell-type deconvolution metaanalysis of whole blood EWAS reveals lineage-specific smoking-associated DNA methylation changes. *Nat Commun.* 2020;11(1):4779.
- 111. Crider KS, Yang TP, Berry RJ, and Bailey LB. Folate and DNA methylation: a review of molecular mechanisms and the evidence for folate's role. *Adv Nutr.* 2012;3(1):21-38.
- 112. Jacob RA, Gretz DM, Taylor PC, James SJ, Pogribny IP, Miller BJ, et al. Moderate folate depletion increases plasma homocysteine and decreases lymphocyte DNA methylation in postmenopausal women. *J Nutr.* 1998;128(7):1204-12.
- 113. Pufulete M, Al-Ghnaniem R, Khushal A, Appleby P, Harris N, Gout S, et al. Effect of folic acid supplementation on genomic DNA methylation in patients with colorectal adenoma. *Gut.* 2005;54(5):648-53.
- 114. Strickland FM, Hewagama A, Wu A, Sawalha AH, Delaney C, Hoeltzel MF, et al. Diet influences expression of autoimmune-associated genes and disease severity by epigenetic mechanisms in a transgenic mouse model of lupus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2013;65(7):1872-81.
- 115. Sharifi-Rad M, Anil Kumar NV, Zucca P, Varoni EM, Dini L, Panzarini E, et al. Lifestyle, Oxidative Stress, and Antioxidants: Back and Forth in the Pathophysiology of Chronic Diseases. *Front Physiol.* 2020;11:694.
- 116. Perl A. Oxidative stress in the pathology and treatment of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* 2013;9(11):674-86.
- 117. Li Y, Gorelik G, Strickland FM, and Richardson BC. Oxidative stress, T cell DNA methylation, and lupus. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2014;66(6):1574-82.
- 118. Jonsen A, Bengtsson AA, Nived O, Truedsson L, and Sturfelt G. Gene-environment interactions in the aetiology of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Autoimmunity*. 2007;40(8):613-7.
- 119. Ladd-Acosta C. Epigenetic Signatures as Biomarkers of Exposure. *Curr Environ Health Rep.* 2015;2(2):117-25.
- 120. Flanagan JM, Brook MN, Orr N, Tomczyk K, Coulson P, Fletcher O, et al. Temporal stability and determinants of white blood cell DNA methylation in the breakthrough generations study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2015;24(1):221-9.
- 121. Feinberg AP, Irizarry RA, Fradin D, Aryee MJ, Murakami P, Aspelund T, et al. Personalized epigenomic signatures that are stable over time and covary with body mass index. *Sci Transl Med.* 2010;2(49):49ra67.

- 122. Chen S, Mukherjee N, Janjanam VD, Arshad SH, Kurukulaaratchy RJ, Holloway JW, et al. Consistency and Variability of DNA Methylation in Women During Puberty, Young Adulthood, and Pregnancy. *Genet Epigenet*. 2017;9:1179237X17721540.
- 123. Tan Q, Heijmans BT, Hjelmborg JV, Soerensen M, Christensen K, and Christiansen L. Epigenetic drift in the aging genome: a ten-year follow-up in an elderly twin cohort. *Int J Epidemiol.* 2016;45(4):1146-58.
- 124. Fraga MF, Ballestar E, Paz MF, Ropero S, Setien F, Ballestar ML, et al. Epigenetic differences arise during the lifetime of monozygotic twins. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2005;102(30):10604-9.
- 125. Do C, Shearer A, Suzuki M, Terry MB, Gelernter J, Greally JM, et al. Genetic-epigenetic interactions in cis: a major focus in the post-GWAS era. *Genome Biol.* 2017;18(1):120.
- 126. Papayannopoulos V. Neutrophil extracellular traps in immunity and disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2018;18(2):134-47.
- 127. Lande R, Ganguly D, Facchinetti V, Frasca L, Conrad C, Gregorio J, et al. Neutrophils activate plasmacytoid dendritic cells by releasing self-DNA-peptide complexes in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Sci Transl Med.* 2011;3(73):73ra19.
- 128. Villanueva E, Yalavarthi S, Berthier CC, Hodgin JB, Khandpur R, Lin AM, et al. Netting neutrophils induce endothelial damage, infiltrate tissues, and expose immunostimulatory molecules in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol.* 2011;187(1):538-52.
- Bonegio RG, Lin JD, Beaudette-Zlatanova B, York MR, Menn-Josephy H, and Yasuda K. Lupus-Associated Immune Complexes Activate Human Neutrophils in an FcgammaRIIA-Dependent but TLR-Independent Response. *J Immunol.* 2019;202(3):675-83.
- 130. Bennett L, Palucka AK, Arce E, Cantrell V, Borvak J, Banchereau J, et al. Interferon and Granulopoiesis Signatures in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Blood. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*. 2003;197(6):711-23.
- Banchereau R, Hong S, Cantarel B, Baldwin N, Baisch J, Edens M, et al. Personalized Immunomonitoring Uncovers Molecular Networks that Stratify Lupus Patients. *Cell*. 2016;165(3):551-65.
- 132. Jourde-Chiche N, Whalen E, Gondouin B, Speake C, Gersuk V, Dussol B, et al. Modular transcriptional repertoire analyses identify a blood neutrophil signature as a candidate biomarker for lupus nephritis. *Rheumatology (Oxford)*. 2017;56(3):477-87.
- 133. Ren Y, Tang J, Mok MY, Chan AW, Wu A, and Lau CS. Increased apoptotic neutrophils and macrophages and impaired macrophage phagocytic clearance of apoptotic neutrophils in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2003;48(10):2888-97.

- 134. Kahlenberg JM, Carmona-Rivera C, Smith CK, and Kaplan MJ. Neutrophil extracellular trap-associated protein activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome is enhanced in lupus macrophages. *J Immunol.* 2013;190(3):1217-26.
- Blanco P, Palucka AK, Gill M, Pascual V, and Banchereau J. Induction of dendritic cell differentiation by IFN-alpha in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Science*. 2001;294(5546):1540-3.
- 136. Decker P, Kotter I, Klein R, Berner B, and Rammensee HG. Monocyte-derived dendritic cells over-express CD86 in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatology* (*Oxford*). 2006;45(9):1087-95.
- 137. Baumann I, Kolowos W, Voll RE, Manger B, Gaipl U, Neuhuber WL, et al. Impaired uptake of apoptotic cells into tingible body macrophages in germinal centers of patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis & Rheumatism.* 2002;46(1):191-201.
- 138. Frank MM, Hamburger MI, Lawley TJ, Kimberly RP, and Plotz PH. Defective reticuloendothelial system Fc-receptor function in systemic lupus erythematosus. *N Engl J Med.* 1979;300(10):518-23.
- 139. Kavai M, and Szegedi G. Immune complex clearance by monocytes and macrophages in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Autoimmun Rev.* 2007;6(7):497-502.
- 140. Labonte AC, Kegerreis B, Geraci NS, Bachali P, Madamanchi S, Robl R, et al. Identification of alterations in macrophage activation associated with disease activity in systemic lupus erythematosus. *PLoS One.* 2018;13(12):e0208132.
- 141. Tsokos GC, Nambiar MP, Tenbrock K, and Juang YT. Rewiring the T-cell: signaling defects and novel prospects for the treatment of SLE. *Trends Immunol.* 2003;24(5):259-63.
- 142. Liossis SN, Ding XZ, Dennis GJ, and Tsokos GC. Altered pattern of TCR/CD3-mediated protein-tyrosyl phosphorylation in T cells from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. Deficient expression of the T cell receptor zeta chain. *J Clin Invest.* 1998;101(7):1448-57.
- 143. Kyttaris VC, Wang Y, Juang YT, Weinstein A, and Tsokos GC. Increased levels of NF-ATc2 differentially regulate CD154 and IL-2 genes in T cells from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol.* 2007;178(3):1960-6.
- 144. Koshy M, Berger D, and Crow MK. Increased expression of CD40 ligand on systemic lupus erythematosus lymphocytes. *J Clin Invest*. 1996;98(3):826-37.
- 145. Desai-Mehta A, Lu L, Ramsey-Goldman R, and Datta SK. Hyperexpression of CD40 ligand by B and T cells in human lupus and its role in pathogenic autoantibody production. *J Clin Invest.* 1996;97(9):2063-73.

- 146. Gergely P, Jr., Grossman C, Niland B, Puskas F, Neupane H, Allam F, et al. Mitochondrial hyperpolarization and ATP depletion in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2002;46(1):175-90.
- 147. Xing Q, Wang B, Su H, Cui J, and Li J. Elevated Th17 cells are accompanied by FoxP3+ Treg cells decrease in patients with lupus nephritis. *Rheumatol Int.* 2012;32(4):949-58.
- 148. Doreau A, Belot A, Bastid J, Riche B, Trescol-Biemont MC, Ranchin B, et al. Interleukin 17 acts in synergy with B cell-activating factor to influence B cell biology and the pathophysiology of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Immunol.* 2009;10(7):778-85.
- 149. Talaat RM, Mohamed SF, Bassyouni IH, and Raouf AA. Th1/Th2/Th17/Treg cytokine imbalance in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients: Correlation with disease activity. *Cytokine*. 2015;72(2):146-53.
- 150. Solomou EE, Juang YT, Gourley MF, Kammer GM, and Tsokos GC. Molecular basis of deficient IL-2 production in T cells from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol.* 2001;166(6):4216-22.
- 151. Lieberman LA, and Tsokos GC. The IL-2 defect in systemic lupus erythematosus disease has an expansive effect on host immunity. *J Biomed Biotechnol.* 2010;2010:740619.
- 152. Wang L, Zhao P, Ma L, Shan Y, Jiang Z, Wang J, et al. Increased interleukin 21 and follicular helper T-like cells and reduced interleukin 10+ B cells in patients with new-onset systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Rheumatol.* 2014;41(9):1781-92.
- 153. Choi JY, Ho JH, Pasoto SG, Bunin V, Kim ST, Carrasco S, et al. Circulating follicular helper-like T cells in systemic lupus erythematosus: association with disease activity. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2015;67(4):988-99.
- 154. Linterman MA, Beaton L, Yu D, Ramiscal RR, Srivastava M, Hogan JJ, et al. IL-21 acts directly on B cells to regulate Bcl-6 expression and germinal center responses. *J Exp Med.* 2010;207(2):353-63.
- 155. Zotos D, Coquet JM, Zhang Y, Light A, D'Costa K, Kallies A, et al. IL-21 regulates germinal center B cell differentiation and proliferation through a B cell-intrinsic mechanism. *J Exp Med.* 2010;207(2):365-78.
- 156. Liossis SN, Kovacs B, Dennis G, Kammer GM, and Tsokos GC. B cells from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus display abnormal antigen receptor-mediated early signal transduction events. *J Clin Invest*. 1996;98(11):2549-57.
- 157. Rodriguez-Bayona B, Ramos-Amaya A, Perez-Venegas JJ, Rodriguez C, and Brieva JA. Decreased frequency and activated phenotype of blood CD27 IgD IgM B lymphocytes is a permanent abnormality in systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Arthritis Res Ther*. 2010;12(3):R108.

- 158. Yurasov S, Wardemann H, Hammersen J, Tsuiji M, Meffre E, Pascual V, et al. Defective B cell tolerance checkpoints in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Exp Med.* 2005;201(5):703-11.
- 159. Odendahl M, Jacobi A, Hansen A, Feist E, Hiepe F, Burmester GR, et al. Disturbed peripheral B lymphocyte homeostasis in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol*. 2000;165(10):5970-9.
- 160. Jacobi AM, Mei H, Hoyer BF, Mumtaz IM, Thiele K, Radbruch A, et al. HLA-DRhigh/CD27high plasmablasts indicate active disease in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2010;69(1):305-8.
- 161. Arce E, Jackson DG, Gill MA, Bennett LB, Banchereau J, and Pascual V. Increased frequency of pre-germinal center B cells and plasma cell precursors in the blood of children with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol*. 2001;167(4):2361-9.
- 162. Thien M, Phan TG, Gardam S, Amesbury M, Basten A, Mackay F, et al. Excess BAFF rescues self-reactive B cells from peripheral deletion and allows them to enter forbidden follicular and marginal zone niches. *Immunity*. 2004;20(6):785-98.
- 163. Litinskiy MB, Nardelli B, Hilbert DM, He B, Schaffer A, Casali P, et al. DCs induce CD40-independent immunoglobulin class switching through BLyS and APRIL. *Nat Immunol.* 2002;3(9):822-9.
- 164. Krieg AM, and Vollmer J. Toll-like receptors 7, 8, and 9: linking innate immunity to autoimmunity. *Immunol Rev.* 2007;220:251-69.
- 165. Viglianti GA, Lau CM, Hanley TM, Miko BA, Shlomchik MJ, and Marshak-Rothstein A. Activation of autoreactive B cells by CpG dsDNA. *Immunity*. 2003;19(6):837-47.
- 166. Mackay M, Stanevsky A, Wang T, Aranow C, Li M, Koenig S, et al. Selective dysregulation of the FcgammaIIB receptor on memory B cells in SLE. *J Exp Med*. 2006;203(9):2157-64.
- 167. Lee AJ, and Ashkar AA. The Dual Nature of Type I and Type II Interferons. *Front Immunol.* 2018;9:2061.
- 168. de Weerd NA, and Nguyen T. The interferons and their receptors--distribution and regulation. *Immunol Cell Biol.* 2012;90(5):483-91.
- 169. McNab F, Mayer-Barber K, Sher A, Wack A, and O'Garra A. Type I interferons in infectious disease. *Nat Rev Immunol.* 2015;15(2):87-103.
- 170. Kurche JS, Haluszczak C, McWilliams JA, Sanchez PJ, and Kedl RM. Type I IFNdependent T cell activation is mediated by IFN-dependent dendritic cell OX40 ligand expression and is independent of T cell IFNR expression. *J Immunol.* 2012;188(2):585-93.
- 171. Simmons DP, Wearsch PA, Canaday DH, Meyerson HJ, Liu YC, Wang Y, et al. Type I IFN drives a distinctive dendritic cell maturation phenotype that allows continued class II MHC synthesis and antigen processing. *J Immunol*. 2012;188(7):3116-26.
- 172. Iijima N, Mattei LM, and Iwasaki A. Recruited inflammatory monocytes stimulate antiviral Th1 immunity in infected tissue. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2011;108(1):284-9.
- 173. Steinberg AD, Baron S, and Talal N. The pathogenesis of autoimmunity in New Zealand mice, I. Induction of antinucleic acid antibodies by polyinosinic-polycytidylic acid. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A.* 1969;63(4):1102-7.
- 174. Nacionales DC, Kelly-Scumpia KM, Lee PY, Weinstein JS, Lyons R, Sobel E, et al. Deficiency of the type I interferon receptor protects mice from experimental lupus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2007;56(11):3770-83.
- 175. Hooks JJ, Moutsopoulos HM, Geis SA, Stahl NI, Decker JL, and Notkins AL. Immune interferon in the circulation of patients with autoimmune disease. *N Engl J Med.* 1979;301(1):5-8.
- 176. Ytterberg SR, and Schnitzer TJ. Serum interferon levels in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1982;25(4):401-6.
- 177. Gota C, and Calabrese L. Induction of clinical autoimmune disease by therapeutic interferon-alpha. *Autoimmunity*. 2003;36(8):511-8.
- 178. Wandl UB, Nagel-Hiemke M, May D, Kreuzfelder E, Kloke O, Kranzhoff M, et al. Lupus-like autoimmune disease induced by interferon therapy for myeloproliferative disorders. *Clinical Immunology and Immunopathology*. 1992;65(1):70-4.
- 179. Niewold TB, and Swedler WI. Systemic lupus erythematosus arising during interferonalpha therapy for cryoglobulinemic vasculitis associated with hepatitis C. *Clin Rheumatol.* 2005;24(2):178-81.
- 180. Lövgren T, Eloranta M-L, Båve U, Alm GV, and Rönnblom L. Induction of interferon-α production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells by immune complexes containing nucleic acid released by necrotic or late apoptotic cells and lupus IgG. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. 2004;50(6):1861-72.
- 181. Lovgren T, Eloranta ML, Kastner B, Wahren-Herlenius M, Alm GV, and Ronnblom L. Induction of interferon-alpha by immune complexes or liposomes containing systemic lupus erythematosus autoantigen- and Sjogren's syndrome autoantigen-associated RNA. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2006;54(6):1917-27.
- 182. Siegal FP, Kadowaki N, Shodell M, Fitzgerald-Bocarsly PA, Shah K, Ho S, et al. The nature of the principal type 1 interferon-producing cells in human blood. *Science*. 1999;284(5421):1835-7.

- 183. Swiecki M, Gilfillan S, Vermi W, Wang Y, and Colonna M. Plasmacytoid dendritic cell ablation impacts early interferon responses and antiviral NK and CD8(+) T cell accrual. *Immunity*. 2010;33(6):955-66.
- 184. Ito T, Kanzler H, Duramad O, Cao W, and Liu YJ. Specialization, kinetics, and repertoire of type 1 interferon responses by human plasmacytoid predendritic cells. *Blood*. 2006;107(6):2423-31.
- 185. Lovgren T, Eloranta ML, Bave U, Alm GV, and Ronnblom L. Induction of interferonalpha production in plasmacytoid dendritic cells by immune complexes containing nucleic acid released by necrotic or late apoptotic cells and lupus IgG. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2004;50(6):1861-72.
- 186. Garcia-Romo GS, Caielli S, Vega B, Connolly J, Allantaz F, Xu Z, et al. Netting neutrophils are major inducers of type I IFN production in pediatric systemic lupus erythematosus. *Sci Transl Med.* 2011;3(73):73ra20.
- 187. Emlen W, Niebur J, and Kadera R. Accelerated in vitro apoptosis of lymphocytes from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Immunol.* 1994;152(7):3685-92.
- 188. Zimmermann M, Arruda-Silva F, Bianchetto-Aguilera F, Finotti G, Calzetti F, Scapini P, et al. IFNalpha enhances the production of IL-6 by human neutrophils activated via TLR8. *Sci Rep.* 2016;6:19674.
- 189. Baechler EC, Batliwalla FM, Karypis G, Gaffney PM, Ortmann WA, Espe KJ, et al. Interferon-inducible gene expression signature in peripheral blood cells of patients with severe lupus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2003;100(5):2610-5.
- 190. Petri M, Singh S, Tesfasyone H, Dedrick R, Fry K, Lal P, et al. Longitudinal expression of type I interferon responsive genes in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus*. 2009;18(11):980-9.
- 191. Weckerle CE, Franek BS, Kelly JA, Kumabe M, Mikolaitis RA, Green SL, et al. Network analysis of associations between serum interferon-α activity, autoantibodies, and clinical features in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*. 2011;63(4):1044-53.
- 192. Siddiqi KZ, Wilhelm TR, Ulff-Moller CJ, and Jacobsen S. Cluster of highly expressed interferon-stimulated genes associate more with African ancestry than disease activity in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. A systematic review of cross-sectional studies. *Transl Res.* 2021;238:63-75.
- 193. Berger SL, Kouzarides T, Shiekhattar R, and Shilatifard A. An operational definition of epigenetics. *Genes Dev.* 2009;23(7):781-3.
- 194. Lister R, Pelizzola M, Dowen RH, Hawkins RD, Hon G, Tonti-Filippini J, et al. Human DNA methylomes at base resolution show widespread epigenomic differences. *Nature*. 2009;462(7271):315-22.

- 195. Hotchkiss RD. The quantitative separation of purines, pyrimidines, and nucleosides by paper chromatography. *J Biol Chem.* 1948;175(1):315-32.
- 196. Compere SJ, and Palmiter RD. DNA methylation controls the inducibility of the mouse metallothionein-I gene in lymphoid cells. *Cell*. 1981;25(1):233-40.
- 197. Holliday R, and Pugh JE. DNA modification mechanisms and gene activity during development. *Science*. 1975;187(4173):226-32.
- 198. Stein R, Gruenbaum Y, Pollack Y, Razin A, and Cedar H. Clonal inheritance of the pattern of DNA methylation in mouse cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1982;79(1):61-5.
- 199. Bestor T, Laudano A, Mattaliano R, and Ingram V. Cloning and sequencing of a cDNA encoding DNA methyltransferase of mouse cells. The carboxyl-terminal domain of the mammalian enzymes is related to bacterial restriction methyltransferases. *J Mol Biol.* 1988;203(4):971-83.
- 200. Riggs AD. X inactivation, differentiation, and DNA methylation. *Cytogenet Cell Genet*. 1975;14(1):9-25.
- 201. Okano M, Xie S, and Li E. Cloning and characterization of a family of novel mammalian DNA (cytosine-5) methyltransferases. *Nat Genet*. 1998;19(3):219-20.
- 202. Lei H, Oh SP, Okano M, Juttermann R, Goss KA, Jaenisch R, et al. De novo DNA cytosine methyltransferase activities in mouse embryonic stem cells. *Development*. 1996;122(10):3195-205.
- 203. Chen T, Ueda Y, Dodge JE, Wang Z, and Li E. Establishment and maintenance of genomic methylation patterns in mouse embryonic stem cells by Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b. *Mol Cell Biol.* 2003;23(16):5594-605.
- 204. Okano M, Bell DW, Haber DA, and Li E. DNA methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b are essential for de novo methylation and mammalian development. *Cell*. 1999;99(3):247-57.
- 205. Chedin F, Lieber MR, and Hsieh CL. The DNA methyltransferase-like protein DNMT3L stimulates de novo methylation by Dnmt3a. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2002;99(26):16916-21.
- 206. Bestor TH. Activation of mammalian DNA methyltransferase by cleavage of a Zn binding regulatory domain. *EMBO J.* 1992;11(7):2611-7.
- 207. Leonhardt H, Page AW, Weier HU, and Bestor TH. A targeting sequence directs DNA methyltransferase to sites of DNA replication in mammalian nuclei. *Cell*. 1992;71(5):865-73.
- 208. Li E, Bestor TH, and Jaenisch R. Targeted mutation of the DNA methyltransferase gene results in embryonic lethality. *Cell.* 1992;69(6):915-26.

- 209. Okano M, Bell DW, Haber DA, and Li E. DNA Methyltransferases Dnmt3a and Dnmt3b Are Essential for De Novo Methylation and Mammalian Development. *Cell*. 1999;99(3):247-57.
- Liao J, Karnik R, Gu H, Ziller MJ, Clement K, Tsankov AM, et al. Targeted disruption of DNMT1, DNMT3A and DNMT3B in human embryonic stem cells. *Nat Genet*. 2015;47(5):469-78.
- 211. Babenko VN, Chadaeva IV, and Orlov YL. Genomic landscape of CpG rich elements in human. *BMC Evol Biol.* 2017;17(Suppl 1):19.
- 212. Kumar S, Chinnusamy V, and Mohapatra T. Epigenetics of Modified DNA Bases: 5-Methylcytosine and Beyond. *Front Genet.* 2018;9:640.
- 213. Bird AP. CpG-rich islands and the function of DNA methylation. *Nature*. 1986;321(6067):209-13.
- 214. Gardiner-Garden M, and Frommer M. CpG islands in vertebrate genomes. *J Mol Biol.* 1987;196(2):261-82.
- 215. Antequera F, and Bird A. Number of CpG islands and genes in human and mouse. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 1993;90(24):11995-9.
- 216. Saxonov S, Berg P, and Brutlag DL. A genome-wide analysis of CpG dinucleotides in the human genome distinguishes two distinct classes of promoters. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2006;103(5):1412-7.
- 217. Du X, Han L, Guo AY, and Zhao Z. Features of methylation and gene expression in the promoter-associated CpG islands using human methylome data. *Comp Funct Genomics*. 2012;2012:598987.
- 218. Newell-Price J, Clark AJL, and King P. DNA Methylation and Silencing of Gene Expression. *Trends in Endocrinology & Metabolism.* 2000;11(4):142-8.
- 219. Irizarry RA, Ladd-Acosta C, Wen B, Wu Z, Montano C, Onyango P, et al. The human colon cancer methylome shows similar hypo- and hypermethylation at conserved tissue-specific CpG island shores. *Nat Genet*. 2009;41(2):178-86.
- 220. Nagae G, Isagawa T, Shiraki N, Fujita T, Yamamoto S, Tsutsumi S, et al. Tissue-specific demethylation in CpG-poor promoters during cellular differentiation. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2011;20(14):2710-21.
- 221. Jjingo D, Conley AB, Yi SV, Lunyak VV, and Jordan IK. On the presence and role of human gene-body DNA methylation. *Oncotarget*. 2012;3(4):462-74.
- 222. Yin Y, Morgunova E, Jolma A, Kaasinen E, Sahu B, Khund-Sayeed S, et al. Impact of cytosine methylation on DNA binding specificities of human transcription factors. *Science*. 2017;356(6337).

- 223. Hendrich B, and Bird A. Identification and characterization of a family of mammalian methyl-CpG binding proteins. *Mol Cell Biol.* 1998;18(11):6538-47.
- 224. Nan X, Ng HH, Johnson CA, Laherty CD, Turner BM, Eisenman RN, et al. Transcriptional repression by the methyl-CpG-binding protein MeCP2 involves a histone deacetylase complex. *Nature*. 1998;393(6683):386-9.
- 225. Ng HH, Zhang Y, Hendrich B, Johnson CA, Turner BM, Erdjument-Bromage H, et al. MBD2 is a transcriptional repressor belonging to the MeCP1 histone deacetylase complex. *Nat Genet.* 1999;23(1):58-61.
- 226. Hodges E, Molaro A, Dos Santos CO, Thekkat P, Song Q, Uren PJ, et al. Directional DNA methylation changes and complex intermediate states accompany lineage specificity in the adult hematopoietic compartment. *Mol Cell*. 2011;44(1):17-28.
- 227. Tahiliani M, Koh KP, Shen Y, Pastor WA, Bandukwala H, Brudno Y, et al. Conversion of 5-methylcytosine to 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in mammalian DNA by MLL partner TET1. *Science*. 2009;324(5929):930-5.
- 228. Wu X, and Zhang Y. TET-mediated active DNA demethylation: mechanism, function and beyond. *Nat Rev Genet.* 2017;18(9):517-34.
- 229. Tsagaratou A, Lio CJ, Yue X, and Rao A. TET Methylcytosine Oxidases in T Cell and B Cell Development and Function. *Front Immunol.* 2017;8:220.
- 230. Lio CJ, and Rao A. TET Enzymes and 5hmC in Adaptive and Innate Immune Systems. *Front Immunol.* 2019;10:210.
- 231. Zhao M, Wang J, Liao W, Li D, Li M, Wu H, et al. Increased 5-hydroxymethylcytosine in CD4(+) T cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Autoimmun*. 2016;69:64-73.
- 232. Schulz WA, Steinhoff C, and Florl AR. Methylation of endogenous human retroelements in health and disease. *Curr Top Microbiol Immunol.* 2006;310:211-50.
- 233. Greenberg MVC, and Bourc'his D. The diverse roles of DNA methylation in mammalian development and disease. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2019;20(10):590-607.
- 234. Okada M, Ogasawara H, Kaneko H, Hishikawa T, Sekigawa I, Hashimoto H, et al. Role of DNA methylation in transcription of human endogenous retrovirus in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Rheumatol.* 2002;29(8):1678-82.
- 235. Disteche CM, and Berletch JB. X-chromosome inactivation and escape. *J Genet*. 2015;94(4):591-9.
- 236. Lyon MF. Sex chromatin and gene action in the mammalian X-chromosome. *Am J Hum Genet*. 1962;14:135-48.

- 237. Mousavi MJ, Mahmoudi M, and Ghotloo S. Escape from X chromosome inactivation and female bias of autoimmune diseases. *Mol Med.* 2020;26(1):127.
- 238. Cotton AM, Price EM, Jones MJ, Balaton BP, Kobor MS, and Brown CJ. Landscape of DNA methylation on the X chromosome reflects CpG density, functional chromatin state and X-chromosome inactivation. *Hum Mol Genet.* 2015;24(6):1528-39.
- 239. Wang J, Syrett CM, Kramer MC, Basu A, Atchison ML, and Anguera MC. Unusual maintenance of X chromosome inactivation predisposes female lymphocytes for increased expression from the inactive X. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2016;113(14):E2029-38.
- 240. Odhams CA, Roberts AL, Vester SK, Duarte CST, Beales CT, Clarke AJ, et al. Interferon inducible X-linked gene CXorf21 may contribute to sexual dimorphism in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Nat Commun.* 2019;10(1):2164.
- 241. Lee PP, Fitzpatrick DR, Beard C, Jessup HK, Lehar S, Makar KW, et al. A Critical Role for Dnmt1 and DNA Methylation in T Cell Development, Function, and Survival. *Immunity*. 2001;15(5):763-74.
- 242. Li J, Li L, Wang Y, Huang G, Li X, Xie Z, et al. Insights Into the Role of DNA Methylation in Immune Cell Development and Autoimmune Disease. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* 2021;9:757318.
- 243. Liu H, Li P, Wei Z, Zhang C, Xia M, Du Q, et al. Regulation of T cell differentiation and function by epigenetic modification enzymes. *Semin Immunopathol.* 2019;41(3):315-26.
- 244. Thomas RM, Gamper CJ, Ladle BH, Powell JD, and Wells AD. De novo DNA methylation is required to restrict T helper lineage plasticity. *J Biol Chem.* 2012;287(27):22900-9.
- 245. Santangelo S, Cousins DJ, Winkelmann NE, and Staynov DZ. DNA methylation changes at human Th2 cytokine genes coincide with DNase I hypersensitive site formation during CD4(+) T cell differentiation. *J Immunol*. 2002;169(4):1893-903.
- 246. Yang BH, Floess S, Hagemann S, Deyneko IV, Groebe L, Pezoldt J, et al. Development of a unique epigenetic signature during in vivo Th17 differentiation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2015;43(3):1537-48.
- 247. Lal G, Zhang N, van der Touw W, Ding Y, Ju W, Bottinger EP, et al. Epigenetic regulation of Foxp3 expression in regulatory T cells by DNA methylation. *J Immunol*. 2009;182(1):259-73.
- 248. Cobaleda C, Schebesta A, Delogu A, and Busslinger M. Pax5: the guardian of B cell identity and function. *Nat Immunol.* 2007;8(5):463-70.

- 249. Shaknovich R, Cerchietti L, Tsikitas L, Kormaksson M, De S, Figueroa ME, et al. DNA methyltransferase 1 and DNA methylation patterning contribute to germinal center B-cell differentiation. *Blood*. 2011;118(13):3559-69.
- 250. Lai AY, Mav D, Shah R, Grimm SA, Phadke D, Hatzi K, et al. DNA methylation profiling in human B cells reveals immune regulatory elements and epigenetic plasticity at Alu elements during B-cell activation. *Genome Res.* 2013;23(12):2030-41.
- 251. Ji H, Ehrlich LI, Seita J, Murakami P, Doi A, Lindau P, et al. Comprehensive methylome map of lineage commitment from haematopoietic progenitors. *Nature*. 2010;467(7313):338-42.
- 252. Ronnerblad M, Andersson R, Olofsson T, Douagi I, Karimi M, Lehmann S, et al. Analysis of the DNA methylome and transcriptome in granulopoiesis reveals timed changes and dynamic enhancer methylation. *Blood*. 2014;123(17):e79-89.
- 253. Dekkers KF, Neele AE, Jukema JW, Heijmans BT, and de Winther MPJ. Human monocyte-to-macrophage differentiation involves highly localized gain and loss of DNA methylation at transcription factor binding sites. *Epigenetics Chromatin.* 2019;12(1):34.
- 254. Cornacchia E, Golbus J, Maybaum J, Strahler J, Hanash S, and Richardson B. Hydralazine and procainamide inhibit T cell DNA methylation and induce autoreactivity. *J Immunol*. 1988;140(7):2197-200.
- 255. Richardson B. Effect of an inhibitor of DNA methylation on T cells. II. 5-Azacytidine induces self-reactivity in antigen-specific T4+ cells. *Hum Immunol*. 1986;17(4):456-70.
- 256. Oelke K, Lu Q, Richardson D, Wu A, Deng C, Hanash S, et al. Overexpression of CD70 and overstimulation of IgG synthesis by lupus T cells and T cells treated with DNA methylation inhibitors. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2004;50(6):1850-60.
- 257. Zhou Y, Yuan J, Pan Y, Fei Y, Qiu X, Hu N, et al. T cell CD40LG gene expression and the production of IgG by autologous B cells in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Immunol.* 2009;132(3):362-70.
- 258. Richardson B, Scheinbart L, Strahler J, Gross L, Hanash S, and Johnson M. Evidence for impaired T cell DNA methylation in systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Rheum.* 1990;33(11):1665-73.
- 259. Richardson B, Ray D, and Yung R. Murine models of lupus induced by hypomethylated T cells. *Methods Mol Med.* 2004;102:285-94.
- 260. Quddus J, Johnson KJ, Gavalchin J, Amento EP, Chrisp CE, Yung RL, et al. Treating activated CD4+ T cells with either of two distinct DNA methyltransferase inhibitors, 5-azacytidine or procainamide, is sufficient to cause a lupus-like disease in syngeneic mice. *J Clin Invest.* 1993;92(1):38-53.

- 261. Javierre BM, Fernandez AF, Richter J, Al-Shahrour F, Martin-Subero JI, Rodriguez-Ubreva J, et al. Changes in the pattern of DNA methylation associate with twin discordance in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Genome Res.* 2010;20(2):170-9.
- 262. Jeffries MA, Dozmorov M, Tang Y, Merrill JT, Wren JD, and Sawalha AH. Genomewide DNA methylation patterns in CD4+ T cells from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Epigenetics*. 2011;6(5):593-601.
- 263. Absher DM, Li X, Waite LL, Gibson A, Roberts K, Edberg J, et al. Genome-wide DNA methylation analysis of systemic lupus erythematosus reveals persistent hypomethylation of interferon genes and compositional changes to CD4+ T-cell populations. *PLoS Genet*. 2013;9(8):e1003678.
- 264. Coit P, Jeffries M, Altorok N, Dozmorov MG, Koelsch KA, Wren JD, et al. Genomewide DNA methylation study suggests epigenetic accessibility and transcriptional poising of interferon-regulated genes in naive CD4+ T cells from lupus patients. *J Autoimmun*. 2013;43:78-84.
- 265. Renauer P, Coit P, Jeffries MA, Merrill JT, McCune WJ, Maksimowicz-McKinnon K, et al. DNA methylation patterns in naive CD4+ T cells identify epigenetic susceptibility loci for malar rash and discoid rash in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Lupus Sci Med.* 2015;2(1):e000101.
- 266. Coit P, Renauer P, Jeffries MA, Merrill JT, McCune WJ, Maksimowicz-McKinnon K, et al. Renal involvement in lupus is characterized by unique DNA methylation changes in naive CD4+ T cells. *J Autoimmun*. 2015;61:29-35.
- 267. Mok A, Solomon O, Nayak RR, Coit P, Quach HL, Nititham J, et al. Genome-wide profiling identifies associations between lupus nephritis and differential methylation of genes regulating tissue hypoxia and type 1 interferon responses. *Lupus Sci Med.* 2016;3(1):e000183.
- 268. Coit P, Dozmorov MG, Merrill JT, McCune WJ, Maksimowicz-McKinnon K, Wren JD, et al. Epigenetic Reprogramming in Naive CD4+ T Cells Favoring T Cell Activation and Non-Th1 Effector T Cell Immune Response as an Early Event in Lupus Flares. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2016;68(9):2200-9.
- 269. Vire E, Brenner C, Deplus R, Blanchon L, Fraga M, Didelot C, et al. The Polycomb group protein EZH2 directly controls DNA methylation. *Nature*. 2006;439(7078):871-4.
- 270. Tsou PS, Coit P, Kilian NC, and Sawalha AH. EZH2 Modulates the DNA Methylome and Controls T Cell Adhesion Through Junctional Adhesion Molecule A in Lupus Patients. *Arthritis Rheumatol.* 2018;70(1):98-108.
- 271. Rohraff DM, He Y, Farkash EA, Schonfeld M, Tsou PS, and Sawalha AH. Inhibition of EZH2 Ameliorates Lupus-Like Disease in MRL/lpr Mice. *Arthritis Rheumatol*. 2019;71(10):1681-90.

- 272. Sawalha A, Zheng XQ, and Tsou PS. Increased expression of EZH2 is mediated by higher glycolysis and mTORC1 activation in lupus CD4+T cells. *Journal of Immunology*. 2020;204(1).
- 273. Strickland FM, Patel D, Khanna D, Somers E, Robida AM, Pihalja M, et al. Characterisation of an epigenetically altered CD4(+) CD28(+) Kir(+) T cell subset in autoimmune rheumatic diseases by multiparameter flow cytometry. *Lupus Sci Med.* 2016;3(1):e000147.
- 274. Gensterblum E, Renauer P, Coit P, Strickland FM, Kilian NC, Miller S, et al. CD4+CD28+KIR+CD11a(hi) T cells correlate with disease activity and are characterized by a pro-inflammatory epigenetic and transcriptional profile in lupus patients. *J Autoimmun.* 2018;86:19-28.
- 275. Coit P, Yalavarthi S, Ognenovski M, Zhao W, Hasni S, Wren JD, et al. Epigenome profiling reveals significant DNA demethylation of interferon signature genes in lupus neutrophils. *J Autoimmun*. 2015;58:59-66.
- 276. Miller S, Tsou PS, Coit P, Gensterblum-Miller E, Renauer P, Rohraff DM, et al. Hypomethylation of STAT1 and HLA-DRB1 is associated with type-I interferondependent HLA-DRB1 expression in lupus CD8+ T cells. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2019;78(4):519-28.
- 277. Dean GS, Anand A, Blofeld A, Isenberg DA, and Lydyard PM. Characterization of CD3+ CD4- CD8- (double negative) T cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus: production of IL-4. *Lupus*. 2002;11(8):501-7.
- 278. Crispin JC, Oukka M, Bayliss G, Cohen RA, Van Beek CA, Stillman IE, et al. Expanded double negative T cells in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus produce IL-17 and infiltrate the kidneys. *J Immunol*. 2008;181(12):8761-6.
- 279. Renauer PA, Coit P, and Sawalha AH. The DNA methylation signature of human TCRalphabeta+CD4-CD8- double negative T cells reveals CG demethylation and a unique epigenetic architecture permissive to a broad stimulatory immune response. *Clin Immunol.* 2015;156(1):19-27.
- 280. Li H, Tsokos MG, Bickerton S, Sharabi A, Li Y, Moulton VR, et al. Precision DNA demethylation ameliorates disease in lupus-prone mice. *JCI Insight*. 2018;3(16).
- 281. Nakkuntod J, Avihingsanon Y, Mutirangura A, and Hirankarn N. Hypomethylation of LINE-1 but not Alu in lymphocyte subsets of systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Clin Chim Acta*. 2011;412(15-16):1457-61.
- 282. Nakkuntod J, Sukkapan P, Avihingsanon Y, Mutirangura A, and Hirankarn N. DNA methylation of human endogenous retrovirus in systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Hum Genet.* 2013;58(5):241-9.

- 283. Sukapan P, Promnarate P, Avihingsanon Y, Mutirangura A, and Hirankarn N. Types of DNA methylation status of the interspersed repetitive sequences for LINE-1, Alu, HERV-E and HERV-K in the neutrophils from systemic lupus erythematosus patients and healthy controls. *J Hum Genet*. 2014;59(4):178-88.
- 284. Lanata CM, Paranjpe I, Nititham J, Taylor KE, Gianfrancesco M, Paranjpe M, et al. A phenotypic and genomics approach in a multi-ethnic cohort to subtype systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Commun.* 2019;10(1):3902.
- 285. Galanter JM, Gignoux CR, Oh SS, Torgerson D, Pino-Yanes M, Thakur N, et al. Differential methylation between ethnic sub-groups reflects the effect of genetic ancestry and environmental exposures. *Elife*. 2017;6.
- 286. Husquin LT, Rotival M, Fagny M, Quach H, Zidane N, McEwen LM, et al. Exploring the genetic basis of human population differences in DNA methylation and their causal impact on immune gene regulation. *Genome Biol.* 2018;19(1):222.
- 287. Joseph S, George NI, Green-Knox B, Treadwell EL, Word B, Yim S, et al. Epigenomewide association study of peripheral blood mononuclear cells in systemic lupus erythematosus: Identifying DNA methylation signatures associated with interferonrelated genes based on ethnicity and SLEDAI. *J Autoimmun*. 2019;96:147-57.
- 288. Coit P, Ognenovski M, Gensterblum E, Maksimowicz-McKinnon K, Wren JD, and Sawalha AH. Ethnicity-specific epigenetic variation in naive CD4+ T cells and the susceptibility to autoimmunity. *Epigenetics Chromatin.* 2015;8:49.
- 289. Zhao M, Zhou Y, Zhu B, Wan M, Jiang T, Tan Q, et al. IFI44L promoter methylation as a blood biomarker for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Ann Rheum Dis.* 2016;75(11):1998-2006.
- 290. Zhang B, Zhou T, Wu H, Zhao M, and Lu Q. Difference of IFI44L methylation and serum IFN-a1 level among patients with discoid and systemic lupus erythematosus and healthy individuals. *J Transl Autoimmun.* 2021;4:100092.
- 291. Tsokos GC. Autoimmunity and organ damage in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Immunol.* 2020;21(6):605-14.
- 292. Gyori N, Giannakou I, Chatzidionysiou K, Magder L, van Vollenhoven RF, and Petri M. Disease activity patterns over time in patients with SLE: analysis of the Hopkins Lupus Cohort. *Lupus science & medicine*. 2017;4(1):e000192.
- 293. Alarcon GS, Ugarte-Gil MF, Pons-Estel G, Vila LM, Reveille JD, and McGwin G, Jr. Remission and low disease activity state (LDAS) are protective of intermediate and longterm outcomes in SLE patients. Results from LUMINA (LXXVIII), a multiethnic, multicenter US cohort. *Lupus*. 2019;28(3):423-6.

- 294. Han GM, Chen SL, Shen N, Ye S, Bao CD, and Gu YY. Analysis of gene expression profiles in human systemic lupus erythematosus using oligonucleotide microarray. *Genes Immun.* 2003;4(3):177-86.
- 295. Bennett L, Palucka AK, Arce E, Cantrell V, Borvak J, Banchereau J, et al. Interferon and granulopoiesis signatures in systemic lupus erythematosus blood. *J Exp Med*. 2003;197(6):711-23.
- 296. Mistry P, Nakabo S, O'Neil L, Goel RR, Jiang K, Carmona-Rivera C, et al. Transcriptomic, epigenetic, and functional analyses implicate neutrophil diversity in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*. 2019;116(50):25222-8.
- 297. Teruel M, and Sawalha AH. Epigenetic Variability in Systemic Lupus Erythematosus: What We Learned from Genome-Wide DNA Methylation Studies. *Curr Rheumatol Rep.* 2017;19(6):32.
- 298. Gonzalez LA, Toloza SM, and Alarcon GS. Impact of race and ethnicity in the course and outcome of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am*. 2014;40(3):433-54, vii-viii.
- 299. Ballestar E, Sawalha AH, and Lu Q. Clinical value of DNA methylation markers in autoimmune rheumatic diseases. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* 2020;16(9):514-24.
- 300. Hochberg MC. Updating the American College of Rheumatology revised criteria for the classification of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*. 1997;40(9):1725.
- 301. Clark RA, and Nauseef WM. Isolation and functional analysis of neutrophils. *Curr Protoc Immunol.* 2001;Chapter 7:Unit 7 23.
- 302. Team RC. R: A Language and Environment for Statistical Computing. 2020.
- 303. Aryee MJ, Jaffe AE, Corrada-Bravo H, Ladd-Acosta C, Feinberg AP, Hansen KD, et al. Minfi: a flexible and comprehensive Bioconductor package for the analysis of Infinium DNA methylation microarrays. *Bioinformatics*. 2014;30(10):1363-9.
- 304. Fortin JP, Triche TJ, Jr., and Hansen KD. Preprocessing, normalization and integration of the Illumina HumanMethylationEPIC array with minfi. *Bioinformatics*. 2017;33(4):558-60.
- 305. Sinke L, van Iterson, Maarten, Cats, Davy, Slieker, Roderick & Heijmans, Bas. DNAmArray: Streamlined workflow for the quality control, normalization, and analysis of Illumina methylation array data. *Zenodoa*. 2019.
- 306. Fortin JP, Labbe A, Lemire M, Zanke BW, Hudson TJ, Fertig EJ, et al. Functional normalization of 450k methylation array data improves replication in large cancer studies. *Genome Biol.* 2014;15(12):503.

- 307. Zhou W, Laird PW, and Shen H. Comprehensive characterization, annotation and innovative use of Infinium DNA methylation BeadChip probes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2017;45(4):e22.
- 308. Leek JT, Johnson WE, Parker HS, Jaffe AE, and Storey JD. The sva package for removing batch effects and other unwanted variation in high-throughput experiments. *Bioinformatics*. 2012;28(6):882-3.
- 309. Chavent M, Kuentz-Simonet V, Labenne A, and Saracco J. Multivariate analysis of mixed data: The R Package PCAmixdata. *arXiv preprint arXiv:14114911*. 2014.
- 310. Salas LA, Koestler DC, Butler RA, Hansen HM, Wiencke JK, Kelsey KT, et al. An optimized library for reference-based deconvolution of whole-blood biospecimens assayed using the Illumina HumanMethylationEPIC BeadArray. *Genome Biol.* 2018;19(1):64.
- 311. Chang CC, Chow CC, Tellier LC, Vattikuti S, Purcell SM, and Lee JJ. Second-generation PLINK: rising to the challenge of larger and richer datasets. *Gigascience*. 2015;4:7.
- 312. Price AL, Patterson NJ, Plenge RM, Weinblatt ME, Shadick NA, and Reich D. Principal components analysis corrects for stratification in genome-wide association studies. *Nat Genet*. 2006;38(8):904-9.
- 313. Chen J, Bardes EE, Aronow BJ, and Jegga AG. ToppGene Suite for gene list enrichment analysis and candidate gene prioritization. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2009;37(Web Server issue):W305-11.
- Rusinova I, Forster S, Yu S, Kannan A, Masse M, Cumming H, et al. Interferome v2.0: an updated database of annotated interferon-regulated genes. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2013;41(Database issue):D1040-6.
- 315. Rincon E, Rocha-Gregg BL, and Collins SR. A map of gene expression in neutrophil-like cell lines. *BMC Genomics*. 2018;19(1):573.
- 316. Ear T, and McDonald PP. Cytokine generation, promoter activation, and oxidantindependent NF-kappaB activation in a transfectable human neutrophilic cellular model. *BMC Immunol.* 2008;9:14.
- 317. Marin-Esteban V, Turbica I, Dufour G, Semiramoth N, Gleizes A, Gorges R, et al. Afa/Dr Diffusely Adhering Escherichia coli Strain C1845 Induces Neutrophil Extracellular Traps That Kill Bacteria and Damage Human Enterocyte-Like Cells. *Infect Immun.* 2012;80(5):1891-9.
- 318. Ritchie ME, Phipson B, Wu D, Hu Y, Law CW, Shi W, et al. limma powers differential expression analyses for RNA-sequencing and microarray studies. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2015;43(7):e47.

- 319. Shabalin AA. Matrix eQTL: ultra fast eQTL analysis via large matrix operations. *Bioinformatics*. 2012;28(10):1353-8.
- 320. Kuznetsova A, Brockhoff PB, and Christensen RHB. ImerTest Package: Tests in Linear Mixed Effects Models. *Journal of Statistical Software*. 2017;82(13).
- 321. Barton K. MuMIn: Multi-Model Inference. 2020.
- 322. Pidsley R, Zotenko E, Peters TJ, Lawrence MG, Risbridger GP, Molloy P, et al. Critical evaluation of the Illumina MethylationEPIC BeadChip microarray for whole-genome DNA methylation profiling. *Genome Biol.* 2016;17(1):208.
- 323. Bentham J, Morris DL, Graham DSC, Pinder CL, Tombleson P, Behrens TW, et al. Genetic association analyses implicate aberrant regulation of innate and adaptive immunity genes in the pathogenesis of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Genet*. 2015;47(12):1457-64.
- 324. Han JW, Zheng HF, Cui Y, Sun LD, Ye DQ, Hu Z, et al. Genome-wide association study in a Chinese Han population identifies nine new susceptibility loci for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Nat Genet.* 2009;41(11):1234-7.
- 325. Alarcon-Riquelme ME, Ziegler JT, Molineros J, Howard TD, Moreno-Estrada A, Sanchez-Rodriguez E, et al. Genome-Wide Association Study in an Amerindian Ancestry Population Reveals Novel Systemic Lupus Erythematosus Risk Loci and the Role of European Admixture. *Arthritis & rheumatology (Hoboken, NJ)*. 2016;68(4):932-43.
- 326. Lee YH, Bae SC, Choi SJ, Ji JD, and Song GG. Genome-wide pathway analysis of genome-wide association studies on systemic lupus erythematosus and rheumatoid arthritis. *Mol Biol Rep.* 2012;39(12):10627-35.
- 327. Gabelloni ML, Sabbione F, Jancic C, Fuxman Bass J, Keitelman I, Iula L, et al. NADPH oxidase derived reactive oxygen species are involved in human neutrophil IL-1beta secretion but not in inflammasome activation. *Eur J Immunol.* 2013;43(12):3324-35.
- 328. Testerman TL, Gerster JF, Imbertson LM, Reiter MJ, Miller RL, Gibson SJ, et al. Cytokine induction by the immunomodulators imiquimod and S-27609. *J Leukoc Biol*. 1995;58(3):365-72.
- Hilda JN, and Das SD. TLR stimulation of human neutrophils lead to increased release of MCP-1, MIP-1alpha, IL-1beta, IL-8 and TNF during tuberculosis. *Hum Immunol*. 2016;77(1):63-7.
- 330. Gschwandtner M, Derler R, and Midwood KS. More Than Just Attractive: How CCL2 Influences Myeloid Cell Behavior Beyond Chemotaxis. *Front Immunol.* 2019;10:2759.
- 331. Chen T, Li Y, Sun R, Hu H, Liu Y, Herrmann M, et al. Receptor-Mediated NETosis on Neutrophils. *Front Immunol.* 2021;12:775267.

- 332. Xie K, Varatnitskaya M, Maghnouj A, Bader V, Winklhofer KF, Hahn S, et al. Activation leads to a significant shift in the intracellular redox homeostasis of neutrophillike cells. *Redox Biol.* 2020;28:101344.
- 333. Amulic B, Cazalet C, Hayes GL, Metzler KD, and Zychlinsky A. Neutrophil function: from mechanisms to disease. *Annu Rev Immunol.* 2012;30:459-89.
- 334. Kaplan MJ. Role of neutrophils in systemic autoimmune diseases. *Arthritis Res Ther.* 2013;15(5):219.
- 335. Park J, Kim Y, Lee S, Park JJ, Park ZY, Sun W, et al. SNX18 shares a redundant role with SNX9 and modulates endocytic trafficking at the plasma membrane. *J Cell Sci.* 2010;123(Pt 10):1742-50.
- 336. Knaevelsrud H, Soreng K, Raiborg C, Haberg K, Rasmuson F, Brech A, et al. Membrane remodeling by the PX-BAR protein SNX18 promotes autophagosome formation. *J Cell Biol.* 2013;202(2):331-49.
- 337. Consortium EP. An integrated encyclopedia of DNA elements in the human genome. *Nature*. 2012;489(7414):57-74.
- 338. Szczur K, Xu H, Atkinson S, Zheng Y, and Filippi MD. Rho GTPase CDC42 regulates directionality and random movement via distinct MAPK pathways in neutrophils. *Blood*. 2006;108(13):4205-13.
- 339. Quintero-Del-Rio AI, Kelly JA, Kilpatrick J, James JA, and Harley JB. The genetics of systemic lupus erythematosus stratified by renal disease: linkage at 10q22.3 (SLEN1), 2q34-35 (SLEN2), and 11p15.6 (SLEN3). *Genes Immun.* 2002;3 Suppl 1:S57-62.
- 340. Rossman KL, Der CJ, and Sondek J. GEF means go: turning on RHO GTPases with guanine nucleotide-exchange factors. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2005;6(2):167-80.
- 341. Deaton AM, and Bird A. CpG islands and the regulation of transcription. *Genes Dev.* 2011;25(10):1010-22.
- 342. Pantarelli C, and Welch HCE. Rac-GTPases and Rac-GEFs in neutrophil adhesion, migration and recruitment. *Eur J Clin Invest.* 2018;48 Suppl 2:e12939.
- 343. Sabroe I, Dower SK, and Whyte MK. The role of Toll-like receptors in the regulation of neutrophil migration, activation, and apoptosis. *Clin Infect Dis.* 2005;41 Suppl 7:S421-6.
- 344. Mussbacher M, Salzmann M, Brostjan C, Hoesel B, Schoergenhofer C, Datler H, et al. Cell Type-Specific Roles of NF-kappaB Linking Inflammation and Thrombosis. *Front Immunol.* 2019;10:85.
- 345. Castro-Alcaraz S, Miskolci V, Kalasapudi B, Davidson D, and Vancurova I. NF-kappa B regulation in human neutrophils by nuclear I kappa B alpha: correlation to apoptosis. *J Immunol.* 2002;169(7):3947-53.

- 346. Israel A. The IKK complex, a central regulator of NF-kappaB activation. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* 2010;2(3):a000158.
- 347. Zhou H, Wertz I, O'Rourke K, Ultsch M, Seshagiri S, Eby M, et al. Bcl10 activates the NF-kappaB pathway through ubiquitination of NEMO. *Nature*. 2004;427(6970):167-71.
- 348. Mathy NL, Scheuer W, Lanzendorfer M, Honold K, Ambrosius D, Norley S, et al. Interleukin-16 stimulates the expression and production of pro-inflammatory cytokines by human monocytes. *Immunology*. 2000;100(1):63-9.
- 349. Parada NA, Center DM, Kornfeld H, Rodriguez WL, Cook J, Vallen M, et al. Synergistic activation of CD4+ T cells by IL-16 and IL-2. *J Immunol*. 1998;160(5):2115-20.
- 350. McFadden C, Morgan R, Rahangdale S, Green D, Yamasaki H, Center D, et al. Preferential migration of T regulatory cells induced by IL-16. *J Immunol*. 2007;179(10):6439-45.
- 351. Roth S, Agthe M, Eickhoff S, Moller S, Karsten CM, Borregaard N, et al. Secondary necrotic neutrophils release interleukin-16C and macrophage migration inhibitory factor from stores in the cytosol. *Cell Death Discov.* 2015;1:15056.
- 352. Lard LR, Roep BO, Verburgh CA, Zwinderman AH, and Huizinga TW. Elevated IL-16 levels in patients with systemic lupus erythematosus are associated with disease severity but not with genetic susceptibility to lupus. *Lupus*. 2002;11(3):181-5.
- 353. Lee S, Kaneko H, Sekigawa I, Tokano Y, Takasaki Y, and Hashimoto H. Circulating interleukin-16 in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Br J Rheumatol.* 1998;37(12):1334-7.
- 354. Mahajan A, Herrmann M, and Munoz LE. Clearance Deficiency and Cell Death Pathways: A Model for the Pathogenesis of SLE. *Front Immunol.* 2016;7:35.
- 355. Ramirez-Ortiz ZG, Prasad A, Griffith JW, Pendergraft WF, 3rd, Cowley GS, Root DE, et al. The receptor TREML4 amplifies TLR7-mediated signaling during antiviral responses and autoimmunity. *Nat Immunol.* 2015;16(5):495-504.
- 356. Sharifi-Zarchi A, Gerovska D, Adachi K, Totonchi M, Pezeshk H, Taft RJ, et al. DNA methylation regulates discrimination of enhancers from promoters through a H3K4me1-H3K4me3 seesaw mechanism. *BMC Genomics*. 2017;18(1):964.
- 357. Hemmi H, Idoyaga J, Suda K, Suda N, Kennedy K, Noda M, et al. A new triggering receptor expressed on myeloid cells (Trem) family member, Trem-like 4, binds to dead cells and is a DNAX activation protein 12-linked marker for subsets of mouse macrophages and dendritic cells. *J Immunol.* 2009;182(3):1278-86.
- 358. Devarapu SK, and Anders HJ. Toll-like receptors in lupus nephritis. *J Biomed Sci.* 2018;25(1):35.

- 359. Lyn-Cook BD, Xie C, Oates J, Treadwell E, Word B, Hammons G, et al. Increased expression of Toll-like receptors (TLRs) 7 and 9 and other cytokines in systemic lupus erythematosus (SLE) patients: ethnic differences and potential new targets for therapeutic drugs. *Mol Immunol.* 2014;61(1):38-43.
- 360. Summers C, Rankin SM, Condliffe AM, Singh N, Peters AM, and Chilvers ER. Neutrophil kinetics in health and disease. *Trends Immunol.* 2010;31(8):318-24.
- 361. Saitoh T, Komano J, Saitoh Y, Misawa T, Takahama M, Kozaki T, et al. Neutrophil extracellular traps mediate a host defense response to human immunodeficiency virus-1. *Cell Host Microbe*. 2012;12(1):109-16.
- 362. Hiroki CH, Toller-Kawahisa JE, Fumagalli MJ, Colon DF, Figueiredo LTM, Fonseca B, et al. Neutrophil Extracellular Traps Effectively Control Acute Chikungunya Virus Infection. *Front Immunol.* 2019;10:3108.
- 363. Moulton VR, and Tsokos GC. T cell signaling abnormalities contribute to aberrant immune cell function and autoimmunity. *J Clin Invest*. 2015;125(6):2220-7.
- 364. Olesinska M, and Saletra A. Quality of life in systemic lupus erythematosus and its measurement. *Reumatologia*. 2018;56(1):45-54.
- 365. Lewis MJ, and Jawad AS. The effect of ethnicity and genetic ancestry on the epidemiology, clinical features and outcome of systemic lupus erythematosus. *Rheumatology (Oxford).* 2017;56(suppl\_1):i67-i77.
- 366. Sun C, Molineros JE, Looger LL, Zhou XJ, Kim K, Okada Y, et al. High-density genotyping of immune-related loci identifies new SLE risk variants in individuals with Asian ancestry. *Nat Genet.* 2016;48(3):323-30.
- 367. Generali E, Ceribelli A, Stazi MA, and Selmi C. Lessons learned from twins in autoimmune and chronic inflammatory diseases. *J Autoimmun*. 2017;83:51-61.
- 368. Lu Q, Wu A, Tesmer L, Ray D, Yousif N, and Richardson B. Demethylation of CD40LG on the inactive X in T cells from women with lupus. *J Immunol.* 2007;179(9):6352-8.
- 369. Lu Q, Wu A, and Richardson BC. Demethylation of the same promoter sequence increases CD70 expression in lupus T cells and T cells treated with lupus-inducing drugs. *J Immunol*. 2005;174(10):6212-9.
- 370. Lu Q, Kaplan M, Ray D, Ray D, Zacharek S, Gutsch D, et al. Demethylation of ITGAL (CD11a) regulatory sequences in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum*. 2002;46(5):1282-91.
- 371. Sawalha AH, Jeffries M, Webb R, Lu Q, Gorelik G, Ray D, et al. Defective T-cell ERK signaling induces interferon-regulated gene expression and overexpression of methylation-sensitive genes similar to lupus patients. *Genes Immun.* 2008;9(4):368-78.

- 372. Hedrich CM, Mabert K, Rauen T, and Tsokos GC. DNA methylation in systemic lupus erythematosus. *Epigenomics*. 2017;9(4):505-25.
- 373. Coit P, Ortiz-Fernandez L, Lewis EE, McCune WJ, Maksimowicz-McKinnon K, and Sawalha AH. A longitudinal and transancestral analysis of DNA methylation patterns and disease activity in lupus patients. *JCI Insight*. 2020;5(22).
- 374. Flanagan JM. Epigenome-wide association studies (EWAS): past, present, and future. *Methods Mol Biol.* 2015;1238:51-63.
- 375. Rahmani E, Yedidim R, Shenhav L, Schweiger R, Weissbrod O, Zaitlen N, et al. GLINT: a user-friendly toolset for the analysis of high-throughput DNA-methylation array data. *Bioinformatics*. 2017;33(12):1870-2.
- 376. Chen YA, Lemire M, Choufani S, Butcher DT, Grafodatskaya D, Zanke BW, et al. Discovery of cross-reactive probes and polymorphic CpGs in the Illumina Infinium HumanMethylation450 microarray. *Epigenetics*. 2013;8(2):203-9.
- 377. Rahmani E, Shenhav L, Schweiger R, Yousefi P, Huen K, Eskenazi B, et al. Genomewide methylation data mirror ancestry information. *Epigenetics Chromatin*. 2017;10:1.
- 378. Leek JT, and Storey JD. Capturing heterogeneity in gene expression studies by surrogate variable analysis. *PLoS Genet.* 2007;3(9):1724-35.
- Pedregosa F, Varoquaux G, Gramfort A, Michel V, Thirion B, Grisel O, et al. Scikitlearn: Machine learning in Python. *the Journal of machine Learning research*. 2011;12:2825-30.
- 380. Johnson WE, Li C, and Rabinovic A. Adjusting batch effects in microarray expression data using empirical Bayes methods. *Biostatistics*. 2007;8(1):118-27.
- 381. Hubbard T, Barker D, Birney E, Cameron G, Chen Y, Clark L, et al. The Ensembl genome database project. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2002;30(1):38-41.
- 382. Consortium F, the RP, Clst, Forrest AR, Kawaji H, Rehli M, et al. A promoter-level mammalian expression atlas. *Nature*. 2014;507(7493):462-70.
- 383. Dale RK, Pedersen BS, and Quinlan AR. Pybedtools: a flexible Python library for manipulating genomic datasets and annotations. *Bioinformatics*. 2011;27(24):3423-4.
- 384. Kuleshov MV, Jones MR, Rouillard AD, Fernandez NF, Duan Q, Wang Z, et al. Enrichr: a comprehensive gene set enrichment analysis web server 2016 update. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2016;44(W1):W90-7.
- 385. Barrett T, Wilhite SE, Ledoux P, Evangelista C, Kim IF, Tomashevsky M, et al. NCBI GEO: archive for functional genomics data sets--update. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2013;41(Database issue):D991-5.

- 386. Wang T, Guan W, Lin J, Boutaoui N, Canino G, Luo J, et al. A systematic study of normalization methods for Infinium 450K methylation data using whole-genome bisulfite sequencing data. *Epigenetics*. 2015;10(7):662-9.
- 387. Virtanen P, Gommers R, Oliphant TE, Haberland M, Reddy T, Cournapeau D, et al. SciPy 1.0: fundamental algorithms for scientific computing in Python. *Nat Methods*. 2020;17(3):261-72.
- 388. Ward LD, and Kellis M. HaploReg: a resource for exploring chromatin states, conservation, and regulatory motif alterations within sets of genetically linked variants. *Nucleic Acids Research*. 2012;40(D1):D930-D4.
- 389. Harley ITW, and Sawalha AH. Systemic lupus erythematosus as a genetic disease. *Clin Immunol.* 2022;236:108953.
- 390. Irizarry RA, Hobbs B, Collin F, Beazer-Barclay YD, Antonellis KJ, Scherf U, et al. Exploration, normalization, and summaries of high density oligonucleotide array probe level data. *Biostatistics*. 2003;4(2):249-64.
- 391. Roadmap Epigenomics C, Kundaje A, Meuleman W, Ernst J, Bilenky M, Yen A, et al. Integrative analysis of 111 reference human epigenomes. *Nature*. 2015;518(7539):317-30.
- 392. Li D, Hsu S, Purushotham D, Sears RL, and Wang T. WashU Epigenome Browser update 2019. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2019;47(W1):W158-W65.
- 393. Gebert LFR, and MacRae IJ. Regulation of microRNA function in animals. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol.* 2019;20(1):21-37.
- 394. Shen N, Liang D, Tang Y, de Vries N, and Tak PP. MicroRNAs--novel regulators of systemic lupus erythematosus pathogenesis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* 2012;8(12):701-9.
- 395. Pan W, Zhu S, Yuan M, Cui H, Wang L, Luo X, et al. MicroRNA-21 and microRNA-148a contribute to DNA hypomethylation in lupus CD4+ T cells by directly and indirectly targeting DNA methyltransferase 1. *J Immunol.* 2010;184(12):6773-81.
- 396. Zhao S, Wang Y, Liang Y, Zhao M, Long H, Ding S, et al. MicroRNA-126 regulates DNA methylation in CD4+ T cells and contributes to systemic lupus erythematosus by targeting DNA methyltransferase 1. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2011;63(5):1376-86.
- 397. Qin H, Zhu X, Liang J, Wu J, Yang Y, Wang S, et al. MicroRNA-29b contributes to DNA hypomethylation of CD4+ T cells in systemic lupus erythematosus by indirectly targeting DNA methyltransferase 1. *J Dermatol Sci.* 2013;69(1):61-7.
- 398. Mogilyansky E, and Rigoutsos I. The miR-17/92 cluster: a comprehensive update on its genomics, genetics, functions and increasingly important and numerous roles in health and disease. *Cell Death Differ*. 2013;20(12):1603-14.

- 399. Fu Y, Zhang L, Zhang R, Xu S, Wang H, Jin Y, et al. Enterovirus 71 Suppresses miR-17-92 Cluster Through Up-Regulating Methylation of the miRNA Promoter. *Front Microbiol.* 2019;10:625.
- 400. Dakhlallah D, Batte K, Wang Y, Cantemir-Stone CZ, Yan P, Nuovo G, et al. Epigenetic regulation of miR-17~92 contributes to the pathogenesis of pulmonary fibrosis. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med.* 2013;187(4):397-405.
- 401. Xiao C, Srinivasan L, Calado DP, Patterson HC, Zhang B, Wang J, et al. Lymphoproliferative disease and autoimmunity in mice with increased miR-17-92 expression in lymphocytes. *Nat Immunol.* 2008;9(4):405-14.
- 402. Wu YX, Schutt S, Paz K, Zhang MM, Flynn RP, Bastian D, et al. MicroRNA-17-92 is required for T-cell and B-cell pathogenicity in chronic graft-versus-host disease in mice. *Blood.* 2018;131(17):1974-86.
- 403. Dai R, Zhang Y, Khan D, Heid B, Caudell D, Crasta O, et al. Identification of a common lupus disease-associated microRNA expression pattern in three different murine models of lupus. *PLoS One.* 2010;5(12):e14302.
- 404. Qin HH, Zhu XH, Liang J, Wu JF, Yang YS, and Xu JH. The expression and significance of miR-17-92 cluster miRs in CD4+ T cells from patients with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Clin Exp Rheumatol.* 2013;31(3):472-3.
- 405. Dai Y, Huang YS, Tang M, Lv TY, Hu CX, Tan YH, et al. Microarray analysis of microRNA expression in peripheral blood cells of systemic lupus erythematosus patients. *Lupus*. 2007;16(12):939-46.
- 406. Te JL, Dozmorov IM, Guthridge JM, Nguyen KL, Cavett JW, Kelly JA, et al. Identification of unique microRNA signature associated with lupus nephritis. *PLoS One*. 2010;5(5):e10344.
- 407. Carlsen AL, Schetter AJ, Nielsen CT, Lood C, Knudsen S, Voss A, et al. Circulating microRNA expression profiles associated with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2013;65(5):1324-34.
- 408. Jiang S, Li C, Olive V, Lykken E, Feng F, Sevilla J, et al. Molecular dissection of the miR-17-92 cluster's critical dual roles in promoting Th1 responses and preventing inducible Treg differentiation. *Blood*. 2011;118(20):5487-97.
- 409. Montoya MM, Maul J, Singh PB, Pua HH, Dahlstrom F, Wu N, et al. A Distinct Inhibitory Function for miR-18a in Th17 Cell Differentiation. *J Immunol*. 2017;199(2):559-69.
- 410. Teteloshvili N, Smigielska-Czepiel K, Kroesen BJ, Brouwer E, Kluiver J, Boots AM, et al. T-cell Activation Induces Dynamic Changes in miRNA Expression Patterns in CD4 and CD8 T-cell Subsets. *Microrna.* 2015;4(2):117-22.

- 411. Fu Q, Zhao J, Qian X, Wong JL, Kaufman KM, Yu CY, et al. Association of a functional IRF7 variant with systemic lupus erythematosus. *Arthritis Rheum.* 2011;63(3):749-54.
- 412. Bjornsson HT, Sigurdsson MI, Fallin MD, Irizarry RA, Aspelund T, Cui H, et al. Intraindividual change over time in DNA methylation with familial clustering. *JAMA*. 2008;299(24):2877-83.
- 413. Nedelec Y, Sanz J, Baharian G, Szpiech ZA, Pacis A, Dumaine A, et al. Genetic Ancestry and Natural Selection Drive Population Differences in Immune Responses to Pathogens. *Cell.* 2016;167(3):657-69 e21.
- 414. Chatterjee A, Stockwell PA, Rodger EJ, Duncan EJ, Parry MF, Weeks RJ, et al. Genomewide DNA methylation map of human neutrophils reveals widespread inter-individual epigenetic variation. *Sci Rep.* 2015;5:17328.
- 415. Wang J, Zhuang J, Iyer S, Lin XY, Greven MC, Kim BH, et al. Factorbook.org: a Wikibased database for transcription factor-binding data generated by the ENCODE consortium. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 2013;41(Database issue):D171-6.
- 416. Watt S, Vasquez L, Walter K, Mann AL, Kundu K, Chen L, et al. Genetic perturbation of PU.1 binding and chromatin looping at neutrophil enhancers associates with autoimmune disease. *Nat Commun.* 2021;12(1):2298.
- 417. Zaret KS, and Carroll JS. Pioneer transcription factors: establishing competence for gene expression. *Genes Dev.* 2011;25(21):2227-41.
- 418. de la Rica L, Rodriguez-Ubreva J, Garcia M, Islam AB, Urquiza JM, Hernando H, et al. PU.1 target genes undergo Tet2-coupled demethylation and DNMT3b-mediated methylation in monocyte-to-osteoclast differentiation. *Genome Biol.* 2013;14(9):R99.
- 419. Suzuki M, Yamada T, Kihara-Negishi F, Sakurai T, Hara E, Tenen DG, et al. Sitespecific DNA methylation by a complex of PU.1 and Dnmt3a/b. *Oncogene*. 2006;25(17):2477-88.
- 420. Sakata K, Nakayamada S, Miyazaki Y, Kubo S, Ishii A, Nakano K, et al. Up-Regulation of TLR7-Mediated IFN-alpha Production by Plasmacytoid Dendritic Cells in Patients With Systemic Lupus Erythematosus. *Front Immunol.* 2018;9:1957.
- 421. McClay JL, Shabalin AA, Dozmorov MG, Adkins DE, Kumar G, Nerella S, et al. High density methylation QTL analysis in human blood via next-generation sequencing of the methylated genomic DNA fraction. *Genome Biol.* 2015;16:291.
- 422. Banovich NE, Lan X, McVicker G, van de Geijn B, Degner JF, Blischak JD, et al. Methylation QTLs are associated with coordinated changes in transcription factor binding, histone modifications, and gene expression levels. *PLoS Genet*. 2014;10(9):e1004663.

- 423. Kaplan MJ, Lu Q, Wu A, Attwood J, and Richardson B. Demethylation of promoter regulatory elements contributes to perforin overexpression in CD4+ lupus T cells. *J Immunol.* 2004;172(6):3652-61.
- 424. Zhang Y, Zhao M, Sawalha AH, Richardson B, and Lu Q. Impaired DNA methylation and its mechanisms in CD4(+)T cells of systemic lupus erythematosus. *J Autoimmun*. 2013;41:92-9.
- 425. Kang JG, Park JS, Ko JH, and Kim YS. Regulation of gene expression by altered promoter methylation using a CRISPR/Cas9-mediated epigenetic editing system. *Sci Rep.* 2019;9(1):11960.
- 426. Liu XS, Wu H, Ji X, Stelzer Y, Wu X, Czauderna S, et al. Editing DNA Methylation in the Mammalian Genome. *Cell*. 2016;167(1):233-47 e17.
- 427. Mo X, Guo Y, Qian Q, Fu M, Lei S, Zhang Y, et al. Mendelian randomization analysis revealed potential causal factors for systemic lupus erythematosus. *Immunology*. 2020;159(3):279-88.
- 428. Zhu Z, Zhang F, Hu H, Bakshi A, Robinson MR, Powell JE, et al. Integration of summary data from GWAS and eQTL studies predicts complex trait gene targets. *Nat Genet*. 2016;48(5):481-7.
- 429. Arazi A, Rao DA, Berthier CC, Davidson A, Liu Y, Hoover PJ, et al. The immune cell landscape in kidneys of patients with lupus nephritis. *Nat Immunol.* 2019;20(7):902-14.

## Appendices

## **Appendix A Supplementary Data Resources**

## Chapter 2

Portions of this chapter have been previously published here:

Coit P, Ortiz-Fernandez L, Lewis EE, McCune WJ, Maksimowicz-McKinnon K, Sawalha AH. A longitudinal and transancestral analysis of DNA methylation patterns and disease activity in lupus patients. *JCI Insight*. 2020 Nov 19;5(22):e143654.

Supplementary tables can be found here: https://doi.org/10.1172/jci.insight.143654.

<u>Acknowledgements:</u> National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases of the NIH grants no. R01AI097134 and U19AI110502, as well as the Lupus Research Alliance.

## Chapter 3

This chapter is available as a preprint manuscript in MedRxiv:

Coit P, Roopnarinesingh X, Ortiz-Fernandez L, Maksimowicz-McKinnon K, Lewis EE, Merrill JT, McCune WJ, Wren JD, Sawalha AH. Hypomethylation of miR-17-92 cluster in lupus T cells and no significant role for genetic factors in the lupus-associated DNA methylation signature. *medRxiv* 2022.02.21.22271293.

<u>Supplementary tables can be found here:</u> https://www.medrxiv.org/content/10.1101/2022.02.21.22271293v1.supplementary-material

<u>Acknowledgements:</u> This work was supported by the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases (NIAID) of the National Institutes of Health (NIH) grant number R01 AI097134 to Dr. Sawalha. Dr. Wren is supported by NIH grants number P30 AG050911 and P20 GM103636.

#### Table A-1: Supplementary data tables for Chapter 2.

Table ID	Table Title in Publication
Supplementary Table 1	Top 50 differentially methylated sites in a longitudinal subset of $n = 11$ lupus patients ( $n = 7$ African-American and $n = 4$ European-American) with nephritis and the nearest preceding or receding timepoint without nephritis using a mixed effects model.
Supplementary Table 3	DNA methylation sites differentially methylated between African-American ( $n = 22$ ) and European-American ( $n = 32$ ) lupus patients at initial timepoint.
Supplementary Table 4	Gene ontology and pathway analysis of genes hypomethylated in African-American lupus patients compared to European-American lupus patients ( $\Delta\beta$ of < -10% and FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.05).
Supplementary Table 5	Gene ontology and pathway analysis of genes hypermethylated in African-American lupus patients compared to European-American lupus patients ( $\Delta\beta$ of > 10% and FDR-adjusted P-value < 0.05).
Supplementary Table 6	DNA methylation sites differentially methylated in neutrophils isolated from healthy African-American (n=5) and European-American (n=6) controls (Infinium HumanMetylation 450 BeadChip array) and overlap with sites differentially methylated between ancestry groups in the lupus cohort.
Supplementary Table 7	Cis-meQTLs in cross-sectional analysis of n = 53 (n = 21 African-American and n = 32 European-American) lupus patients.
Supplementary Table 8	Gene ontology and pathway analysis of genes annotated to CpG sites in all cis-meQTL pairs genome-wide.
Supplementary Table 9	DNA methylation sites differentially methylated between all African-American ( $n = 22$ ) and European-American ( $n = 32$ ) lupus patients and associated with a SNP within 1000bp as a <i>cis</i> -meQTL.
Supplementary Table 10	Cis-meQTL pairs that have CpG-associated genes that include a previously identified lupus susceptibility locus.
Supplementary Table 11	Type I interferon-regulated genes containing a methylation sites differentially methylated between $n = 54$ African-American and European-American lupus patients.

#### Table A-2: Supplementary data tables for Chapter 3.

Table ID	Table Title in Publication
Supplementary Table 2	Differentially methylated CpG sites in naïve CD4+ T cells in lupus patients compared to healthy controls matched by age, sex, and ethnicity.
Supplementary Table 3	Top 10 most enriched Biological Process Gene Ontology terms in genes with differentially methylated promoter regions in naive CD4+ T cells of luous patients compared to healthy controls
Supplementary Table 5	<i>Cis</i> -meQTLs in naive CD4+ T cells of lupus patients ( $n = 63$ ).
Supplementary Table 6	<i>Cis</i> -meQTLs in naive CD4+ T cells of healthy controls ( $n = 68$ ).
Supplementary Table 7	Cis-meQTL present in both lupus patients and healthy controls.
Supplementary Table 8	Gene set enrichment analysis of genes associated with meQTL that are shared in naïve CD4+ T cells of lupus patients and healthy controls.
Supplementary Table 9	Gene set enrichment analysis of genes associated with meQTL that are unique to naïve CD4+ T cells of lupus patients.
Supplementary Table 10	MeQTL with a CpG-associated gene that are also genetic risk loci for lupus.
Supplementary Table 11	Type I interferon-regulated genes associated with a CpG site in an meQTL identified in naive CD4+ T cells of lupus patients.

### **Appendix B Chapter 2 Supplementary Information and Tables**

TREML4 Promoter sequence: 5'-

	European-American (n = 32)	African-American (n = 22)	P-value <sup>#</sup>
Age (years)(mean±SD)	40.9±13.0	40.1±14.0	0.8303
	SLEDAI Criteria (%)		
Average SLEDAI Score (mean±SD)	2.9±3.2	5.2±4.5	0.0325
Seizure	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Psychosis	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Organic Brain Syndrome	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Visual Disturbance	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Cranial Nerve Disorder	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Lupus Headache	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Cerebrovascular Accidents	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Vasculitis	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Arthritis	5 (15.6%)	5 (22.7%)	0.7230
Myositis	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Urinary Casts	0 (0%)	1 (4.5%)	0.4074
Hematuria	0 (0%)	1 (4.5%)	0.4074
Proteinuria	2 (6.3%)	4 (18.2%)	0.2111
Pyuria	1 (3.1%)	0 (0%)	1.0000
Rash	11 (34.4%)	8 (36.4%)	1.0000
Alopecia	0 (0%)	4 (18.2%)	0.0231
Mucosal Ulcers	3 (9.4%)	1 (4.5%)	0.6377
Pleurisy	1 (3.1%)	1 (4.5%)	1.0000
Pericarditis	0 (0%)	1 (4.5%)	0.4074
Low Complement	7 (21.9%)	10 (45.4%)	0.0814
Increased DNA Binding	8 (25%)	10 (45.5%)	0.1480
Fever	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Thrombocytopenia	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Leukopenia	1 (3.1%)	3 (13.6%)	0.2927
	Medications		
Prednisone	21 (65.6%)	17 (77.3%)	0.5451
Hydroxychloroquine	26 (81.2%)	15 (68.2%)	0.3383
Cyclophosphamide	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Azathioprine	3 (9.4%)	2 (9.1%)	1.0000
Methotrexate	1 (3.1%)	2 (9.1%)	0.5601
Cyclosporin	1 (3.1%)	0 (0%)	1.0000
Tacrolimus	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Mycophenolate Mofetil	10 (31.3%)	5 (22.7%)	0.5509
Leflunomide	1 (3.1%)	0 (0%)	1.0000
IV Ig	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Rituximab	0 (0%)	0 (0%)	-
Belimumab	1 (3.1%)	3 (13.6%)	0.2927
#A as and CLEDAL as an Developer success a local stade	and a state of a literation D and have	I I i E'-'	1 1 4 4 11 D

Table B-1: Disease activity criteria and medications in a cohort of female European-American and African-American lupus patients at initial timepoint (n=54).

<sup>#</sup>Age and SLEDAI score P-values were calculated using a t test; all other P-values were calculated using a Fisher's exact test. All P-values are two-tailed. Bold P-values are P < 0.05.

## Appendix C Chapter 2 Supplementary Figures



**Figure C-1: DNA methylation of lupus patient samples is highly correlated with neutrophil-specific probes.** Dot plot showing correlation of mean DNA methylation for 71 neutrophil-specific probes from purified cell populations in Salas *et al*(310) and mean DNA methylation of the same probes in our longitudinal lupus cohort (n = 229). Pearson's product-moment correlation test had a r = 0.996 and P-value < 2.2E-16.



**Figure C-2: CCL2 and IL1B expression increases in PLB-985 cells in response to TLR7 stimulation.** PLB-985 cells were differentiated for four days using 1.3% DMSO. Treatment included the addition of 5ug/mL of imiquimod at day zero. Gene expression was measured on the nCounter Myeloid Innate Immunity Panel. *CCL2* (t = -19.3; P- value = 2.70E-3; FDR-adjusted P-value = 1) and *IL1B* (t = -9.76; P- value = 0.03; FDR-adjusted P-value = 1) were significantly increased with imiquimod treatment. \* = P-value  $\leq 0.05$ , \*\* = P-value  $\leq 0.01$ . n = 2 independent replicate wells per group. Error bars on right panel represent standard deviation.



**Figure C-3: PLB-985 NETosis Assay.** PLB-985 cells were differentiated with 1.3% DMSO for six days. Cells were adhered to a poly-L-lysine coated coverslip and exposed to either 200nM or 400nM PMA for five hours followed by immediate fixation with 10% paraformaldehyde. Untreated cells were included as a control (DMSO). Fixed cells were stained with anti-human neutrophil elastase rabbit polyclonal antibody (1:100) and anti-rabbit Goat F(ab')2 IgG FITC-conjugated secondary antibody (1:200). DNA was stained using Hoescht 33342 (1:500) in blocking buffer. All images were taken using a 60x objective oil immersion lens on a Leica STELLARIS 5 fluorescence microscope.



**Figure C-4:** NF**kB**-associated gene network of differentially methylated sites between African-American and European-American lupus patients. Networks of genes with hypomethylated (green shapes) and hypermethylated (red shapes) CpG sites in African-American compared to European-American lupus patients. White shapes represent genes included in the network by IPA through their relationship to the input genes. Green-red shapes included both hypo- and hypermethylated CpG sites. Dashed and solid lines represent indirect and direct interactions, respectively.



**Figure C-5: Type I interferon-associated gene network of differentially methylated sites between African-American and European-American lupus patients.** Networks of genes with hypomethylated (green shapes) and hypermethylated (red shapes) CpG sites in African-American compared to European-American lupus patients. White shapes represent genes included in the network by IPA through their relationship to the input genes. Dashed and solid lines represent indirect and direct interactions, respectively.

# Appendix D Chapter 3 Supplementary Information and Tables

Table D-1: Demographics of lupus patients and healthy	controls. All study	y participants were	female and mate	hed by age	and
ethnicity.					

	<b>Cases</b> (n = 74)	Controls (n = 74)		
Age (years)(mean±SD)	40.9±12.7	40.8±12.4		
SLEDAI Score (mean)(range)	3.2 (0-18)	-		
	Race/Ethnicity (%)	1		
White	94 (63.	5%)		
Black	44 (29.1	7%)		
Asian	6 (4.5%)			
Hispanic	2 (1.4%)			
Indian/Arabic	2 (1.4%)			
Medications (%)				
Prednisone	38 (51.4%)	-		
Hydroxychloroquine	49 (66.2%)	-		
Cyclophosphamide	0 (0%)	-		
Azathioprine	13 (17.6%)	-		
Methotrexate	1 (1.4%)	-		
Cyclosporin	0 (0%)	-		
Tacrolimus	0 (0%)	-		
Mycophenolate Mofetil	26 (35.1%)	-		
Leflunomide	0 (0%)	-		
IV Ig	0 (0%)	-		
Rituximab	0 (0%)	-		
Belimumab	0 (0%)	-		

MiRNA	Pearson correlation coefficient r	P-value
hsa-miR-17-5p	0.2652	0.3209
hsa-miR-17-3p	-0.000007643	>0.9999
hsa-miR-18a-5p	0.5221	0.038
hsa-miR-18a-3p	0.135	0.6182
hsa-miR-19a-5p	-0.3902	0.1351
hsa-miR-19a-3p	-0.1216	0.6538
hsa-miR-19b1-5p	0.5125	0.0424
hsa-miR-19b-3p	0.1919	0.4765
hsa-miR-20a-5p	0.1243	0.6464
hsa-miR-20a-3p	0.06115	0.822





Figure E-1: Sample distribution of 16,541 Infinium HumanMethylation450 array samples across 37 tissues sourced from the Gene Expression Omnibus (GEO). These samples were used to develop a multi-tissue correlation network used for trend deviation analysis.